Public Document Pack
Executive Board
Thursday, 9 June 2022
Time:
6.00 pm
Venue: Meeting Room A
Address: Blackburn Town Hall
AGENDA
Information may be provided by each Executive Member relating to their
area of responsibility
1.

Welcome and Apologies

2.

Minutes of the Previous Meeting
Executive Board Minutes April 2022

3.

Declarations of Interest
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST FORM

4.

Equality Implications
The Chair will ask Members to confirm that they have
considered and understood any Equality Impact
Assessments associated with reports on this agenda ahead
of making any decisions.

5.

Public Forum
To receive written questions or statements submitted by
members of the public no later than 4pm on the day prior to
the meeting.

6.

Questions by Non-Executive Members
To receive written questions submitted by Non-Executive
Members no later than 4pm on the day prior to the meeting.

7.

Youth MPs Update
To receive an update from the Youth MPs along with any
issues they would like to raise.

8.

Executive Member Reports
Verbal updates may be given by each Executive Member.

Leader

4 - 11

12

8.1

8.2

Report on the progress against the Corporate Plan
2021/22 for six months to year-end (Oct 2021 to March
2022)
Year End Corporate Plan Performance
Appendix One Year end 2122Performancev1
Appendix Two Year end 2122Exceptionreportsv1

13 - 40

Council Response to Covid-19 Pandemic 2021/22
Council Response to Covid-19 Pandemic 202122
updated

41 - 55

Adults, Social Care & Health
Children, Young People & Education
8.3

School Holiday Pattern 2023/24
School Holiday Pattern 23-24
Appendix 1- School Holiday Pattern

8.4

56 - 59

Update on Children's Services ILACS Inspection
Update - CS ILACS Inspection
Appendix A Action Plan Costings

60 - 64

Environment & Operations
Public Health, Prevention & Wellbeing
Digital & Customer Services
Growth & Development
8.5

Land at Clarendon Road East, Blackburn
Land at Clarendon East, Blackburn
Appendix1 Compulsory Purchase of Land at Clarendon
Road East

8.6

65 - 71

Blackburn with Darwen Enhanced Bus Partnership
Blackburn with Darwen Enhanced Bus Partnership
Appendix 1 - Enhanced Partnership Plan and Scheme

72 - 113

Finance & Governance
8.7

Business Rates Covid-19 Additional Relief Fund (CARF)
Policy
Business Rates CARF Policy
AppendixA COVID19 Discretionary Relief policy CARF
amended

114 120

8.8

Development of the General Fund Revenue Budget
2023/24
Medium Term Financial Plan 2023-26
Appendices Budget and MTFP Updatev1

9.

Corporate Issues

9.1

Dedicated Schools Grant - High Needs Block Budget
Allocations 2022/23
DSG - High Needs Block
AppA High Needs Block Funding Report
App B High Needs Block Funding Report

10.

121 135

136 142

Matters referred to the Executive Board

PART 2 – THE PRESS AND PUBLIC MAY BE EXCLUDED DURING
CONSIDERATION OF THE FOLLOWING ITEMS
Date Published: Wednesday, 01 June 2022
Denise Park, Chief Executive

EXECUTIVE BOARD

Agenda Item 2

Thursday 14th April 2022
PRESENT
COUNCILLOR:
Councillor Mohammed Khan CBE
Councillor Julie Gunn
Councillor Vicky McGurk
Councillor Phil Riley
Councillor Damian Talbot
Councillor Quesir Mahmood
Councillor Jim Smith

PORTFOLIO:
Leader of the Council
Children, Young People and Education
Finance and Governance
Growth and Development
Public Health and Wellbeing
Digital and Customer Services
Environmental Services

EXECUTIVE MEMBER
Councillor John Slater

NON PORTFOLIO
Leader of the Conservative Group

ALL IN ATTENDANCE:
Muhammed Bapu
Hasti Jahanghiri

Youth MP
Deputy Youth MP

Item
1

Action

Welcome and Apologies
The Leader of the Council, Councillor Mohammed Khan,
welcomed all to the meeting. Apologies were received from
Councillor Mustafa Desai and Isabelle Crawford, Deputy Youth
MP.

2

Minutes of the Previous Meeting
The Minutes of the Meeting held on 10th March 2022 were agreed
as a correct record.

3

Agreed

Declarations of Interest
There were no Declarations of Interest submitted.

4

Equality Implications
The Chair asked Members to confirm that they had considered
and understood any Equality Impact Assessments associated with
reports on the agenda ahead of making any decisions.

5

Public Forum
In accordance with Part 4 of the Executive Board Procedure Rules
for questions/statements by members of the public, the following
questions/statements have been received, details of which are set
out below:-

Page 4
Executive Board
Thursday 14th April 2022

Confirmed

Item
Name of Person
asking Question
Amin Kapadia

Rick Moore
Iain Sykes

Lisa Quinn

Subject Area

Action
Response By

Council
Land, Councillor
Phil
Sunnybower,
Riley, Growth &
Blackburn
Development
Impact of Housing
Growth
on
infrastructure
Traffic
calming
measures,
Sunnybower,
Blackburn
Impact on wildlife of
building on land on
Whalley Old Road,
Blackburn

Councillor
Phil
Riley, Growth &
Development
Councillor
Phil
Riley, Growth &
Development
Councillor
Phil
Riley, Growth &
Development

Councillor Riley gave responses to Amin Kapadia and Rick Moore
who were in attendance, advising that in terms of Amin Kapadia’s
question, investigations had been necessary into encroachments
onto Council land following complaints from residents, and in
terms of Rick Moore’s question, gave details of highways
improvements planned and advised that the provision of other key
infrastructure such as GP services and open spaces and schools
were considered within the published Infrastructure Delivery Plan.
Written responses would be sent to Iain Sykes and Lisa Quinn
who were unable to attend the meeting.
6

Questions by Non-Executive Members
No questions had been submitted by Non-Executive Members.

7

Youth MPs Update
The Youth MP and Deputy Youth MP verbally reported on recent
events and activities including :
Progress of the Young Inspectors Project and Framework.
The latest Strategic Youth Alliance and Lancashire Youth
Commission and Children’s Partnership Board meetings.
Thanks were passed to retiring Councillor Maureen Bateson
for all her invaluable work relating to Children and Young
People, and also to the Leader, who was also retiring, for
his support of the Youth MPs over many years on the
Executive Board.

Page 5
Executive Board
Thursday 14th April 2022

Noted

Item

Action

Executive Board Members thanked the Youth MPs for the update
and for their ongoing positive impacts across several areas
relating to Young People.
Executive Member Reports.
Leader’s Update
The Leader of the Council, Councillor Mohammed Khan, verbally
reported on details of the UK Shared Prosperity Fund, which
replaced former EU funding, detailing the funding allocation to the
Council. Cllr Khan also referred to the end of a £100M national
grant that tackled obesity, referred to the rise in inflation to 7% and
rising interest rates on students loans.
8.1

Update on Children’s Services ILAC Inspection
Members received a report advising of the results of an Ofsted
‘Inspection of Local Authority Children’s Services’ (ILACS) across
the three week period 24 January 2022 and 4 February 2022. The
report was published on the Ofsted website on 18th March 2022
with confirmed judgements across four categories and
recommendations for improvement.
The structure of the Ofsted ILACS Inspection comprised one week
of off-site activity to consider Blackburn with Darwen data,
strategies and plans. Additionally the quality of audit activity and
the impact of audits on practice and outcomes for children and
young people were used to determine key lines of enquiry. This
was followed by 2 weeks of onsite activity by a team of four Social
Care Ofsted Inspectors, one Education Inspector and a Quality
Assurance Inspector. Additionally a virtual Regulatory Inspector
considered Fostering and Adoption support and services.
The judgements across the 4 categories were:
o The experiences and progress of children who need
help and protection – ‘requires improvement to be good’
o The experiences and progress of children in care and
care leavers – ‘requires improvement to be good’
o The impact of leaders on social work practice with
children and families – ‘requires improvement to be good’
o Overall Effectiveness – ‘requires improvement to be good’
The report was clear that the Council’s response was timely and
appropriate when children were at immediate risk of significant
harm. Inspectors confirmed that children in local authority care
needed to be in care, and that most children and their families
received early help and support when they needed it.

6
Additional areas of strength Page
were highlighted
in the report
Executive Board
Thursday 14th April 2022

Noted

Item
submitted, along with areas for improvement that had been
identified.

Action

Immediate actions had already been taken to address some of
Ofsted’s findings. Lancashire Constabulary had committed to
provide resources to support timely strategy discussions and the
management of the Leaving Care Team had been changed as of
the 28 February. A post - inspection Action Plan would be
submitted to Ofsted by 1st July 2022 which would continue to build
on the Council’s commitment to supporting the most vulnerable.
The plan would address the key concerns around multi-agency
strategy discussions, data and assurance, and Council services
and support for care leavers up to the age of 25.
The plan would be driven by a multi-agency ‘Achieving Excellence’
partnership board which would be chaired independently to
oversee the delivery of the response and actions identified. The
inaugural meeting of the Board was at the end of April.
RESOLVED - That the Executive Board:
1. Notes the Ofsted report findings (Appendix A);
2. Acknowledges areas of good practice and areas for
development;
3. Notes the development of the Action Plan in response to
the Inspection findings and the establishment of a multiagency partnership board to monitor improvements and
build on existing strengths.
4. Notes that further updates will be provided on the financial
implications and in year investment as the Action Plan is
refined and finalised for submission to Ofsted.

Noted
Approved
Noted

Noted

Environmental Services Update
Councillor Jim Smith verbally reported that the work by the Shrub
Team had been very positively received by residents.
8.2

Household Support Fund
A report was submitted seeking agreement from the Executive
Board to the proposed distribution of the Household Support Fund
(HSF2) Round 2.
Members were reminded that at the beginning of October 2021,
the Government announced that a new HSF worth over £500m
would be made available to Upper Tier Local Authorities to support
those households most in need over the winter period to March
2022. Details of the grant allocations and supporting information
on how the grant should be used were released to Councils on 7th
October 2021 and a report on this matter was considered by the
Executive in November 2022 where the distribution of the fund
was agreed. Blackburn with Page
Darwen7Council received £1.619m
Executive Board
Thursday 14th April 2022

Noted

Item
and at the closure of the Scheme on 31st March 2022, all of the
funding had been used as planned.

Action

As part of the recent Spring Statement 2022, the Government
announced an extension to the HSF by providing a further £500m
for the Scheme as part of a package of measures to support those
affected by the rising cost of living. The Council’s share of this
additional funding was £1.619m and the grant funding must be
used by 30th September 2022 (although, as with Round 1, there
was an implicit acknowledgement from DWP that funds committed
by that date could be defrayed after the end of the financial year
should that be necessary).
RESOLVED- It is recommended that the Executive Board agree to
the distribution of the Household Support Fund Round 2 as set out
in the report.
9.1

Approved

Growth Programme 2022/23
The Executive Board received a report providing a summary of
progress on growth projects to date and outlining the Growth
Programme for 2022/23, which was attached as Annex A.
The key programmes were divided into two programme themes;
Place and Thematic across employment, housing and town
centres’ sectors.
The report highlighted that the procurement and delivery stages for
many of the housing, employment and strategic sites continued to
experience delay following the pandemic, the impacts of Brexit and
increasing construction and development inflation cost increases.
Despite this, the Borough remained committed to maintaining
growth momentum, with very encouraging signs from continued
local developer presence and interest together with new high
quality entrants to the market.
The delivery programme would be continuously updated, ensuring
Growth Programme resources were always directed towards
maximising outcomes for the Borough.
The report advised that levelling up plans may provide an
opportunity for the Council and its partners to seek funding
towards strategic development opportunities and other stalled
sites.
RESOLVED – The Executive Board:
That the Executive Board:
1. Notes the continued good progress made by the Growth & Noted
Development Team during 2021-22;
2. Notes the good progress made by Barnfield Blackburn Ltd and Noted
Maple Grove Blackburn Ltd – the Council’s two joint venture
development companies with Barnfield and Eric Wright
Page 8
respectively;

Executive Board
Thursday 14th April 2022

Item
Action
3. Approves the Growth Programme for 2022-23 for officers to Approved
progress projects from feasibility stage through to procurement
and tender stage as required by project timelines and delivery;
4. Subject to compliance with Financial and Contract Procedure Approved
Rules, delegates authority to revise the Growth Programme for
2022/23 (by adding, removing or prioritising sites) to the Growth
Director in consultation with the Executive Member for Growth &
Development and Executive Member for Finance and
Governance; and
5. Delegates authority to the Growth Director to proceed to Approved
procurement for partners to support in the development of a
business case for a new Local Housing Company.
9.2

Land at Whalley Old Road, Blackburn
Members received a report outlining the outcome of the
informal tender exercise for land at Whalley Old Road,
Blackburn (“the Site”) as illustrated on the plan attached at
Annex A.
The report sought approval to dispose of the Site for housing
development to the recommended preferred bidder, and
asked the Executive Board to note that Blackburn with
Darwen Council and Lea Hough & Co, representing the two
private landowners, had jointly brought forward the
development opportunity through an informal tender process
administered by Council officers.
Board Members were asked to note that Outline planning consent
with all matters reserved for residential development of up to 165
dwellings with reference 10/20/0716 was granted by Blackburn
with Darwen Council on 18 February 2021.
This report outlined the process for the disposal of ‘open space’
and requested delegated authority for the consideration of any
objections and approval for the disposal of ‘open space’ to the
Growth Director.
RESOLVED The Executive Board:
That the Executive Board:
2.1 Approves the sale of the Council owned land to Bidder A for
the agreed purchase price and part deferred payment profile.

Approved

2.2 Notes that Lea Hough & Co, representing the two private
landowners, are in agreement to appoint Bidder A.

Noted

2.3 Notes that the land conveyancing process will be coordinated
by an external solicitor acting on behalf of all the landowners,
including the Council.

Noted

9 Service for Legal and
2.4 Authorises the StrategicPage
Head of

Approved

Executive Board
Thursday 14th April 2022

Item
Governance to complete the necessary legal formalities in the
disposal process.

Action

2.5 Authorises the Growth Director to finalise and complete the
terms of the disposal.

Approved

2.6 Delegates authority to the Growth Director, in consultation
with the Executive Member for Growth & Development to:

Approved

a)Consider any objections to the proposed disposal of ‘open
space’ at Whalley Old Road; and if appropriate
b) Approve the proposed disposal of ‘open space’ at Whalley Old
Road.
Before the meeting moved into ‘Part 2’ the Leader noted that this
was his last Executive Board meeting, thanked everyone for their
support over the years and passed on best wishes. All in
attendance gave Councillor Khan a round of applause.
AT THIS STAGE OF THE PROCEEDINGS THE PRESS AND
PUBLIC WERE EXCLUDED FROM THE MEETING.
11.1

Land at Whalley Old Road, Blackburn
Further to the report submitted at Agenda Item 9.2, an additional
report was submitted, containing commercially sensitive
information.
RESOLVED –
The Executive Board:
2.1 Approves the sale of the Council owned land to Bidder A for
the agreed purchase price and part deferred payment profile.

Approved

2.2 Notes that Lea Hough & Co, representing the two private
landowners, are in agreement to appoint Bidder A.

Noted

2.3 Notes that the land conveyancing process will be coordinated
by an external solicitor acting on behalf of all the landowners,
including the Council.

Noted

2.4 Authorises the Strategic Head of Service for Legal and
Governance to complete the necessary legal formalities in the
disposal process.

Approved

2.5 Authorises the Growth Director to finalise and complete the
terms of the disposal.

Approved

2.6 Delegates authority to the Growth Director, in consultation
Page
10 & Development to:
with the Executive Member
for Growth

Approved

Executive Board
Thursday 14th April 2022

Item
a)Consider any objections to the proposed disposal of ‘open
space’ at Whalley Old Road; and if appropriate
b) Approve the proposed disposal of ‘open space’ at Whalley Old
Road.

Signed at a meeting of the Board
on 9th June 2022

(being the ensuing meeting on the Board)
Chair of the meeting at which the Minutes were confirmed

Page 11
Executive Board
Thursday 14th April 2022

Action

Agenda Item 3
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST IN
ITEMS ON THIS AGENDA
Members attending a Council, Committee, Board or other
meeting with a personal interest in a matter on the Agenda
must disclose the existence and nature of the interest and, if
it is a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or an Other Interest
under paragraph 16.1 of the Code of Conduct, should leave
the meeting during discussion and voting on the item.
Members declaring an interest(s) should complete this form
and hand it to the Democratic Services Officer at the
commencement of the meeting and declare such an interest
at the appropriate point on the agenda.
MEETING:

EXECUTIVE BOARD

DATE:

9th JUNE 2022

AGENDA ITEM NO.:
DESCRIPTION (BRIEF):
NATURE OF INTEREST:

DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY/OTHER (delete as appropriate)
SIGNED :
PRINT NAME:
(Paragraphs 8 to 17 of the Code of Conduct for Members of the Council refer)

Page 12

D:\blackburn\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\9\7\AI00005793\$xkruyqm0.doc

Agenda Item 8.1
EXECUTIVE BOARD DECISION
REPORT OF:

Leader

LEAD OFFICERS:

Chief Executive

DATE:

9th June 2022

PORTFOLIO/S
AFFECTED:

All

WARD/S AFFECTED:

All

KEY DECISION:

YES

NO

SUBJECT:
Report on the progress against the Corporate Plan 2021/2022 for six months to Year-end (October
2021 to March 2022).
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
To provide Executive Board the opportunity to review progress against the Council’s strategic
priorities documented within the Corporate Plan (2019-23) and to provide assurance that appropriate
actions are being taken to address key areas of concern.
2. RECOMMENDATIONS

That the Executive Board:
1. Note the overall performance against the delivery of the Council’s strategic objectives as
illustrated in Appendix One Performance
2. Note the remedial action to improve delivery against the 2019-2023 Corporate priorities which
are giving cause for concern, as outlined in Appendix Two Exception Reports
3. BACKGROUND

In March 2019, the Council endorsed the Corporate Plan 2019-2023, which outlines eight corporate
priorities and ambitions providing a focus for our activity over the coming years.
To help us measure our performance against our corporate priorities and ambitions a performance
framework is in place. The Council currently measures performance based on 70 Key Performance
Indicators (KPIs).
4. KEY ISSUES & RISKS
4.1 Performance summary
st
The attachments to this report provide an overview of the Council’s performance up to 31 March
2022. Elected members will be aware that the Council has been responding to the emergencies of
the Coronavirus pandemic since early March 2020. Covid rules in England ended at the end of
February 2022 as part of Government’s “Living With Covid” strategy. This now gives an opportunity
to learn from both pre-Covid and during Covid service delivery, and to focus on the recovery from
the pandemic.

Page 13
EBD: V1/21

Page 1 of 4

In some instances, we have not been able to report data for all of the 70 KPIs.
Each portfolio has been asked to allocate a red, amber or green forecast to the measures that they
own.
The 70 measures within the Corporate Plan are linked to the Council’s priority objectives and
information for the period is as follows:
9% (6 actual) have been forecast as “red” where performance is, or is likely to be off track
26% (18 actual) have been forecast “amber” where delivery is on track and currently being
managed
54% (38 actual) have been forecast “green” or on track
11% (8 actual) of the measures data and or a RAG rating is currently unavailable
The table below shows a breakdown of the measures across priorities:
Priority

People (29)

A good quality
of life for all of
our residents

Total

Red

Amber

Green

Awaiting
Data

4

0

1

3

0

P2 – Safeguarding and supporting
the most vulnerable people

9

0

5

4

0

P3 – Reducing health inequalities
and improving health outcomes

16

0

4

9

3

P4 – Connected communities

8

3

0

5

0

P5 – Safe and clean environment

5

0

1

4

0

P6 – Strong, growing economy to
enable social mobility

9

1

1

6

1

P7 – Supporting our town centres
and businesses

4

0

1

3

0

P8 – Transparent and effective
organisation

15

2

5

4

4

70

6

18

38

8

100%

9%

26%

54%

11%

P1 – Supporting young people and
raising aspirations

Place (13)

Community
pride in a
vibrant place
to live and visit

Economy (13)
A strong and
inclusive
economy with
continued
growth

Council (15)

Delivered by a
strong and
resilient Council

Total
Overall percentage

Page 14
EBD: V1/21

Page 2 of 4

The following guidelines have been provided to ensure a standardised approach to allocating these
forecasts:
Red
The measure is likely to fail or perform poorly in the future
The measure falls below a set national target / statutory required performance.
The measure may also be below a minimum requirement for the particular service as
agreed by the department
The lead department perceives there could be a potential serious risk to the Council
Amber
The measure is at risk of failure, but the lead department feels this is currently being
managed
Actions are or need to be in place to ensure that the end of year position is achieved
Green
The measure is on target/ over performing / over achieving (if departmental target has
been set)
The lead department perceives there is currently no risk to the council in relation to this
measure.
5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS
There are no additional policy implications. The proposed activity over the next 12 months
will strengthen existing policies.
6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
There are no additional financial implications. Activity will be managed within department existing
budgets.
7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
There are no legal implications as a result of this report.
8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
There are no resource implications as a result of this report. Resource implications of any actions
referred to in the report will be included in an appropriate briefing paper.
9. EQUALITY AND HEALTH IMPLICATIONS
Please select one of the options below. Where appropriate please include the hyperlink to the
EIA.
Option 1

Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) not required – the EIA checklist has been completed.

Option 2
In determining this matter the Executive Member needs to consider the EIA associated
with this item in advance of making the decision. Corporate Plan 2019/2023 EIA
Option 3
In determining this matter the Executive Board Members need to consider the EIA
associated with this item in advance of making the decision.

10. CONSULTATIONS
The report has been developed in consultation
Page with
15 the relevant Council officers and Executive
EBD: V1/21

Page 3 of 4

Members
11. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The recommendations are made further to advice from the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151
Officer has confirmed that they do not incur unlawful expenditure. They are also compliant with equality
legislation and an equality analysis and impact assessment has been considered. The
recommendations reflect the core principles of good governance set out in the Council’s Code of
Corporate Governance.
12. DECLARATION OF INTEREST
All Declarations of Interest of any Executive Member consulted and note of any dispensation granted
by the Chief Executive will be recorded in the Summary of Decisions published on the day following the
meeting.
VERSION: 1
CONTACT OFFICER: Denise Park
DATE: 17/05/2022
BACKGROUND Corporate Plan 2019-2023
PAPER:

Page 16
EBD: V1/21

Page 4 of 4

Appendix One: Corporate Plan 2021/2022:
Performance Report for year-end (1st October 2021 to 31st March 2022)
Priority

Page 17

P
E
O
P
L
E

1 – Supporting young
people and raising
aspirations

Performance measure

1. % increase in uptake of the
two years old offer by eligible
children

2. Personal Education Plans for
cared for children
a) % of children & young
people with plans in
place
3. Personal Education Plans
(PEP) for cared for children
b) % of audited plans rated as
Good or Outstanding

4. Council Apprenticeship startups

P2 – Safeguarding and
supporting the most
vulnerable people

5. % of Transforming Lives Cases
closed with outcomes
achieved

Portfolio

Department

Children’s, Young
People &
Education Cllr
Julie Gunn

Children’s
Services &
Education

Children’s, Young
People &
Education Cllr
Julie Gunn

Children’s
Services &
Education

Children’s, Young
People &
Education Cllr
Julie Gunn

Children’s
Services &
Education

Finance &
Governance Cllr
Vicky McGurk

HR, Governance
& Engagement

Adult Services &
Prevention
Cllr Mustafa Desai

Adults &
Prevention

Good
performance
is

Higher

Baseline

21/22 target

Half-year
performance
and rating
(Q1 & Q2 –
April 21
to September 21

Year-end
performance
and rating
(Q3 & Q4 –
October 21
to March 22
& Annul Outturn)

58%
(2018/19)

3% increase on
previous year

60%

69%
(Local Authority
tracking)

(GREEN)

(GREEN)

93%
for academic year
2020/21

96%
for Autumn Term
2020/21

(GREEN)

(GREEN

70% good or
outstanding
for academic year
2020/21

81% Good or
Outstanding for
Autumn Term
2020/21

(GREEN)

(AMBER)

22 apprentices
recruited 2021/22

22 apprentices
recruited 2021/22

(GREEN)

(GREEN)

Q1 – 56%
Q2 – 50%

Q1 61%*
Q2 57%*
Q3 61%
Q4 60%

(60% or higher)
Higher

Higher

Higher

Higher

84%
(2018/19)

46%
(2018/19)

20 apprentices

50%

95%

55%

20 apprentices

56%

*New data for Q1 &
Q2 made available
since last reporting
period.
2021/22 Annual
outturn 60%

6. % of looked after children
with 3 placements or more in
year
1

Children’s, Young
People &

Children’s
Services &
Education

Lower

13.1%
(2019/20)

Achieve at or
below national

(GREEN)

(GREEN)

9.6%
(October 2020 to
September 2021)

11.1%
(April 2021 to
March 2022)

Priority

Performance measure

Portfolio

Department

Good
performance
is

Baseline

Education Cllr
Julie Gunn

7. % of children in care for 2 ½
years who have remained in
the same placement for at
least 2 years

Children’s, Young
People &
Education Cllr
Julie Gunn

21/22 target

average for
2021/22

Children’s
Services &
Education

Higher

65%
(2020/2021)

Achieve at or
above national
average for
2021/22

Page 18
8. % of children leaving care
where a Special Guardianship
Order (SGO) placement is
granted.

9. Number of children open to
children’s social care
including; those who are
Child in Need, looked after or
open to child protection.
10. Rate of cared for children per
10,000 compared with the
regional average.

Children’s, Young
People &
Education Cllr
Julie Gunn

Children’s, Young
People &
Education Cllr
Julie Gunn

Half-year
performance
and rating
(Q1 & Q2 –
April 21
to September 21

Children’s
Services &
Education

Children’s
Services &
Education

Higher

Lower

23%
(2018/19)

1,852
(open referrals
as at end March
2019

Higher than
2020/21
(25%)

Benchmarked at
comparator
average

(National figures to be
confirmed in
December 2022 – for
context, 2020/21
national average was
9%)
(GREEN)

(AMBER)

60%
(National average
68%)

67%
As at 31st March 2022

(AMBER)

(AMBER)

26%
April to
September 2021

19%
April 2021 to
March 2022

(GREEN)

(AMBER)

1,338 open referrals
as at end September
2021

1,388 open referrals
as at end March 2022

Awaiting
comparator
Children’s, Young
People &
Education Cllr
Julie Gunn

Children’s
Services &
Education

Lower

105* per 10k as
at 31st March
2019

At or below the
regional average
for 2021/22

Year-end
performance
and rating
(Q3 & Q4 –
October 21
to March 22
& Annul Outturn)

100.67 per 10k
as at end September
2021
Awaiting
comparator

(National figures to
be confirmed in
December 2022.
For context, 2020/21
national average was
70%)

(GREEN)
100.12 per 10k
as at end March 2022
(For context, regional
average is 98 per 10k
– December 2021)
(AMBER)

11. Rate of re-referrals into
Children’s Social Care

2

Children’s, Young
People &
Education Cllr
Julie Gunn

Children’s
Services &
Education

Lower

17.9%
(BWD 2018/19)

At or below
national average
for 2021/22

16.1% as at end
September 2021

17.9% as at end
March 2022

Priority

Performance measure

Portfolio

Department

Good
performance
is

Baseline

21/22 target

Half-year
performance
and rating
(Q1 & Q2 –
April 21
to September 21

Year-end
performance
and rating
(Q3 & Q4 –
October 21
to March 22
& Annul Outturn)

Awaiting
comparator

(For context, national
average for 2020/21
was 22.7%)
(GREEN)

12. Increase in the number of
Young Carers identified

Page 19

P3 – Reducing health
inequalities and
improving health
outcomes

13. Percentage of commissioned
residential placements for
Looked After Children as a
total of all Looked After
Children placements.
14. Continue to achieve over 85%
of Learning Disability service
users living in settled
accommodation

Children’s, Young
People &
Education Cllr
Julie Gunn

Children’s
Services &
Education

Higher

Children’s, Young
People &
Education
Cllr Julie Gunn

Children’s
Services &
Education

Lower

Adult Services &
Prevention
Cllr Mustafa Desai

Adults &
Prevention

Higher

183
young people
(2019/20)

7.1%
(2018/19)

92.3%
(2019/20)

200
Young People

Maintain
(5.96%
or lower)
85%

203

245
Young Carers
identified

(GREEN)

(GREEN)

4.95%

6.4%

(GREEN)

(AMBER)

93% of Service
Users were in
settled
accommodation
April to September
2021

DATA UNAVAILABLE

(GREEN)
15. Number of those in
residential care aged 65 and
above to be within 5% of the
2018-19 figure.

16. Increase the number in Extra
Care by over 10%

17. Greater than 80% of people
aged 65 and over
independent at home for 91
days or more following
3

Adult Services &
Prevention
Cllr Mustafa Desai

Adult Services &
Prevention
Cllr Mustafa Desai

Adult Services &
Prevention
Cllr Mustafa Desai

Adults &
Prevention

Adults &
Prevention

Adults &
Prevention

Lower

Higher

Higher

157
(2019/20)

120
(2019/20)

89%
(2019/20)

150

176

80%

59 admissions into
Long Term
Residential /Nursing
care for people aged
65+
April to September
2021

This information is an
outcome of the
SALT return for which
the deadline is
25/05/2022.
Admissions per
quarter:
Q1 – 40
Q2 – 31
Q3 – 47
Q4 – 37
Annual total = 155

(GREEN)

(AMBER)

140 people were in
Extra care as at
th
30 September 2021

173 people were in
Extra care as at
31st March 2022.

(GREEN)

(AMBER)

85% were still at
home
April to
September 2021

88% were still at
home
October 2021 to
March 2022

Priority

Performance measure

Portfolio

Department

Good
performance
is

Baseline

21/22 target

hospital discharge into one of
our intermediate tier
services.

Half-year
performance
and rating
(Q1 & Q2 –
April 21
to September 21

Year-end
performance
and rating
(Q3 & Q4 –
October 21
to March 22
& Annul Outturn)
Annual total = 86%

18. Increased number of
residents referred and
discussed at the integrated
neighbourhood team (INTs)
weekly meeting

Adult Services &
Prevention
Cllr Mustafa Desai

19. Ensure 90% of Mental Health
Act requests are responded
to within 8 hours of
notification

Adult Services &
Prevention
Cllr Mustafa Desai

Adults &
Prevention

Adults &
Prevention

Higher

Higher

740
(2018/19)

100%
(2019/20)

777

90%

(GREEN)

(GREEN)

517
April to September
2021

1,367

(GREEN)

(GREEN)

98% of cases were
responded to within
8 hours
April to
September 2021

98% of cases were
responded to within
8 hours
October 2021 to
March 2022
Annual total = 98%

Page 20

20. Where outcomes are
expressed by the service user
in safeguarding
investigations, to ensure that
85% are fully or partially
achieved.

Adult Services &
Prevention Cllr
Mustafa Desai

Adults &
Prevention

Higher

95%
(2019/20)

85%

(GREEN)

(GREEN)

95% were fully or
partially achieved in
completed cases
April to September
2021

DATA UNAVAILABLE
This information is an
outcome of the
Safeguarding Adults
annual return, which
is due 08/06/2022.

(GREEN)
1. Number of households
prevented from becoming
homeless.

Adult Services &
Prevention Cllr
Mustafa Desai

Adults &
Prevention

Higher

814
(2019/20)

550

245 households
prevented from
becoming homeless.

475 households
prevented from
becoming homeless.
The homeless target
was affected by
changes in the
recording mechanism
part way through the
year – splitting
Prevention into
‘Prevention’ and
‘Relief’ which reduced
the number recorded
as prevention.

(GREEN)
4

(AMBER)

Priority

Page 21
5

Performance measure

Portfolio

Department

Good
performance
is

2. Number of Domestic Abuse
victims contacted for support
within 48 hours.

Adult Services &
Prevention Cllr
Mustafa Desai

Adults &
Prevention

Higher

23. Number of leisure
attendances (including
pitches)

Public Health &
Wellbeing
Cllr Damian
Talbot

Public Health &
Wellbeing

Higher

24. Total number of referrals into
the BwD wellbeing service

Public Health &
Wellbeing
Cllr Damian
Talbot

Public Health &
Wellbeing

25. Reduce smoking in adults

Public Health &
Wellbeing
Cllr Damian
Talbot

Higher

Baseline

21/22 target

Half-year
performance
and rating
(Q1 & Q2 –
April 21
to September 21

Year-end
performance
and rating
(Q3 & Q4 –
October 21
to March 22
& Annul Outturn)

100%
(2020/21)

95%

100%

100%

(GREEN)

(GREEN)

688,337

275,334

248,131
attendances

750,259
attendances

(GREEN)

(GREEN)

400 referrals

Q3 + Q4 =
579 referrals

570

825

Total referrals for
2021/22 = 979

Public Health &
Wellbeing

Lower

26. Proportion of all in drug
treatment who successfully
completed treatment and did
not re-present within six
months.
27. Child obesity – child
measurement programme
survey for both reception and
year 6 children – prevalence
of overweight (including
obesity)

Public Health &
Wellbeing
Cllr Damian
Talbot

Public Health &
Wellbeing

Higher

Public Health &
Wellbeing
Cllr Damian
Talbot

Public Health &
Wellbeing

Lower

28. % of alcohol retailers
compliant with licensing
conditions.

Environmental
Services
Cllr Jim Smith

Environment &
Operations

Higher

15.5%

18.7%

16%

22%

Reception
22.1%
Year 6 36.6%
(2019/2
0)

Target yet to be
agreed due to the
disruption in the
measurement
programme

≥95%

≥95%

(AMBER)

(GREEN)

15.5%

15.1%

(RED)
See Exception
Report
20.85%

A lower number is
preferable in terms of
lower prevalent rates
for smoking
(AMBER)
23%

(AMBER)

(GREEN)

DATA UNAVAILABLE

DATA UNAVAILABLE

PHE have advised
that Local
Authorities will only
be required to
achieve a
representative
sample of 10% data
as per PHE guidance
for 2020/21. This
will not produce
Local Authority level
data for 2020/21
DATA UNAVAILABLE

Update as per
Q1 & 2

99%

Priority

Performance measure

Portfolio

Department

Good
performance
is

Baseline

21/22 target

Half-year
performance
and rating
(Q1 & Q2 –
April 21
to September 21

Year-end
performance
and rating
(Q3 & Q4 –
October 21
to March 22
& Annul Outturn)

Inspections of
licensed premises in
the first quarter of
2021/22 have
focused on Covid
security measures
being in place.

Please note this figure
is only based on
ongoing complaints
received about
licensed premises.
The usual programme
of inspections has not
yet re-started.
(GREEN)

29. *New Measure 21/22*
% of food businesses
achieving 3 Star and above
rating on the National Food
Hygiene Rating Scheme

Environmental
Services
Cllr Jim Smith

Environment &
Operations

Higher

New measure
2021/22
baseline year

85%

Page 22

93.3%

93.3%

The measure is
artificially higher
than the target set
because many new
businesses or
businesses with a
change of ownership
are classed as
“Awaiting
inspection”.

All food safety
inspections required
under the Food
Standards Agency’s
current operating
plan have been
completed

Whilst awaiting
inspection these
businesses are taken
out of the total
number of food
businesses included
in the National Food
Hygiene Rating
Scheme.

P
L
A
6

P4 – Connected
communities

30. Number of referrals “Stepped
Down” from Social Work
Teams to the Neighbourhood
Service for Community
Connectors and Volunteers

Adult Services &
Prevention
Cllr Mustafa Desai

31. Number of individuals
engaged in activity across the
Our Community Our Future
Programme

Adult Services &
Prevention
Cllr Mustafa Desai

Adults &
Prevention

Adults &
Prevention

Higher

Higher

165
(2019/20)

New measure
2020/21

165

1,000

(AMBER)

(GREEN)

114

179

(GREEN)

(GREEN)

405 individuals

638 individuals
Significantly impacted
by Covid

(GREEN)

(RED)
See Exception Report

Priority

C
E

Performance measure

Portfolio

32. Number of community
groups engaged in activity
across the Our Community,
Our Future Programme

Adult Services &
Prevention
Cllr Mustafa Desai

33. Number of volunteers
supporting Council services

Adult Services &
Prevention
Cllr Mustafa Desai

34. Number of citizens engaged
through Digital Health and
Care Hubs

Public Health &
Wellbeing
Cllr Damian
Talbot

Department

Adults &
Prevention

Adults &
Prevention

Public Health &
Wellbeing

Good
performance
is

Higher

Higher

Higher

Baseline

21/22 target

Half-year
performance
and rating
(Q1 & Q2 –
April 21
to September 21

Year-end
performance
and rating
(Q3 & Q4 –
October 21
to March 22
& Annul Outturn)

New measure
2020/21

80

33 groups

53 groups
Significantly impacted
by Covid

1,173
volunteers
(2018/19)

490
(2020/21)

(GREEN)

2,000

550

Public Health &
Wellbeing
Cllr Damian
Talbot

265
Provision of onsite
digital support
events and activities
is increasing as
service areas
reopen.

Page 23
35. Number of volunteer hours
supporting Culture and
Leisure services delivery

2,170
volunteers
supporting Council
services
(GREEN)

Public Health &
Wellbeing

Higher

4,215
(2020/21)

12,645

(RED)
See Exception Report
2,240
volunteers supporting
Council services
(GREEN)
Q3 + Q4 =
511
2021/22 Annual
outturn 776

(AMBER)

(GREEN)

4,525 volunteer
hours

12,683 volunteer
hours

Refresh = 706
Arts & Heritage =
1,270
Libraries = 2,549

Refresh Q3 + Q4:
1,265
Refresh Total: 1,971
Arts & Heritage Q3 +
Q4: 2,950
Arts & Heritage Total:
4,220
Libraries Q3 + Q4:
3,943
Libraries total: 6,492

36. Number of cultural events
and activities across arts and
heritage services

7

Public Health &
Wellbeing
Cllr Damian
Talbot

Public Health &
Wellbeing

Higher

182
(2018/19)

200

(AMBER)

(GREEN)

177 cultural events
and activities

2021/22 Annual
Outturn 1,112
Cultural events &
activities

Arts and Heritage:
42
Libraries: 135

Libraries Q3 + Q4 =
348

Priority

Performance measure

Portfolio

Department

Good
performance
is

Baseline

21/22 target

Half-year
performance
and rating
(Q1 & Q2 –
April 21
to September 21

Year-end
performance
and rating
(Q3 & Q4 –
October 21
to March 22
& Annul Outturn)
Libraries total: 483
Arts & Heritage
Q3+Q4: 587
Arts & Heritage Total
= 629

1. Number of digital library
loans

Public Health &
Wellbeing
Cllr Damian
Talbot

Public Health &
Wellbeing

Higher

53,241
(2020/21)

54,000

(GREEN)

(GREEN)

18,161

Q3 + Q4 =
18,327

Page 24

(Changes to the
supplier data
reporting
mechanism for
e-magazine loans
has shown a fall for
all members of the
AGMA consortia
group, including
BwD).
(AMBER)

P5 – Safe and clean
environment

2. Increase in number of your
call community litter pickers

3. Increase number of
prosecutions for enviro-crime
offences

Environmental
Services
Cllr Jim Smith

Environmental
Services
Cllr Jim Smith

Environment &
Operations

Environment &
Operations

Higher

Higher

1,898
(2020/21)

119
(2020/21)

2,000 volunteers
registered

125 enforcement
actions across the
year as a whole

2021/22 Annual
outturn =
36,488

2,000
volunteers
registered

(RED)
See Exception Report
2,057
volunteers
registered

(GREEN)

(GREEN)

101 enforcements.

Q3 and Q4
67 enforcements.
Which includes
27 Prosecutions
37 Fixed Penalty
Notices
3 Simple Cautions

Which includes:
74 Prosecutions,
26 Fixed Penalty
Notices,
1 Simple Caution.

2021/22 Annual
Outturn
168 enforcements
Which includes
101 prosecutions
63 Fixed Penalty
notices
4 Simple Cautions
8

Priority

Performance measure

4. Number of 4-hour
repair/make safe following
inspection of dangerous
defects on the highways

5. Increase the household
recycling rate

Portfolio

Growth &
Development
Cllr Phil Riley

Environmental
Services
Cllr Jim Smith

Department

Environment &
Operations

Environment &
Operations

Good
performance
is

Higher

Baseline

96%

21/22 target

98%

Half-year
performance
and rating
(Q1 & Q2 –
April 21
to September 21

Year-end
performance
and rating
(Q3 & Q4 –
October 21
to March 22
& Annul Outturn)

(GREEN)

(GREEN)

98.19%

98.94%
2021/22 Annual
outturn 98.57%

Higher

29%

32%

(GREEN)

(GREEN)

Q1 – 31%
Q2 – data not yet
available

Q1 – 31.0%
Q2 – 32.6%
Q3 – 30.3%
Q4 – data not
available until approx.
mid May 2022
Year to date: 31.3%

Page 25

6. Reduce waste to landfill

E
C
O
N
O
9

P6 – Strong, growing
economy to enable
social mobility

7. Number of adult
qualifications achieved (via
the Adult Learning contract)

Environmental
Services
Cllr Jim Smith

Adult Services &
Prevention
Cllr Mustafa Desai

Environment &
Operations

Adults &
Prevention

Lower

Higher

98.05%
(2020/21)

400
(2018/19)

65%

425

(AMBER)

(AMBER)

Q1 – 84% (16%
landfilled)
Q2 – data not yet
available

Q1 - 84%
(16% landfilled)
Q2 – 99.5%
(0.5% landfilled)
Q3 – 98%
(2% landfilled)
Q4 – 100%
(0% landfilled)

(GREEN)

(GREEN)

337
(August 2020 to July
2021 outturn)
(Still awaiting some
results)
Despite the
pandemic, the team
was able to achieve
84% of the target by
delivering new
online qualifications

DATA NOT YET
AVAILABLE

April to September
2021 – 103
Awaiting results of
an additional 15. No
concerns about

Projected numbers
are between 420 and
450

Priority

Performance measure

Portfolio

Department

Good
performance
is

Baseline

21/22 target

Half-year
performance
and rating
(Q1 & Q2 –
April 21
to September 21

Year-end
performance
and rating
(Q3 & Q4 –
October 21
to March 22
& Annul Outturn)

achieving the target
as a number of
qualifications are 24
weeks and not
included in the data
until they are either
a ‘Pass’ or ‘Fail’

M
Y

(AMBER)
8. Number of people supported
into employment or learning.
*NCS - National Citizen Service
** MPT - More Positive Together

Adult Services &
Prevention
Cllr Mustafa Desai

Adults &
Prevention

Higher

845

1,235

300 people
supported into
employment or
learning

Page 26

(235* NCS, 65
**MPT)
(April to September
2021)

Significantly impacted
by Covid

October and
November
traditionally see a
spike in numbers
due to the impact of
appointments with
college and adult
learning customers
(AMBER)
9. Private rented sector homes,
which have been inspected
and have had Cat 1 and 2
hazards removed

10. Number of long term (over 6
months) empty properties
brought back into use
10

879 people supported
into employment or
learning

Environmental
Services
Cllr Jim Smith

Growth &
Development
Cllr Phil Riley

Environment &
Operations

Growth &
Development

Higher

Higher

112
Cat 1 and 2
hazards
removed
(2020/21)

400
properties

>112
Cat 1 and 2
Hazards removed

500
properties

29

(RED)
See Exception Report
128

Guidance issued by
DCLG recommended
that proactive
inspection work
should cease
therefore only highrisk service requests
have been
responded to during
this period.
(AMBER)

(GREEN)

325
Properties brought
back into use

676

(over 6 months)

Priority

Performance measure

Portfolio

Department

Good
performance
is

Baseline

21/22 target

Half-year
performance
and rating
(Q1 & Q2 –
April 21
to September 21

(GREEN)
11. Monitoring against national
planning performance targets
2018: Major projects decided
in 13 weeks

Page 27

12. Monitoring against national
planning performance targets
2018: Non-major projects
decided in 8 weeks

13. Appeals: Major applications
allowed preceding 2 years

14. Appeals: Non-major
applications allowed
preceding 2 years

11

Growth &
Development
Cllr Phil Riley

Growth &
Development
Cllr Phil Riley

Growth &
Development
Cllr Phil Riley

Growth &
Development
Cllr Phil Riley

Growth &
Development

Growth &
Development

Growth &
Development

Growth &
Development

Higher

Higher

Lower

Lower

85%

90%

2%

2%

95%

95%

2%

2%

Year-end
performance
and rating
(Q3 & Q4 –
October 21
to March 22
& Annul Outturn)
(826 inc 0-6 months)

100%

(GREEN)
100%

16 applications
determined.
5 applications
determined within
13 weeks, and
11 applications
determined within
agreed extensions of
time.

24 applications
determined.
8 applications
determined within 13
weeks, and
16 applications
determined within
agreed extensions of
time

(GREEN)

(GREEN)

98%

99%

343 applications
determined.
219 applications
determined within 8
weeks, and
118 applications
determined within
agreed extensions of
time.

342 applications
determined.
196 applications
determined within 8
weeks, and
145 applications
determined within
agreed extensions of
time.

(GREEN)

(GREEN)

0%

0%

0 major applications
determined at
appeal.

0 major applications
determined at
appeal.

(GREEN)

(GREEN)

0.28%

0.39%

1 appeal allowed
against all
non-major
applications
determined

2 out of 12 appeals
allowed against all
non-major
applications
determined.

(GREEN)

(GREEN)

Priority

Performance measure

15. Development of new
employment space in the
year (m2)

Portfolio

Growth &
Development
Cllr Phil Riley

Department

Growth &
Development

Good
performance
is

Higher

Baseline

21/22 target

Half-year
performance
and rating
(Q1 & Q2 –
April 21
to September 21

Year-end
performance
and rating
(Q3 & Q4 –
October 21
to March 22
& Annul Outturn)

8,000 sq.m

9,000 sq.m

1,595 sq.m
(Q1 & Q2)

4,094 sq.m
(Q3 & Q4)

(This measure
should be read as a
trend across 3 yrs+,
therefore it is not an
immediate cause for
concern).

2021/22 Annual
Outturn
5,689 sq.m
(Note data
incomplete – excludes
BwD 40% proportion
of Frontier Park.
Awaiting completion
data from Hyndburn
BC).

(AMBER)

Page 28

(This measure should
be read as a trend
across 3 yrs+,
therefore it is not an
immediate cause for
concern).
P7 – Supporting our
town centres and
businesses

16. Total number of events at
King Georges Hall (KGH)

17. Total attendances for
ticketed events at King
Georges Hall (KGH)

Environmental
Services
Cllr Damian
Talbot

Environmental
Services
Cllr Damian
Talbot

Environment &
Operations

Environment &
Operations

Higher

Higher

213
events

107,537
attendances

200
events

53,768
attendances

70
(In addition to
booked events
during the
restriction closure
KGH was used as a
testing centre for
76 days April to the
end of July).

(AMBER)
Q3 and Q4
97 events
2021/22 Annual
Outturn
= 167 events
Achieved over 9
months of
re-opening

(AMBER)

(GREEN)

9,846
(First ticketed event
29th August 2021).

Q3 and Q4
58,759 attendances
for ticketed events
2021/22 Annual
Outturn
= 68,605

(AMBER)

12

(GREEN)

Priority

Performance measure

18. Total number of events at
Darwen Library Theatre (DLT)

Portfolio

Environmental
Services
Cllr Damian
Talbot

Department

Environment &
Operations

Good
performance
is

Higher

Baseline

21/22 target

Half-year
performance
and rating
(Q1 & Q2 –
April 21
to September 21

Year-end
performance
and rating
(Q3 & Q4 –
October 21
to March 22
& Annul Outturn)

240
events

116
events

21
events

Q3 and Q4
52 events
Second half of the
year saw expected
number of events.
2021/22 Annual
Outturn
= 73 events
Achieved over 9
months of
re-opening

Page 29

55. Total attendances for ticketed
events at Darwen Library Theatre
(DLT)

C
O
U
N
C
I
L
13

P8 – Transparent and
effective organisation

19. Online satisfaction rates for
new Blackburn with Darwen
website
20. Number of online customer
transactions and forms
completed

Environmental
Services
Cllr Damian
Talbot

Digital &
Customer
Services
Cllr Quesir
Mahmood
Digital &
Customer
Services
Cllr Quesir
Mahmood

Environment &
Operations

Higher

13,383
attendances

6,693
attendances

(AMBER)

(AMBER)

1,543
attendances

Q3 and Q4
5,178 attendances
2021/22 Annual
Outturn =
6,721 attendances

(AMBER)

(GREEN)

Resources

Higher

2019/20
Baseline year

Increase on
previous year

DATA IS PRESENTLY
UNAVAILBLE

DATA IS PRESENTLY
UNAVAILBLE

Resources

Higher

New measure
2019/20

163,674
(2019/20)
Target excludes
Covid related
services

81,465 forms

Q3 and Q4
58,046 forms
Customer Contact
Portal (CCP) = 19,522,
Digital Customer
Portal (DCP)
= 38,524
Annual Outturn
2021/22
Total 139,511

21. Response to Freedom of
Information Requests (FOIs)
within timescale

Digital &
Customer
Services

Resources

Higher

92.11%
(2020/21)

90%

(AMBER)

(AMBER)

94.24%

Q3 and Q4
95.75%

Priority

Performance measure

Portfolio

Department

Good
performance
is

Baseline

21/22 target

Cllr Quesir
Mahmood

Half-year
performance
and rating
(Q1 & Q2 –
April 21
to September 21

Year-end
performance
and rating
(Q3 & Q4 –
October 21
to March 22
& Annul Outturn)

FOIs due in last 6
months 538
FOIs responded to
on time 507

FOIs due in last 6
months = 565
FOIs responded to on
time = 541
Annual Outturn
2021/22
95.01%

22. Response to Environmental
Information Requests (EIRs)
within timescale

Digital &
Customer
Services
Cllr Quesir
Mahmood

Resources

Higher

72.82%
(2020/21)

90%

(GREEN)

(GREEN)

98.08%

Q3 and Q4
97.85%
EIRs due in last 6
months = 792
EIRs responded to on
time 775

EIRs due in last 6
months 938
EIRs responded to
on time 920

Page 30

Annual Outturn
2021/22
97.98%

23. Response to Subject Access
Requests (SARS) under the
Data Protection Act within
timescale

Digital &
Customer
Services
Cllr Quesir
Mahmood

Resources

Higher

89.32%
(2020/21)

90%

(GREEN)

(GREEN)

93.98%

Q3 and Q4
90.65%
SARs due in last 6
months = 139
SARs responded to on
time = 126

SARS due in last 6
months 133
SARS responded to
on time 125

Annual Outturn
2021/22
93.04%

24. 95.5% collection of Council
Tax

25. 98.5 % collection of Business
Rates

14

Finance &
Governance Cllr
Vicky McGurk

Resources

Finance &
Governance Cllr
Vicky McGurk

Resources

Higher

Higher

94.77%
(2020/21
outturn)

95.5%

96.52%
(2020/21
outturn)

98.5%

(GREEN)

(GREEN)

Q1 27.36%
Q2 52.51%

Q3 77.8%
Q4 94.8%

(AMBER)

(AMBER)

Q1 20.13%
Q2 51.33%

Q3 77.2%
Q4 97.7%

(AMBER)

(AMBER)

Priority

Performance measure

26. Undisputed and valid supplier
invoices paid within 30 days

Portfolio

Finance &
Governance Cllr
Vicky McGurk

Department

Finance

Good
performance
is

Higher

Baseline

21/22 target

Half-year
performance
and rating
(Q1 & Q2 –
April 21
to September 21

Year-end
performance
and rating
(Q3 & Q4 –
October 21
to March 22
& Annul Outturn)

94%
(2020/21)

95%

90%

Q3 89%
Q4 91%
Annual outturn
2021/22
is 91%

(AMBER)
27. Current ratio of total useable
reserves (excluding Public
Health and schools) to net
revenue expenditure

Page 31

28. Percentage change in
reserves over the past 3 years

Finance &
Governance Cllr
Vicky McGurk

Finance &
Governance Cllr
Vicky McGurk

Finance

Finance

Higher

Higher

Average level
reported by all
Unitary
Authorities in
2019/20
41.06%
Average in
2020/21 = not
yet published
due to delays
because of
Covid-19)
Data for
2020/21 is not
yet available
for other LAs
BwD 2019/20
15.27%
reduction
BwD 2020-21
70.71% increase

15

The data is only
published after
submission of the
Revenue Outturn
Returns to
MHCLG at the
year-end

DATA UNAVAILABLE
A review of the
relevance and
appropriateness of
this target is
underway

This target to be
reviewed in
2021/22
The data is only
published after
submission of the
Revenue Outturn
Returns to
MHCLG at the
year-end

Finance &
Governance Cllr
Vicky McGurk

Finance

Higher

Breakeven

Breakeven or
underspend

30. 10% year on year reduction
of carbon emissions from
Council facilities

Growth &
Development
Cllr Phil Riley

Growth &
Development

Lower

5,378 tonnes
CO2

10% reduction

The data is only
published after
submission of the
Revenue Outturn
Returns to MHCLG at
the year-end
This target to be
reviewed

DATA UNAVAILABLE

DATA UNAVAILABLE

A review of the
relevance and
appropriateness of
this target is
underway

The data is only
published after
submission of the
Revenue Outturn
Returns to MHCLG at
the year-end

This target to be
reviewed in
2021/22

29. Achieve a breakeven or
underspend against overall
portfolio and corporate
budgets

(RED)
See Exception Report
DATA UNAVAILABLE

A review of the
relevance and
appropriateness of
this target is
underway
+94 tonnes CO2
+5%

This target to be
reviewed
A review of the
relevance and
appropriateness of
this target is
underway
+ 18 tonnes CO2
+0.3%
Energy consumption
in 2020/21 was down
due to Covid closures
and home working.
Services were still
affected in 2021/22,

Priority

Performance measure

Portfolio

Department

Good
performance
is

Baseline

21/22 target

Half-year
performance
and rating
(Q1 & Q2 –
April 21
to September 21

Year-end
performance
and rating
(Q3 & Q4 –
October 21
to March 22
& Annul Outturn)
but show a downward
trend (935 tonnes 17%) compared with
2019/20, helped by a
significant reduction
in the carbon
conversion factor for
electricity as well as
the Decarbonisation
programme.

Page 32
31. Response time and progress
of stage One complaints to
the Council

Digital &
Customer
Services
Cllr Quesir
Mahmood

HR, Governance
& Engagement

Higher

85%
(2018/19)

90%

(RED)
See Exception
Report
Qtr. 1 - 100%
Qtr. 2- 50%
Two Stage 1
Complaints were
received during Q1,
both of which were
completed on time.
96% of the
complaints received
at the informal stage
were successfully
resolved.
During Q2, 10 Stage
1 complaints were
received of which
50% were
successfully
completed on time.
For more complex
cases where the
investigating officer

16

Please note, the
analysis is based on
March-Feb data for
gas because bills have
not yet been received.
About 2% of
electricity figures are
estimated as
quarterly bills and
bills for small sites
have not been
received yet.
(AMBER)
Qtr. 3 - 71%
Qtr. 4 - 90%
0 Stage 1 Complaints
were received during
Q3.
88% of the complaints
received at the
informal stage were
successfully resolved.
During Q4, 4 Stage 1
complaints were
received of which 50%
were successfully
completed on time.
2 Stage 2 complaints
were received of
which 50% were
successfully
completed on time.

Priority

Performance measure

32. Reduction in employee
absence through sickness

Portfolio

Page 33

Finance &
Governance Cllr
Vicky McGurk

Department

HR, Governance
& Engagement

Good
performance
is

Lower

Baseline

7.58 days
(2020/21
excluding
Covid-19
absences)

21/22 target

8 days per annum

Half-year
performance
and rating
(Q1 & Q2 –
April 21
to September 21

Year-end
performance
and rating
(Q3 & Q4 –
October 21
to March 22
& Annul Outturn)

requires more than
15 working day’s
response time, a
holding response
email/letter is sent
with an extension
request to the
complainant.
97% of the
complaints received
at the informal stage
were successfully
resolved.

95% of the complaints
received at the
informal stage were
successfully resolved.

(AMBER)

(AMBER)

Q1 – 1.95 days
per FTE
(excluding Covid-19
absences)

Q3 – 2.73 days
per FTE
Q4 – 2.48 days
per FTE
(excluding Covid-19
absences)

Awaiting figures for
Q2.

Annual Figure:
9.41 days per FTE
(excluding Covid-19
absences)
(AMBER)
33. Information relating to
RIDDOR

Finance &
Governance Cllr
Vicky McGurk

HR, Governance
& Engagement

Lower

7 RIDDOR
per annum
(2020/21)

10 RIDDOR
per annum

3 RIDDOR

(RED)
See Exception Report
Q3 and Q4
2 RIDDOR
2021/22 Annual
Outturn
= 5 RIDDOR

(GREEN)

17

(GREEN)

Appendix Two: Corporate Plan 2021/2022: Performance Report
Year-end (1 October 2021 to 31 March 2022) Exception Reports
Six Key Performance Indicators (9%) have been forecast as “red” where performance is, or is likely to be off track
Priority: P4 – Connected communities
KPI No. 31 Number of individuals engaged in activity across the Our Community Our Future Programme AND KPI No. 32 Number of community groups
engaged in activity across the Our Community, Our Future Programme
KPI No. 37 Number of digital library loans
Priority: P6 – Strong, growing economy to enable social mobility
KPI No. 44 Number of people supported into employment or learning
Priority: P8 – Transparent and effective organisation
KPI No. 63 Undisputed and valid supplier invoices paid within 30 days. (Corporate Measure)
KPI No. 69 Reduction in employee absence through sickness

Page 34

Department: Neighbourhoods, Wellbeing & Prevention
Priority: P4 – Connected communities
Performance Measures:

Good performance is Higher

KPI No. 31. Number of individuals engaged in activity across the Our Community
Our Future Programme
KPI no. 32. Number of community groups engaged in activity across the Our
Community, Our Future Programme
Target:
Quarterly
performance

KPI No 31: 1,000 individuals.
KPI No 32: 80 groups
KPI No. 31: 405 individuals (GREEN)

Baseline:

KPI 31: 1,000 individuals.
KPI 32: 80 groups
KPI No. 31: 638 individuals (RED)

KPI No. 32: 33 groups (GREEN)
KPI No. 32: 53 groups (RED)
What is the reason for the performance?
Impact of Covid-19. Specifically, groups changing delivery models to online and testing hybrid.
For pure online delivery, digital accessibility was a challenge along with groups trying out new resources to try and keep beneficiaries engaged as best as possible.
For Hybrid mode delivery, beneficiaries still did not feel comfortable attending in-person sessions and decided to not participate.

1

As we did not deliver the social integration programme between 2020-21, the target numbers were reduced from our Year 1 delivery (2,764 individuals and 181
for groups). The Social Integration team worked with partners and their chosen delivery methods to concentrate on depth and impact of delivery with those
beneficiaries it worked with. For groups, many groups were still trying to find ways to continue delivering working through Covid-19 infection amongst staff,
perpetual restrictions and a stronger focus towards the borough’s local fight against Covid19. Some groups have disbanded completely having seen the impact of
Covid19 affect their staffing and funding resources.
What is the likely impact of continued performance?
Central government restrictions have ended which now gives an opportunity to take learning from both pre-Covid and during Covid delivery, to focus on the
recovery from the pandemic and look to set new measures. Although the Social Integration team will be smaller than in previous years, it will retain a strong focus
on areas of strength within the programme which make the greatest impact. Residents will continue to be supported to live a full life within the borough and have
equal access to what the borough has to offer. The portfolio has benefitted from the Social Integration Team’s experience supporting Adult Learning, Covid
Community Champions and the Help Hub and will continue to do so going forwards.
What activities have been or are being put in place to address these issues?
The end of programme evaluation is still to be completed with some outstanding end of contract reviews, which could increase some of the metrics.
Are there any decisions likely to be required of Executive Members in the future, in relation to this issue?
Not expected. The Executive Member for Adult Services & Prevention is regularly briefed with regard to both KPIs.

Page 35

Department: Place: Library and Information Service
Priority: P4 - Connected Communities
Performance Measure: KPI No. 37. No of digital loans
Target: 54,000
Quarterly
Half year performance and RAG rating
performance
18,161
(AMBER)

Good performance is:
Baseline: 53,241
Year-end performance and RAG rating
Q3 + Q4 = 18,327
Total for 2021/22 = 36,488
(RED)

What is the reason for the performance?
This measure records the number of e-book/e-audio/e-magazine loans.
Explanation against target: e-resource provision is purchased as part of the AGMA Library consortium; performance data are provided to each Local Authority
directly from the provider and are solely based on their data capture and reporting platform. The 2021/22 target was based on 2020/21 performance data which
saw a massive increase in virtual loans due to the pandemic lockdowns; these data also included e-magazine loan data. During 2021/22, lockdowns eased and the
library services was one of the first public buildings to open back up to the public. With access to ‘hard copy’ books, newspapers etc the demand for virtual loans

2

saw a decrease. In addition to building re-openings, the e-resource supplier changed their data recording process and excluded e-magazine loans data. This decision
was beyond the control of BwD and other AGMA Authorities.
Comparisons / trends – compared to previous quarters, previous years: All AGMA Authorities using the same e-magazine supplier have reported decreases in their
e-loans in comparison with 2020/21 performance. Scrutiny of the overall virtual loan data available shows that there is stability in the quarterly performance for
2021/22 – with a slight increase for Quarters 3 & 4.
There has been no change to policy or service delivery. A wide range of virtual e-resources, provided through the AGMA procured supplier are accessible to BwD
Library Card holders via a login.
What is the likely impact of continued performance?
There is no impact to library users / residents as there has been no change to service delivery. Neither is there any operational impact; the service remains fully
accessible. It is a data reporting change that has impacted KPI performance.
Given the information available, it will be pertinent to revise the KPI target going forward to ensure that it reflects the data available.

Page 36

What activities have been or are being put in place to address these issues?
In addition to the on-going local scrutiny of quarterly data provided from the supplier’s platform, any issues identified will be raised at the regular AGMA Library
meetings and with the supplier.
The Library service will continue to actively promote the availability of e-resources to increase awareness and encourage library users to utilise this flexible and
convenient alternative to hard copy loans
There are no changes in policy / structures.
Are there any decisions likely to be required of Executive Members in the future, in relation to this issue?
No, service delivery is unaffected and future targets will be adjusted to reflect the available dataset. The Executive Member for Public Health & Wellbeing
is regularly briefed with regard to this KPI.

3

Department: Adults & Health
Priority: P6 – Strong, growing economy to enable social mobility
Performance Measure: KPI No. 44 Number of people supported into
employment or learning
Target: 1,235
Quarterly
Half year performance and RAG rating
performance
300

Good performance is: Higher
Baseline: 845
Year-end performance and RAG rating
879

(AMBER)

(RED)

(235 NCS, 65 MPT)

(831 NCS, 48 MPT)

Page 37

*NCS - National Citizen Service
** MPT - More Positive Together
What is the reason for the performance?
The Covid restrictions in place locally meant that the team of advisers were unable to see as many people as they would have done previously. Proportionately,
the number of people progressing into employment or learning was broadly in line with the requirements of our contract 42% (target 45%).
There was a combination of reasons for this during 2021/2022:
Lack of physical space and/or opportunity for people to have face to face appointments
Fewer people being referred by agencies who work with people looking to improve their work prospects (e.g. DWP)
Fewer face to face courses and training sessions that provide groups for advisers to access new customers
DWP were unable to host group sessions due to restricted room availability following an increase in numbers of work coaches
One member of staff on maternity leave reduced the overall numbers seen because of capacity issues. This person is now back
The reduction in restrictions will enable the team to see more people throughout the year, which should in turn increase the number of people progressing into
employment and learning.
What is the likely impact of continued performance?
As Covid restrictions have been removed in the main, it is hoped that the NCS team will see greater throughput this year. As this is a payment by results contract
any shortfall in targets has an impact on income.
What activities have been or are being put in place to address these issues?
A delivery plan and projections template is updated monthly and is used to identify potential shortfalls giving the opportunity to mitigate this where possible.

4

All of the above issues which resulted in the shortfall will no longer apply over the coming months. DWP are inviting the team back in to provide face to face
appointments on-site, there will be more face to face appointments in the Neighbourhood Learning Centres and more access to groups and courses that provide
greater numbers. There is likely to be an initial shortfall until these changes are in place, but we should see numbers improving as a result.
Are there any decisions likely to be required of Executive Members in the future, in relation to this issue?
Not at this time. The Executive Member for Adult Services & Prevention is briefed regularly with regard to this KPI.

Department: Finance
Priority: P8 – Transparent and effective organisation
Performance Measure: KPI No. 63 Undisputed and valid supplier invoices paid
within 30 days. (Corporate Measure)
Target: 95%

Page 38

Quarterly
performance

Half year performance and RAG rating
90%

Good performance is: Higher
Baseline: 94% (2020/21)
Year-end performance and RAG rating
Q3 89%
Q4 91%
Annual outturn 2021/22 is 91%

(AMBER)
(RED)
What is the reason for the performance?
Work continues to identify budget areas who only raise purchase orders on receipt of invoices and/or, who hold invoices within their department, that impacts
upon the Exchequer teams’ ability to pay invoices within 30 days from the date of the invoice. By raising purchase orders on Civica Purchasing at the time of or in
advance of the receipt of goods and services this allows suppliers to quote the purchase order number on the invoice submitted for payment. Civica will then
automatically match invoices to orders facilitating smooth and quick payment of those invoices without the need for intervention by the Exchequer team.
Performance has improved over the past two years, as follows:
2019/2020 (Target 100%)
Q1 & Q2 (April to September 19): 64%
Q3 & Q4 (October 19 to March 20): 74% year-end
2020/2021 (Target: 95%)
Q1 & Q2 (April to September 20): 91%
Q3 &Q4 (October 2020 to March 2021): 91%

5

What is the likely impact of continued performance?
The Public Contracts Regulations 2015, stipulates that payment must be made by the contracting authority to the contractor for goods and services received, no
later than ‘the end of a period of 30 days from the date on which the relevant invoice is regarded as valid and undisputed’. The authority must also report on the
internet, and include in their statutory accounts/annual report, the proportion of invoices that were paid in accordance with those obligations, expressed as a
percentage of the total number of invoices that were, or should have been, paid in accordance with those obligations.
Failure to pay within these terms could have a detrimental impact on suppliers, as this impairs cashflow and could open up the Council to claims of late payment
fines and interest.
What activities have been or are being put in place to address these issues?
The Exchequer Team is constantly working with those budget areas (portfolios, departments, cost centres and budget holders) and Suppliers to improve payment
performance.
Are there any decisions likely to be required of Executive Members in the future, in relation to this issue?
No. The Executive Member for Finance & Governance is regularly briefed with regard to this KPI.

Page 39

Department: HR, Legal & Governance
Priority: P8 – Transparent and effective organisation
Performance Measure: KPI No. 69. Reduction in employee absence through
sickness
Target: 8 days per annum
Quarterly
performance

Half year performance and RAG rating
Q1 – 1.95 days per FTE
(excluding Covid-19 absences)
Awaiting figures for Q2.
(AMBER)

Good performance is: Lower
Baseline: 7.58 days. (2020/21 excluding Covid-19 absences)
Year-end performance and RAG rating
Q3 – 2.73 days per FTE
Q4 – 2.48 days per FTE
(excluding Covid-19 absences)
Annual Figure – 9.41 days per FTE
(Excluding Covid Absences)
(RED)

6

What is the reason for the performance?
Sickness absence remains a constant concern for the Organisation in terms of cost, impact on service delivery and creating additional workload for those who
remain in work. Following the release of the data, it has been recognised that there has been a significant increase in the number of days lost to sickness and a
need to have a more focussed approach to look at how closely managers are working in line with the Council’s Improving Attendance Policy in an attempt to
reduce absence.
There is a number of reasons for the level of absence, with mental health and musculoskeletal problems being amongst the highest. The effect of covid and
post-covid has had a significant impact on the workforce and this has been recognised across the organisation.

Page 40

What is the likely impact of continued performance?
Increased absence levels puts pressure on departments and the ability to deliver their objectives and services.
What activities have been or are being put in place to address these issues?
Prior to lockdown HR would deliver monthly training sessions to support managers’ development in implementing Blackburn with Darwen Policies. However,
since the pandemic the sessions have not taken place. These are to be re-introduced with effect from June and the focus for the first session is absence
management, as it is recognised that as well as some re-set being required there are also a number of team leaders, supervisors and managers relatively new in
post who would benefit from extra guidance on how to manage sickness absence appropriately and what options could be considered in an attempt to get
employees back into the workplace.
The HR Services is also proactively liaising with all Managers on their sickness reports and offering advice and support on individual cases as necessary.
There is also the intention to further communicate and engage with the organisation on wellbeing and the support services that are available for all:
Health and Wellbeing Champions within departments promoting events and sharing information on wellbeing topics.
Focussed wellbeing spotlights in line with national topic days or weeks. For example, April has been Stress Awareness Month and a calendar of events
have been shared across the Organisation with staff being encouraged to join in with activities which have included a variety of topics from Food and
Mood Workshops to Reading Workshops etc. A full calendar of events is being developed.
Financial Wellbeing is also being highlighted with Monday’s Money Messages going out over the intranet with useful hints and tips for reducing costs
and making savings.
Are there any decisions likely to be required of Executive Members in the future, in relation to this issue?
The Executive Member for Finance & Governance is regularly briefed on staff sickness absence; the activities to address this issue are outlined above.

7

Agenda Item 8.2
REPORT OF:

Leader of the Council

TO:

Executive Board

ON:

9th June 2022

COUNCIL RESPONSE TO COVID-19 PANDEMIC – 2021/22

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT
The purpose of this report is to provide an overview of the Council’s response to the Covid-19
pandemic over the last 12 months. A similar report was presented to Annual Council in May 2021
to highlight the responses and achievements from the first 12 months of the pandemic.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS
It is recommended that:
a) Executive Board note the contents of this report.
b) Note that a full pandemic report will be presented to full council by the end of this calendar
year.

3. BACKGROUND
Throughout the Covid-19 pandemic, our communities have experienced some of the worst effects
of this devastating virus. As the pandemic developed there was an increasing acceptance that
places with high levels of deprivation, larger black and minority ethnic populations, higher density
and overcrowded housing, greater numbers of workers in key frontline occupations and younger
population profiles had higher risks from Covid-19 in terms of infections, hospitalisations and
deaths. Blackburn with Darwen has all of these key risk factors and we will need to continue to be
vigilant to ensure the suppression of the enduring rates of transmission experienced by the
borough to date.
Up until March 2022, we have seen more than 55,000 positive cases of Covid -19 in the Borough.
In April 2022, universal free testing provision via LFDs and PCRs was ended and the contact
tracing programme was also ended (with exceptions in health and social care settings). The wider
impact of this has been a significant reduction in the data available to us around positive cases,
transmission and other data we have become accustomed to during the pandemic. We are no
longer able to report on Covid-19 at the same depth we have previously, now drawing on the data
from the regular ONS survey for a more accurate picture of case rates.
The Government released its Autumn & Winter Plan in September 2021, outlining steps that would
be taken throughout the Autumn & Winter period to help fight Covid-19. During the winter period,
England moved into Plan B, following the rapid spread of the Omicron variant. This resulted in:




Face masks becoming compulsory in most public indoor venues (other than hospitality)
People asked to work from home if they can
The NHS COVID Pass becoming mandatory in specific settings, using a negative test or full
vaccination via the NHS COVID Pass.
1

Page 41

These measures helped to bring down cases over the Christmas period and all Plan B measures
were removed at the end of January 2022. Significant changes to Covid-19 policy and guidance
came in April 2022, when anyone with a positive test did not need to isolate; testing provision was
withdrawn and the test and trace function was ended (with exceptions in health and social care
settings).
Covid-19 is still a concern for many of our residents and partners across the public, private sector
and VCFS sectors. Businesses and employers have faced the reality of how Covid-19 has
affected them and are still faced with an uncertain and unprecedented future. As a civic leader, the
Council has a crucial role to play in delivering services through business as usual and supporting
residents and businesses to live with Covid-19.

4. RESPONSE HIGHLIGHTS
This report provides an overview of the key activity that has taken place across the organisation
and with support from businesses, VCFS partners and communities in the Covid-19 response. A
full pandemic report is planned for later in the year to identify response highlights whilst also
allowing us to identify lessons learnt and to support future planning.

A. ADULT SERVICES & PREVENTION
Colleagues have supported Care Sector Providers throughout the pandemic, for example by
distributing several Covid funding streams including the Infection Prevention Control Grant, the
Workforce Recruitment and Retention Grants and Omicron Fund. Additionally, the Care Sector
Response Group have maintained daily contact with Providers and have produced daily situation
reports, outbreak management support and ongoing advice and guidance throughout the course
of the pandemic.
Adult Social Care staff have worked creatively and flexibility throughout the Pandemic to ensure
that our most vulnerable residents were protected and that their needs were assessed and
responded to. We also supported a number of Providers directly, for example by deploying
members of our own workforce into Care Homes during times of staffing crisis to ensure residents
continued to receive the care that they needed. As a means to support hospital discharge, we have
also increased our Crisis Domiciliary Care capacity and continue to meet the requirements of the
national frameworks.
In addition, throughout the past twelve months, the Help Hub has continued to operate and provide
recovery and resilience support to residents. Key activities included supporting families and adults
to;

During the past year, the team have managed 1283 resident requests; dealt with 947 customers
reporting that they were worrying more than usual due to their current circumstances and provided
352 customers with additional support following their initial enquiry. Well-being and Food and
Supplies remained the biggest areas of need identified and the team were innovative in their
support of residents in a number of ways.
From 1793 requests for food support, 754 requests resulted in a referral for food supplies.
Working closely with the Isolation Support team, we were able to deliver food parcels to residents
unable to leave their home due to Covid-19. The team also supported people to access their own
supplies through supporting with online shopping, getting support from family, friends and
2

Page 42

neighbours that they hadn’t considered. 27% of requests came from residents who were selfisolating. Through discussions with customers, a further 352 people were identified as needing
further support from their initial request.
A key part of our response has been the Covid Community Champions (CCC) which were
established to directly communicate with the community, delivering accurate information regarding
vaccinations and providing essential feedback to the Council and the NHS. This provided local
insight and intelligence and more importantly, helped us identify what was needed to ensure
everyone had fair and equal access to the vaccination. A key aspect of their work was to dispel
misinformation thereby supporting residents to make an informed choice.
The Champions project also recognised a need for a Long Covid Peer Support group. They started
to see the impact of Long Covid through feedback from the community and we have, along with
our colleagues across Re:fresh and Adult Learning, filled a gap to help support our residents with
practical solutions and a real sense of support from others in a similar position.
Volunteers have continued to support the Covid-19 response in the past 12 months with over 60
Befriending phone calls made a week and 1858 volunteer hours logged via the befriending service.
Over 300 food and essential parcels were delivered by volunteers within the community a week at
the height of demand.

B. PUBLIC HEALTH & WELLBEING
An important part of the Council’s ongoing Covid-19 response has been to support the
management of incidents and outbreaks in a wide range of settings such as care homes, schools,
refuges and Houses of Multiple Occupation.
We have continued with a multi-disciplinary Incident Management Hub (IMH) to help us to
effectively manage Covid-19 incidents and outbreaks. Led by the Director of Public Health and
Consultants in Public Health, the IMH includes representatives from Public Health, Public
Protection, Education, the NHS, Adult Social Care, UK Health Security Agency (UKHSA),
Neighbourhoods, Communications, Infection Prevention Control and testing and vaccination
teams.
The IMH continued to meet regularly to review information and intelligence about local incidents
and outbreaks and agree what action to take to limit further spread of the virus. This includes:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Making decisions on whether there is an outbreak and instigating joint outbreak
control plans and meetings, as necessary
Advice and guidance on effective infection control measures
Mobilising rapid testing to support outbreak managements
Establishing support systems for vulnerable people affected by outbreaks
Managing the other consequences of an outbreak including business continuity,
media and communications
Using intelligence about incidents and outbreaks to support local
communications, engagement and enforcement activities

To ensure a comprehensive local response, specialist teams have continued to deal with
outbreaks and incidents in care homes and schools. These teams, along with other setting specific
single points of contact, report directly to the IMH to ensure a fully coordinated local response. The
Council’s Public Protection Service has continued to provide specialist support where cases are
identified in locations such as factories, offices, and hospitality and retail locations.
The Communications team have provided essential support to the Core Covid team throughout the
pandemic. During the second 12 months of the pandemic, various communications campaigns
were developed to help share key public health guidance and to ensure that residents were
informed of the various restrictions as they regularly changed.
3

Page 43

12 MONTH NOTABLE ACHIEVEMENTS
Delta variant wave in Blackburn with Darwen
Communications were developed to support surge testing and surge vaccination programmes in
those areas with highest cases of the Delta variant. This included media relations, social media
messages and a variety of communications assets to support community engagement work,
including translated assets delivered to homes, used on ad vans, and videos shared on social
media, by email, text and WhatsApp.
Wider roll-out of the Covid vaccine to over 12s
Communications were developed and national assets were shared to encourage take-up of the
vaccine, targeting groups with lower take-up. Working with the local CCG, we supported by
amplifying their messaging around the roll-out of the Covid vaccine programme to over 18s, then 16
& 17 year olds, then 12-15 year olds through a school vaccination programme, then boosters for all
over 18s, then spring boosters. Communications supported the hyperlocal pop-up vaccination
clinics and the engagement work in communities with lowest take-up of the Covid vaccine, and a
Vaxx Facts social media campaign was developed to address myths still circulating, including
videos from midwives addressing vaccine safety for pregnant women.
Stay Well This Winter household leaflet
An information leaflet containing infection prevention and control advice, as well as details of
support available to residents to stay warm and well over winter, was developed and delivered to
every home in the borough.
Omicron surge and introduction of Plan B measures
Communications were developed and national communications assets were shared to highlight the
tightened restrictions under Plan B, and to encourage eligible businesses to apply for Omicron
hospitality & leisure grants.
Testing
Further development of the #TestAndGo campaign to encourage regular testing with lateral flow
tests to help prevent community transmission, including new assets linked to Christmas and New
Year.
Covid Community Champions
Communications were developed to support the recruitment of volunteers to the Covid Community
Champions, and then weekly updates to share the key messages we needed their help to share
across their communities and networks. Communications were developed to promote the Long
Covid peer support group, and the Communications team facilitated a report on BBC North West
Tonight about the support on offer in the borough and it impact on people with Long Covid.
Self-isolation support pilot
Communications were developed to highlight the support available to people testing positive for
Covid through the self-isolation support pilot, including developing 10 Days Your Way branding.

4

Page 44

Front line services such as libraries, museums and healthy lifestyle and leisure teams continued to
adapt and develop creative ways for public access and support, even when buildings remained
closed. Staff adapted quickly using digital solutions and their engagement skills growing services’
reach through investment in small scale technology including e-books, audio and video software
and equipment for blogs, virtual tours, on-line 121 and group support groups and immersive virtual
fitness classes.
Libraries were the first of the Council’s public buildings to re-open followed by Blackburn Museum
and the Leisure Centres - all welcoming people back, operating safely within the changing Covid19 guidelines. King George’s Hall and Darwen Library Theatre re-opened at the end of the
summer with a busy programme of events, bookings and rescheduled shows, including a record
breaking pantomime season with packed audiences returning to enjoy Snow White and the Seven
Dwarfs. Customers really appreciated staff’s attention to detail, feeling safe and welcomed back
and overwhelmingly reported the importance to their health and wellbeing on being able to stay
connected to cultural and leisure services throughout the pandemic.

C. CHILDREN’S, YOUNG PEOPLE & EDUCATION
Excellent work has continued in response to the restrictions imposed by the pandemic and the
wellbeing of our children and young people has remained at the forefront of all response activity. It
remained a priority for children and young people to be seen face to face as part of the
assessment process and their wishes and feelings continued to be gathered to inform their plan.
We continued to deal with children who needed an urgent response and protection and Social
Workers utilised PPE and Covid-safe advice to protect themselves and the children. Whilst this
was sometimes not possible due to the nature of the work, Social Workers remained stoic in
ensuring the safety and well-being of children. An office rota system was utilised to ensure the
safety of staff and we realised an added workforce benefit of this approach was to offer support,
advice and guidance for Social Workers who were going out on visits and being able to respond to
the needs of the community. We continued to keep staff updated by sharing changes and
revisions to Covid-19 guidance and restrictions on a weekly basis as a minimum and we also
invited partners to keep accurate updates on their response to Covid-19.
We experienced staffing pressures within our Residential Children’s Homes with Covid-19
transmission. The nature of the close living situations meant that transmission risks were high and
this resulted in an often daily response to ensure capacity of staff. There was an excellent
response from the whole service with staff responding to different working patterns to ensure that
familiar people were available to the residents. Again, an unforeseen positive consequence we
have is that we have an established bank staff list that can be utilised across the Residential
network.
Staff experienced new challenges with some parents who used the pandemic as a means of
keeping professionals at arm’s length in order to disguise concerns within the home. This
behaviour was factored into assessments and the response undertaken by the service. Staff
utilised virtual meeting options to remain Covid-safe but continued to hold face to face meetings
where necessary and returned to face to face as soon as possible. Phones were also utilised for
virtual visits and conversations with children, young people and their families and our adolescent
population appreciated this type of communication and this has remained in place once restrictions
ended due to the positive feedback we received.
The Children’s Advice and Duty Service (CADS) team have been available to schools for advice
throughout the pandemic to discuss any concerns for the welfare of a child, escalating to a referral
where appropriate and required. We have progressed a multi-agency partnership in CADS to
fortnightly multi-agency CADS review meetings where cases are reviewed and audited as a multiagency group.
5

Page 45

We have had to undertake a flexible, creative approach to the impact on children and young
people requiring accommodation outside the family home. There has been some stalling in the
past 12 months of care proceedings with them not concluding in a timely manner. This has meant
that children and young people did not transition to permanent arrangements. This has created
additional pressure on seeking the right placements. We worked alongside the Commissioning
Team to overcome this by ensuring referrals are child centred and informed by the child. We have
also included the offer that a potential placement would receive from BwD as Corporate Parents
and this has achieved some real success in finding the right matches for our children and young
people. We have continued with this in our new normal due to its success.

As has been documented and evidenced throughout the pandemic there has been a significant
impact on children, young people and their education. Between 1st April 2021 to 31st March 2022
there were a total number of 9174 positive Covid-19 cases reported from schools and educational
settings.

Type
Staff

3124

Pupil

6049
Setting

Early Years

190

Primary

4729

Secondary

3187

Special Schools

220

Colleges

848

The Education Response Team have continued to support schools and settings throughout the
2021/22 academic year. The team has dealt with numerous confirmed cases in schools and
settings over the past 12 months resulting in over 13,000 children being sent home to isolate and
over 1000 staff. Many of the confirmed cases generated phone calls and emails looking for advice,
reassurance and guidance which resulted in meetings with Headteachers and senior leaders to
review cases where multiple cases have been reported or concerns have been raised. A daily debrief allowed cases to be discussed, lessons from the day to be shared, and concerns raised to
allow for a proactive approach to be taken to emerging issues. Health Protection Teams (HPTs)
also played an active role in this approach.
The team has had to interpret, re-write and keep abreast of guidance that was provided on a daily
basis. Members of the team carried out walk-throughs of schools looking at how they operate,
forensically checking procedures and risk assessments to ensure that what they say, they do. In
addition, training was provided for Madrasahs in BwD including providing a user friendly resource
to help manage single and multiple cases in settings. We provided all schools and colleges with
refreshed guidance, test kits, and PPE to ensure they met the requirements for the autumn term in
2021 so they became an on-site Asymptomatic Test Site.
6

Page 46

There were numerous guidance changes between 1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 which resulted
in an influx of queries from schools and settings. Supporting documentation such as the schools’
risk assessment was updated regularly as well as the Public Health Resources pack.
Headteachers were kept informed of all changes and updates via the Headteachers Bulletin. Prior
to this, changes to school ‘bubbles’ and self-isolation for under 18s also resulted in increased
queries and requests for support. Following the removal of all Covid-19 restrictions in April 2022, a
revised risk assessment was developed for schools focussing on managing infections, including
Covid-19 in their setting.
Despite our schools and settings dealing with cases of Covid-19 they have continued to ensure
that attendance levels are the highest in the region (this is recorded via returns to Department for
Education). Attendance levels of children with an Education, Health and Care Plan and vulnerable
learners (those with a social worker) are typically in line with national average or slightly above /
below. BwD had the lowest number of children and young people on average that needed to be
isolated due to a confirmed case and this was attributed to the excellent management of ‘bubbles.’
This good practice has been highlighted by the DfE and Regional Schools Commissioners office.
Blackburn with Darwen Young People’s Services and the Strategic Youth Alliance delivered a
street- level engagement programme through weekly detached work and community based, Covid19 secure events over a 6 month period from March 2021 – August 2021. The aim of the project
was to deliver stay safe messages, sign-post young people to structured provision and provide
them with on the spot advice and guidance around Covid-19 restrictions, testing, vaccinations and
issues facing young people in our communities.
The Strategic Youth Alliance is made up of 10 organisations including Young People’s Services.
The Covid Engagement Project demonstrated a real collaboration between the organisations,
strengthening their relationships and supporting the smaller organisations to grow and gain
confidence in a large strategic project. We used links with other areas of Adolescent Services
including Youth Justice Service and Engage (Exploitation Team) as well as the Police and the
Community Safety Partnership to identify particular hotspots for Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB), Child
Criminal Exploitation and the areas highlighted by the COVID Patrol.
As information filtered down from Public Health England around the lifting of restrictions we ran
Community Events to strengthen our links with the public and provide a secure environment for
young people, parents and carers to start socialising in a COVID safe space.
Project Successes
Improving links with local community – feedback from members of the
community, and particular leaders within the community, has strengthened
significantly. Out teams have been able to deliver support and reassurance at
ground level when a lot of our target audience has felt isolated.
Introducing agencies and signposting Young People to provision – having
teams carrying local information, job vacancies and access to provision through
referral has led to the young people of Blackburn with Darwen engaging through
a difficult period where engagement hasn’t been possible through traditional
methods.
Numbers of young people engaged with throughout the project – our overall
REACH for the project has been excellent. This is due to the flexibility of our
staff teams and the skillset they possess to approach, gain trust and build
relationships with young people.
7

Page 47

Reduction of ASB in certain areas – attending daily COVID update meetings
has meant that we have had update to date information to map our response
and act on reported issues (not only COVID related)
Fun Days – feedback from parents, young people and members of the
community has been positive throughout and described as a ‘breath of fresh air’
and fitting way to start the long road back to normality for our young people who
have been badly affected throughout the pandemic.

D. ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES
Public Protection & Environmental Health maintained an enforcement presence on our streets to
the end of covid secure measures, and supported businesses through the changes as restrictions
were lifted in stages in April, May and July 2021, at which point all but the most general legislative
controls ended. Towards the end of the restrictions our contact with businesses became
increasingly light touch, as would be expected, with advice and encouragement to maintain
voluntary controls being the main approach adopted. A significant doorstep test and trace
presence was maintained until cessation of contract tracing in February 2022, with enhanced
contact tracing during the rise of the delta variant being a particularly intensive period. The Service
has also supported businesses with outbreak control advice throughout this time, with the end of
2021 and beginning of 2022 being a very busy time in this respect. With the removal of
enforcement restrictions in July 2021 the Service has built legacy covid-secure work into its routine
activity, and is working towards returning to business as usual, identifying and reducing backlogs of
work which have developed during the period of covid enforcement.

E. GROWTH & DEVELOPMENT
Since the start of the pandemic the Council has provided direct financial support to local businesses
as part of the Government’s Covid-19 strategy. Over the pandemic period (March 2020 – March
2022) the Council has supported thousands of local enterprises through both mandated Covid-19
business grants and discretionary Covid-19 business grants to businesses either excluded from the
nationally mandated schemes or of strategic importance to the borough.
The mandated schemes include the:










Small Business Grant (March – June 2020)
Retail, Leisure and Hospitality Grant (March – June 2020)
Local Restrictions Support Grant (Open) (August – November 2020)
Local Restrictions Support Grant (Closed) (November – December 2020)
Local Restrictions Support Grant (Addendum Tier 4) (December 2020)
Wet led pub grant (December 2020 – January 2021)
Local Restrictions Support Grant (Closed) (January – March 2021)
The Restart Grant – April 2021 (April 2021)
Omicron Leisure and Hospitality Grant (January – March 2022)

The Council distributed c. £65m in direct financial support in over 12,000 individual grant payments
to local enterprises.
The discretionary grant schemes included:



The Local Authority Discretionary Grant Fund (June – August 2020)
The Additional Restrictions Grant (November 2020 – March 2022)
8

Page 48

The Council distributed c. £7.5m in direct discretionary financial support in over 2300 individual
grants and exhausted its allocation of discretion funds that were made available by the Government
at the time. In total, the Council has defrayed over £72m in grant support in over 15,000 individual
grants and supported a wide range of sectors including, but not limited to manufacturing; close
contact services; leisure and hospitality industry; driving instructors; taxi drivers; market traders.

F. DIGITAL & CUSTOMER SERVICES
Throughout 2021/22, the pandemic continued to have a significant financial impact on residents
and businesses in the Borough. As a result, the Digital and Customer Services teams within the
Council continued to produce a number of new online forms via the Digital Customer Portal (DCP)
and arranged for Q&A discussions to be held for businesses with business experts, in light of
government announcements. Additional funding from Government was received specifically to
support the homeless population and economic support to businesses through discretionary grant
schemes.
The online forms assisted with self-isolation support payments for residents and grants to
businesses impacted by the pandemic. Furthermore, due to the ongoing restrictions in March
2021, residents were making fewer journeys and avoiding travel where possible. This impacted taxi
drivers who continued to operate their services. As a result, the Taxi Driver Covid-19 grant with a
one-off grant of £500 was launched. The need for financial support was also reflected through the
increase in customer visits to various Council receptions, with the main reason of the visits
including Covid Isolation support payments and benefits applications. In November 2021, the visits
peaked at an average of 80 customers per day visiting receptions across the Borough. The team
continue to offer their assistance to residents and businesses in the borough, through the second
phase of work on the portal that began in April 2022.
Public Protection & Environmental Health maintained an enforcement presence on our streets
through to the end of Covid-19 regulations and supported businesses through the changes as
restrictions were lifted in stages in April, May and July 2021. At this point all but the most general
legislative controls ended. Towards the end of the restrictions our contact with businesses became
increasingly light touch, as would be expected, with advice and encouragement to maintain
voluntary controls being the main approach adopted.
A significant doorstep test and trace presence was maintained until cessation of contract tracing in
February 2022. With the removal of restrictions in July 2021, the Service has built legacy covidsecure work into routine activity, and is working towards returning to business as usual, and
identifying and reducing backlogs of work which have developed during the period of covid
enforcement.

G. FINANCE & GOVERNANCE
The tables below provide a breakdown of the Test and Trace self-isolation applications and
subsequent payments made to residents. Around business rates and reliefs, we have paid a total
of 12,701 grants (£64,698,358) (this excludes grants administered by the Growth and Development
portfolio). In total, we have administered retail discount totalling £26,305,762, through a total of
5612 transactions.
Total applications
Apps

Paid

Standard total

10505

2,191,500.00

Parental total

576

120,500.00

Total

11081

2,312,000.00
9

Page 49

Total successful applications
Apps

Paid

Standard

2557

1,278,500.00

Discretionary

1826

913,000.00

Parental standard

198

99,000.00

Parental discretionary

43

21,500.00

Total

4624

2,312,000.00

Whilst it is difficult to convert the contribution of other teams within the portfolio to monetary values,
their contribution to the success of projects such as the Help Hub has been instrumental. The
Registrars team’s response to the Covid-19 is well-documented in the 2020-21 report and
colleagues within but not limited to Customer Services; Council Tax, Business Rates and Benefits
teams have all performed outstanding work once again in the past 12 months. Processing grants;
collecting arrears, processing increased numbers of benefit applications has all been undertaken
whilst dealing with business as usual activity.
Summer 2021 saw Blackburn with Darwen experience a surge of the Delta variant along with many
other Northern Local Authorities. The severity of the surge resulted in the deployment of Military
Aid to the Civil Authorities (MACA) for military resources to support the surge testing programme.
This request was approved by the Secretary of State DHSC on the 2nd June with the arrival of 55
military personal from 19th Regiment Royal Artillery on 4th June. The military took over the running
of the two council LFT test sites at King George’s Hall Blackburn and The Works Darwen and the
running of five council community collect and return hubs. The MACA was for a 4-week period with
the military departing on 26 June.
A request was also made to deploy the DHSC Surge Rapid Response Team (SRRT), this request
was approved on 3 June with a team of 50 people being deployed over the weekend periods of 11
-13 June, 18-20 June and 25 – 27 June. The SRRT operated out of the Blackburn Army Reserve
Centre (ARC). Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council provided overall leadership for surge
testing with operational support from 19th Regiment Royal Artillery and the SRRT. The combined
team was co-located in Blackburn Town Hall.
During the surge testing period approximately 51,505 PCR tests were issued and 37,873 were
collected. In addition, 15,035 lateral flow tests were issued. Between this period of 18th May and
2nd July 2021 approximately 32% of the population were tested.
August 2021 saw the creation of the Core Covid Team however, many of the staff were already
supporting the local Covid-19 response prior to the team’s formal creation. Staff have accumulated
considerable knowledge and experience around step-up and response activity and this is also the
case for Covid-19 leads in individual departments. The Targeted Community Testing scheme was
established in July 2021 and was successful in enabling us to support communities, businesses
and residents with easily accessible testing kits as well as onsite testing through our asymptomatic
testing sites. Easy access to testing kits was particularly important during the Omicron wave and to
support residents with changes to self-isolation guidance and the need to test to leave isolation
early.
BwD established a council led contact tracing service, working closely with NHS Test and Trace to
give help, advice and support to those who needed to self-isolate. Our local contact tracing
services and holistic support model was launched in July 2020 and was amongst the longest
10

Page 50

standing and well-established in England. Our service was holistic and connected residents with
the Help Hub that linked those who were isolating or in need with essential services such as
befriending, medication delivery, mental health support and more. Data has demonstrated that our
local contact tracing service reached people effectively, proving that difficult, hard to reach cases
passed down from the national team were served better locally. The offer of a wide range of
tailored advice and support, a local number and a local voice, with knowledge and understanding
of the borough and its residents, were the main determinants of our success.
The council was successful in securing funding to create a Self-Isolation Support pilot. The pilot
contacted people and/or households, who had been told to self-isolate, within 24 hours to offer a
bespoken plan to support self-isolation. The pilot targeted the whole population of Blackburn with
Darwen and provided an insight into what worked best to support those who test positive and their
contacts to do the right thing to protect themselves, their families and wider communities. The pilot
allowed tracing data to be closely monitored and matched with referrals to the police in order to
identify any trends around none-compliance. The identification of trends allowed targeted
engagement work to be carried out and the trends monitored.
The government announced on 6th October 2021 that a new Household Support Fund (HSF) grant
would be made available to County Councils and Unitary Authorities in England to support those
most in need. The Household Support Scheme will be run by the Council and local partners, to
assist residents of Blackburn with Darwen to access food, support with energy and water bills, and
other essential items.
Funding was made available for:




Blackburn with Darwen children, families and vulnerable adults
single claimants with an annual household income below £21,152
couples with an annual household income below £31,731

The Council is working with a number of local organisations, who can offer support, with the
addition of:

The Help Hub has assisted with the Household Support Fund scheme that covers support with
utility bills and essential items. 2297 applications have been processed to date. The Government
have announced the scheme will be further extended to help with the rising cost of living.
The Vaccination programme changed the trajectory of the pandemic and can be attributed to the
saving of lives and protection from severe illness for many across the borough and country. The
Local Vaccination Programme has been progressing well since its inception with 77.2% of the 12+
population having received their first dose and 71.5% receiving their second dose. (Data from 20th
April 2022) However, despite these overall high levels of uptake, there continue to be signs of
lower uptake in lower income and some ethnic minority groups and as a result we are continuing to
provide support to the vaccination programme through the Core Covid Team, Covid-19
ambassadors, Engagement and Integration Officers and Social Prescribing Link Workers.
Good ventilation has been a key factor in reducing transmission throughout the pandemic and the
importance of adequate ventilation has been strengthened with continuing research into this area.
A task and finish group, with representatives from key areas – Public Health, Schools, Public
11

Page 51

Protection, Health & Safety and Property Services was established to look at how we could
encourage and support ventilation in public buildings, high-risk areas and what support the Council
could offer to the general public, local businesses and educational settings. Advice and guidance
around ensuring adequate ventilation has been shared and ventilation has been a key part of any
wider communications. An offer of C02 monitors and advice on their use has also been made
available across various settings.
A key function of the Core Covid team is to support Outbreak Management and a dedicated e-mail
address was established for this purpose. It is monitored five days a week by a ‘front door’ team
and this is stepped up to cover weekends and bank holidays when required for example, during the
Delta and Omicron waves. There has been significant multi-agency work across the local authority
and Lancashire Resilience Forum footprint to prevent and manage the risk of outbreaks in a range
of high risk settings including;

Blackburn with Darwen Council along with NHS CCG colleagues have put in place ‘designated
settings’ for COVID-19 care. These settings ensure that all people requiring admission to a care
setting or back to their own care setting can be discharged from hospital safely, which helps to
reduce the spread of the virus within other care settings. A designated setting allows the resident
to undergo the necessary period of isolation, which could be up to 10 days.
Managing the risk of exposure and transmission in the workplace is key to ensuring not only the
health of the workforce, but also the sustainability of the business, and the wider economic
recovery. Locally, there is a multi-agency approach to workplace support and engagement
comprising local authority public health and public protection teams, Public Health England and the
Health and Safety Executive. The Local Authority has a key role in promoting and enforcing
COVID-19-secure workplaces based on the five main steps to working safely set out in
Government guidance on working safely during coronavirus. The COVID-19 Resource Pack for
Workplaces has been developed collaboratively to provide clear advice and guidance to support
businesses in managing their response to the situation; together with contact details for further
information.
The Public Protection Team are responsible for working with businesses to promote COVID-19
secure practices, monitoring compliance and taking action where necessary. This includes close
working with local business networks. A wide range of data are used to identify those workplaces
that would benefit from further intervention and support, ranging from common exposure and
postcode incidence alerts via the Public Health England hub to local grass roots intelligence via the
local authorities.
The Resilience and Emergency Planning Service has been supporting the Council’s response to
the Covid-19 crisis. Having worked through repeated peaks and troughs of Covid-19 infection rates
and consequential response from the Council and its partners; the Council endeavoured to
12

Page 52

manage a phase where the ongoing Covid-19 response work was classed as enduring
transmission and being embedded where appropriate into Business as Usual. The Service has
throughout the pandemic worked with partners and supported various national, regional and local
work streams and continues to do so whilst we are in the recovery phase. BwD has contributed to
two Lancashire Local Resilience Forum and recommendations have been captured within the LRF
Work Programme and rolled out across all partners. The ultimate aim is to still to maintain the
necessary support to the community and BwD employees.
Following the review of the Corporate and Departmental Business Continuity Plans, a ‘winter
pressures’ exercise was undertaken to examine the Council’s approach to winter planning and
Business Continuity. Service area leads were tasked with looking at their ‘key functions’ in the
event that activity would need to be reduced or paused to ensure that priority services are
supported if an enhanced operation response to Covid19 was required.
A Members Bulletin electronic communication was established early in the pandemic and this was
replicated internally with Operational and Strategic reports which were published on alternate
weeks to provide Corporate Leadership Team and Extended Leadership with a detailed
breakdown of Covid-19 activity across the organisation. It also included details of planned activity
and the latest statistics around vaccinations, case rates and outbreaks to ensure a cohesive
approach to pandemic management. The reporting proved popular and engaging and was added
to the Members Bulletin as an elected members Covid-19 report. Regular updates around
Covid-19 activity continued to be provided via committee updates and council reports including
Executive Board and Council Forum throughout the year.
Our workforce continues to be at the root of our success in our response. Staff have continued to
be flexible and have adapted to new situations at pace, often providing a 24/7 service 24/7 service
where needed. Redeployment was also required in the second year of Covid-19 response activity
to ensure support to critical areas such as adult social care. Staff have continued with blended
roles and stepped up their support when help was needed in particular during the winter crisis.
The Human Resources team have continued to support redeployment and supported numerous
staff into temporary Covid-19 response roles. This allowed us to adapt to changing demands and
restrictions.
On each occasion in the past 12 months when government guidance has advised people to work
from home, we have supported our staff to do this. Established digital support has been enhanced
in the past 12 months of covid response and our office-based services have continued working
throughout with staff moving to home-working or a blend of office/home working as required.
Clinically extremely vulnerable staff were supported to work from home and redeployed where
necessary. In addition, they were supported with their return to the office when the government’s
shielding programme ended.
The HR team’s training provision was moved online during covid response and this proved
extremely popular. Managers were also offered support via remote meetings throughout the
lockdowns and working from home guidance. Two Covid-19 related courses were developed and
the completion figures for these are below:
Infection and Prevention Awareness for Front Line
Staff
Prevent COVID-19
Total

6820
1668
8488

The team also had to rapidly move from an entirely classroom based training delivery model for
Adult Social Care to an online delivery model and this continued throughout the Delta and Omicron
13

Page 53

waves. Relevant content was sourced quickly and information around these was communicated
as a matter of urgency. The courses and completion figures for these are below:
Course name
Aphasia
Autism Awareness
Catheter Care
Dementia Awareness
Diabetes Awareness
Dysphagia Awareness
Epilepsy Awareness
Falls and Fracture Prevention in the Elderly
LGBT Aware for Care
Loss and Bereavement
Managing Continence
Managing Stoma Care
Medication Awareness and Safe Handling of
Medicines
Medication Practice
Medication Practice for Domiciliary Care
Moving and Positioning of Individuals
Palliative Care and End of Life Care
Parkinson's Disease Awareness
Stroke Awareness
Total

Completed
263
791
201
460
400
170
596
259
121
1366
148
143
540
240
205
491
348
221
245
7208

5. NEXT STEPS
This is a report covering key activity from April 2021 to March 2022. A further report will be
brought back to full council outlining the council’s overall response to the covid pandemic, by the
end of 2022.

6. POLICY IMPLICATIONS
There are no policy implications.

7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
Whilst there are no financial implications arising directly from the contents of this report, the impact
of Covid-19 has resulted in significant financial implications for the Council and the Borough as a
whole. Some of these matters are reported in the narrative above and others have been the
subject of regular reports to the Executive and Council during the last financial year. Details of the
financial impact of Covid-19 in 2021-22 will be included in the Council's Statement of Accounts as
appropriate.

8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
There are no legal implications.
9. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
There are no resource implications.

10. EQUALITY AND HEALTH IMPLICATIONS
Please select one of the options below.

14

Page 54

Option 1 ☒ Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) not required – the EIA checklist has been
completed.
Option 2 ☐ In determining this matter the Executive Member needs to consider the EIA
associated with this item in advance of making the decision.
Option 3 ☐ In determining this matter the Executive Board Members need to consider the
EIA associated with this item in advance of making the decision.
11. CONSULTATIONS
There are no consultations.

12. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
N/A
13. DECLARATION OF INTEREST
All Declarations of Interest of any Executive Member consulted and note of any
dispensation granted by the Chief Executive will be recorded in the Summary of Decisions
published on the day following the meeting.
CONTACT OFFICER:

Mohsin Mulla

DATE:
BACKGROUND PAPER:

9th June 2022
N/A

15

Page 55

Agenda Item 8.3
EXECUTIVE BOARD DECISION
REPORT OF:

Executive Member for Children, Young People
and Education

LEAD OFFICERS:

Strategic Director of Children’s Services and
Education

DATE:

09 June 2022

PORTFOLIO/S
AFFECTED:

All

WARD/S AFFECTED:

(All Wards);

KEY DECISION:

YES

SUBJECT: EB - School Holiday Pattern 2023/2024
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
The Local Authority (LA) has responsibility for setting the school holiday pattern for Community and
Controlled schools. It does this in consultation with neighbouring LAs, schools and teacher
associations. For other maintained schools (Voluntary Aided and Foundation) the governing board
determines the holiday pattern. Trustees of Free Schools and Academies (schools independent of the
LA) have responsibility for setting their term and holiday dates.
2. RECOMMENDATIONS
That the Executive Board agrees the school term and holiday pattern for Community and Controlled
schools for 2023/2024 (as set out in Appendix One Draft School term and Holiday Pattern 2023/2024)
3. BACKGROUND
The LA is required to set the school holiday pattern for its Community and Controlled schools. The
dates are agreed 12 months in advance of schools beginning the new academic year. In March the
dates were circulated for consultation with primary and secondary schools. In addition the dates were
sent to Teacher and Green book Union representatives for their observations and comments.
4. KEY ISSUES & RISKS
Schools have a preference for the LA to set a pattern that is aligned with the dates that have been
agreed by Lancashire County Council. In this way there is less disruption for families and employees.
Due to the composition of the maintained school sector in the Borough agreeing a uniform set of
dates is not possible as all of the secondary schools and over a half of primary schools can set their
own holiday patterns.
5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS
Schools, Governors and Teacher Associations were all asked for comments in relation to the
proposed holiday pattern. In recent years the LA has received only a very limited number of
comments with most respondents wanting the
pattern
Page
56to be aligned with Lancashire’s holiday pattern,
EBD: V1/21

Page 1 of 3

to avoid problems with members of staff who have children attending schools in Lancashire. There
have been no comments made during the consultation period (4th March – 8th April).
It is important to note that once agreed by the LA and published, the holiday pattern is binding on all
community and voluntary controlled schools in Blackburn with Darwen. Voluntary Aided and
Foundation governing boards are requested to give consideration to the advice from the LA when
determining their school calendars
6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
There are no financial implications arising from this report
7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
The LA is responsible for setting the school holiday pattern for Community and Controlled schools.
The Education (School Day and School Year) (England) Regulations 1999 stipulate that maintained
schools must be open for 190 days during any school year to educate their pupils. Under the annual
School Teachers’ Pay and Conditions Document (STPCD), all teachers are required to be available to
work for 190 (+5 inset) days in each academic year. The proposed holiday pattern for 2023/2024
satisfies this legal requirement.
8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
There are no resource implications arising from this report

9. EQUALITY AND HEALTH IMPLICATIONS
Please select one of the options below. Where appropriate please include the hyperlink to the
EIA.
Option 1

Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) not required – the EIA checklist has been completed.

10. CONSULTATIONS
Schools, governors and Teacher Associations were all asked for comments in relation to the
proposed holiday pattern. The LA has received no responses as indicated above

11. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The recommendations are made further to advice from the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151
Officer has confirmed that they do not incur unlawful expenditure. They are also compliant with
equality legislation and an equality analysis and impact assessment has been considered. The
recommendations reflect the core principles of good governance set out in the Council’s Code of
Corporate Governance.
12. DECLARATION OF INTEREST
All Declarations of Interest of any Executive Member consulted and note of any dispensation granted
by the Chief Executive will be recorded in the Summary of Decisions published on the day following
the meeting.

Page 57

EBD: V1/21

Page 2 of 3

VERSION: 1
CONTACT OFFICER: Andrew Hutchinson
DATE:
BACKGROUND Appendix one – Draft School Holiday pattern 2023/24 (Dates)
PAPER:

Page 58
EBD: V1/21

Page 3 of 3

APPENDIX ONE

DRAFT
SCHOOL TERM AND HOLIDAY PATTERN 2023/2024

AUTUMN TERM 2023
Re-open on
Mid Term Closure
Closure after school on
Number of openings
SPRING TERM 2024
Re-open on
Mid Term Closure
Closure after school on
Number of openings
SUMMER TERM 2024
Re-open on
May Day Closure
Mid Term Closure
Closure after school
Number of openings

Friday 1 September 2023
Monday 23 OctoberFriday 27 October 2023 (inc)
Friday 22 December 2023
76

Monday 8 January 2024
Monday 12 FebruaryFriday 16 February 2024 (inc)
Thursday 28 March 2024
54

Monday 15 April 2024
Monday 6 May 2024
Monday 27 May Friday 31 May 2024 (incl)
Monday 22 July 2024
65

TOTAL NUMBER OF OPENINGS - 195

Edgworth CE/Methodist Primary School and Belmont Community Primary school have
traditionally followed the agreed holiday pattern of Bolton LA. This arrangement will continue
for 2023/2024

Page 59

Agenda Item 8.4
EXECUTIVE BOARD DECISION
REPORT OF:

Executive Member for Children, Young
People & Education

LEAD OFFICERS:

Strategic Director of Children’s Services

DATE:

9th June 2022

PORTFOLIO/S
AFFECTED:

Children, Young People & Education

WARD/S AFFECTED:

(All Wards);

KEY DECISION:

YES

NO

SUBJECT: Update on Children's Services ILACS Inspection
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Blackburn with Darwen Children’s Services received an Ofsted ‘Inspection of Local Authority
Children’s Services’ (ILACS) across the three week period 24 January 2022 and 4 February
2022. This report sets out progress since the Inspection on the key areas and seeks approval
for financial and governance arrangements to monitor the effectiveness of improvement
activity.
2. RECOMMENDATIONS
That the Executive Board:
-

Delegates the scrutiny of the delivery of the Post ILACS Inspection Action Plan to the
Achieving Excellence Board

-

Gives approval to a supplementary revenue estimate of £906,000 to fund the delivery
of the Action Plan (Appendix) in 2022/23 to be funded from contingent sums
earmarked for Social Care (and acknowledge that, subject to review as part of the
Council’s normal budgetary procedures, the estimated full year cost of the Action Plan
(estimated to be £923k) will form part of the Council’s Budget from 2023/24)

-

Notes that subject to the refinement of the Action Plan, any further financial
implications arising from the delivery of the Action Plan will be considered in line with
the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules.

3. BACKGROUND
In April 2022 the Executive Board was informed of the findings and recommendations of the
ILACS inspection and of the plan to establish a multi-agency partnership ‘Achieving
Excellence Board’ to monitor improvements and build on existing strengths.

Page 60
EBD: V1/21

Page 1 of 4

The Board met on 26th April 2022 for the inaugural meeting, and agreed a terms of reference
with a focus on ensuring that the lived experiences of children and young people and the
feedback from the workforce is captured and influences the work of the Board. The action
plan will be phased to focus on the three main areas; multi-agency strategy discussions; data
and assurance, and our services and support for care leavers up to the age of 25.
In June the key theme will be Support for Care Leavers; the August focus is Quality
Assurance and the theme for October is progress on the effectiveness of multi-agency
strategy discussions.
4. KEY ISSUES & RISKS
Progress in the three main areas of focus since March 2022 is:
Care Leavers:
o All Pathway Plans for Care Leavers are being reviewed to reflect their living
arrangements, and this process will be completed by the end of June. Pathway plan
training is planned with an external provider to ensure all that pathway plans are
SMART and ambitious.
o New leadership of the Leaving Care Service is in place and a full service review has
been initiated.
o A Leaving Care Forum for young people and young adults has been launched, and met
for the first time in April. Care Leavers are taking an active role in developing the
Leaving Care Service, including the scrutiny of the Achieving Excellence Improvement
Plan and the development of a young person version of the plan.
o As part of the service review, systems and recording of data has been scrutinised to
ensure that performance information is accurate and reflects practice.
o The Duty system in place at the time of the inspection has been stepped down and
replaced with an appropriate service to respond to queries from our care leavers.
o Training and development across Leaving Care Service is underway including training
on case recordings, and further training planned on trauma-informed practice and
systemic practice.
Strategy Discussions
o The quality of strategy discussions is being reviewed weekly and the percentage of
good and outstanding discussions has risen significantly since March.
o Children’s Services and Police senior management continue to meet regularly to
review and address any concerns to ensure that necessary improvements in practice
are sustained and any learning is embedded.
o For practitioners, a mandatory workshop has been delivered jointly by the Police and
Children's Social Care to share good practice.
o A partnership approach has been established to review the contact and referrals
coming into the Children’s Advice & Duty Service.
o Social Care leads have worked collaboratively with Team Managers and Social
Workers to share audit findings, deliver individual learning and share good practice.
Quality Assurance:
o The quality assurance framework is tracking and monitoring all aspects of Children’s
Services Activity through audit, complaints and compliments, data and feedback.
o The framework will be reviewed in the next quarter, and from June 2022 the service is
piloting a revised routine audit toolkit which will enable data to be gathered on
compliance, quality of practice and our use of the systemic model.

Page 61
EBD: V1/21

Page 2 of 4

5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS
Governance arrangements have been reviewed and the Achieving Excellence Board will
oversee and drive the delivery of the Action Plan, to address the recommendations in the
Inspection report and improve the impact on outcomes for children and young people in the
borough.
6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
The estimated cost of delivering the Action Plan set out at Appendix A is £906,000 in 2022/23.
This recognises that, whilst rapid action will be taken in relation to some actions, it is likely
that the employment of staff set out in the Action Plan will be subject to the normal recruitment
processes (advertisement, interview and notice periods) and may be subject to a short delay.
Some elements of the Action Plan comprise one-off measures to deal with acute matters
arising from the Inspection (auditing of activity, training etc). As a consequence, the full year
effect of the investment is estimated to be £923k.
It is intended to fund this additional investment from a contingent amount of Social Care grant
held back in anticipation of demand pressures in Social Care during 2022/23 (and on an
ongoing basis). This is sufficient to fund the investment in 2022/23 and on an ongoing basis
without any additional drawdown from the Council’s reserves. However, to the extent that
those demand pressures arise, the Council will need to consider what other measures may be
necessary to ensure the budget for the year remains in balance.
As indicated above, the Action Plan will be subject to further refinement as the financial year
progresses acknowledging that the Council’s response needs to be both immediate, to deal
with some of the issues raised in the Inspection, and developed, to ensure that the
improvements in the service are sustained to deliver the best outcomes for Children in a way
that remains affordable for the Council.
Finally, to ensure that the Executive Board is sighted on the outcomes being achieved by this
investment, and aside from any updates provided on progress with the delivery of the Action
Plan, this matter will be considered as part of the regular Budget Monitoring reports submitted
to the Executive Board. Equally, the extent to which additional investment is sustained and
any measures to mitigate the financial impact for the Council will be considered as part of the
development of the Council’s budget for 2023/24.
7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
The action plan has been drafted in compliance with The Education and Inspections Act 2006
(Inspection of Local Authorities Regulations 2007) following publication on 18th March 2022
by Ofsted of the report on their inspection into the effectiveness of Blackburn with Darwen
Borough Council’s Children’s Services.
8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
A benchmarking exercise has been undertaken to address areas for improvement.
Staffing levels and entitlement offers for young people have been reviewed. This includes
staffing models and capacity and strengthened management oversight to improve the quality
of practice and effectiveness of the service.

Page 62
EBD: V1/21

Page 3 of 4

9. EQUALITY AND HEALTH IMPLICATIONS
Please select one of the options below. Where appropriate please include the
hyperlink to the EIA.
Option 1
Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) not required – the EIA checklist has been
completed.
Option 2
In determining this matter the Executive Member needs to consider the EIA
associated with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA link here)
Option 3
In determining this matter the Executive Board Members need to consider the
EIA associated with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA attachment)

10. CONSULTATIONS
The Achieving Excellence Board have approved the improvement plan and associated
activity. The membership of this Board comprises of an Independent Chair; Executive
Member for Children, Young People & Education; Chair of the People Overview & Scrutiny
Committee; Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council Chief Executive; Senior Leads across
Children’s Service, Lancashire Constabulary and Clinical Commissioning Groups; Local
Government Association Improvement Advisor and a Workforce representative.
The views and experiences of children and families are central to monitoring the effectiveness
of the action plan, and focus groups are planned to explore key areas. This is in addition to
routine participation activity delivered as part of the Children & Young People Participation
Strategy (2021-2024).
11. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The recommendations are made further to advice from the Monitoring Officer and the Section
151 Officer has confirmed that they do not incur unlawful expenditure. They are also
compliant with equality legislation and an equality analysis and impact assessment has been
considered. The recommendations reflect the core principles of good governance set out in
the Council’s Code of Corporate Governance.
12. DECLARATION OF INTEREST
All Declarations of Interest of any Executive Member consulted and note of any dispensation
granted by the Chief Executive will be recorded in the Summary of Decisions published on the
day following the meeting.
VERSION: 1
Jayne Ivory, Strategic Director of Children’s Services
CONTACT OFFICER: Justine Westwell, Business & Governance Manager, Children’s
Services
DATE: 19th May 2022
BACKGROUND Appendix A – Post ILACS Inspection Action Plan Additional
PAPER: Expenditure

Page 63
EBD: V1/21

Page 4 of 4

Appendix A
Improvement Plan – Additional Expenditure
Costings

Training to PA's re Pathway Planning

Additional
Additional
Expenditure
Expenditure
2023/24
2022/23
onwards

5,000

0

27,000

0

2,000

0

Training from Research In Practice for all frontline staff on Lifestory work

20,000

0

Additional legal capacity for 12 months *

25,200

0

Upgrade of a Service Manager to a Service Leader

10,000

10,000

233,500

306,900

42,200

62,500

5,000

0

450,600

450,600

New Head of Service for Safeguarding & Assurance *

62,300

93,300

Costs of independently chaired improvement board

6,500

0

17,000

0

906,300

923,300

Commission to Liquid Logic to redesign PEP forms on Protocol.

Page 64

Training on new PEP forms

Additional Leaving Care staffing: 1 Team Manager; 4 Personal Advisors; 1
Business Support; 1 Finance Officer *
New IRO post to focus on Care Leavers *
Training for PA's re case recording and Protocol workflow
Revised payments to Care Leavers

Additional audit capacity for 3 months
TOTAL
* Assumption of posts filled from 1st July onwards

Agenda Item 8.5
EXECUTIVE BOARD DECISION
REPORT OF:

Executive Member Growth and Development

LEAD OFFICERS:

Strategic Director Place

DATE:

PORTFOLIO/S
AFFECTED:

Growth and Development

WARD/S AFFECTED:

Little Harwood and Whitebirk

KEY DECISION:

YES

NO

SUBJECT: Compulsory Purchase of unregistered land at Clarendon Road East, Blackburn
BB1 5QA
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
The Council identified a site located between Clarendon Road East to the north and Laburnum Road
to the south as suitable for the provision of new family homes. This site is identified as the ‘Clarendon
Road East site’ and a full options appraisal and land title assessment identified part of the site as
being in unknown ownership (unregistered land). Council officers have undertaken a number of
enquiries to identify any likely owner but no further information as to the ownership has been
ascertained.
Consequently the Council is now seeking approval to acquire the land by compulsory purchase action
under s226 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 of the abandoned land parcel at Clarendon
Road East (Appendix 1), as part of the Council’s priority 2 objective – namely improving housing
quality and building more houses to provide much needed family housing in the Borough.
2. RECOMMENDATIONS
That the Executive Board upon being satisfied that:
a) It would contribute to the economic, social and environmental well-being of the borough;
b) There is a compelling case in the public interest as the interference with Human Rights
involved is proportionate in the interests of land assembly for housing development;
c) Sufficient funds exist for carrying the resolution into effect;
d) No impediments exist to the implementation of the scheme to assemble the land for housing
development (subject to the making of the order) and there is a reasonable prospect of its
implementation, should the order be made;
e) The whole of the legal estates to the affected land could not be acquired by agreement

Page 65
EBD: V1/21

Page 1 of 6

2.1

Authorise the Growth Programme Director, in conjunction with the Deputy Director, Legal &
Governance (Monitoring Officer) to prepare and make a Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO)
under section 226 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and the Acquisition of Land Act
1981, for the purpose of land assembly to carry out housing development on the land.

2.2

Authorise the Growth Programme Director to negotiate terms for the acquisition by agreement
of any outstanding interests in the land within the CPO prior to its confirmation.

2.3

Authorise the Deputy Director, Legal & Governance (Monitoring Officer) (in the event that the
Secretary of State notifies the Council that it has been given the power to confirm the Order) to
confirm the CPO if he is satisfied that it is appropriate to do so.

2.4

Authorise the Growth Programme Director to approve agreements with any identified landowner
setting out the terms of withdrawal of objections to the Order (including the power to defer
implementation post confirmation). In consultation with the Deputy Director, Legal &
Governance (Monitoring Officer) to make deletions from and/or minor amendments and
modifications to the proposed Order and Order plans.

3. BACKGROUND
3.1 The Clarendon Road East site (Appendix 1) is identified as a development opportunity which
involves land assembly of two parcels of land (parcel 1 in Council ownership and parcel 2
unregistered/unknown ownership). Bringing these two land parcels together will provide a site
that is suitable to develop a quality new housing scheme to provide 2, 3 and 4 bed family
housing to meet local demand and aspiration.
3.2 In order to create a holistic and viable development, it is essential that development takes place
on both land parcels. There is a third smaller site adjacent to the two parcels and the owner of
that site has expressed a desire for their site to be part of any future development. The site of
the two combined parcels (1 & 2) will provide an opportunity to create around 60 new family
homes within the Little Harwood ward.
The total development size area is around 1.8 hectares and individual land parcels are:
Parcel 1 - 0.8 hectare land in Council ownership
Parcel 2 - 1.0 hectare land unregistered/unknown ownership
3.3 An Executive Member Decision report titled: Clarendon Road East site – Land assembly to
provide a new housing development opportunity was approved by members in January 2017
Following Executive approval the Council carried out extensive advertising to identify the owner
of the abandoned land via Public notices, Newspaper adverts, Land Registry and historic land
title maps
Further trace actions were undertaken through last known contacts, legal representatives of
historic land sales, residential addresses etc but without success.
3.4 During 2018 the site was listed on the Council’s public ‘Brownfield Land Register’ to bring the
site forward for development and potentially identify the missing owner, however this was also
unsuccessful in identifying any owner. The Council commissioned a number of intrusive site

Page 66
EBD: V1/21

Page 2 of 6

investigations and technical surveys for the site were also undertaken to assess the site’s
suitability for housing development.
3.5 Following on from this assessment the Council, in May 2019, submitted an Outline planning
application for the two parcels for residential development and associated works with all matters
reserved. This application was approved in September 2019 and secured principles of
development, building density and highways access for the site (application no. 10/19/0467).
The project was mothballed due to the coronavirus pandemic which emerged early 2020.
3.6 The attached plan (Appendix 1) shows the proposed CPO site parcel 2 in red, with the Council
owned parcel 1 in blue and parcel 3 in private ownership in green.
Considerable efforts have been made by the Growth & Development team to identify and
contact any likely owner/s. However, all attempts to find the owner/s have been unsuccessful
and Compulsory Purchase action is now considered to be the only course of action to secure
the land for housing development purposes. Given that the land is vacant and there is no
evidence of ‘control’ over the land, there is a possibility that the land has been abandoned by
the owner(s)
3.7 The Council is committed to delivering a significant number of new homes including affordable
homes in the Borough. The Council owned land provides a good opportunity for development,
when considered alongside the unregistered land. In achieving housing development aims, the
Council will work with an approved Registered Provider to ensure that new properties that are
built support the needs of mixed communities and there is good management of those homes
post development.
4. KEY ISSUES & RISKS
4.1 The unregistered land (parcel 2) is integral to development of the site in a comprehensive and
holistic manner. Without inclusion of the unregistered land, it is doubtful that any new housing
development could take place, as the remaining site would be deemed too small and unviable
due to site constraints, land remediation cost, cost of highways infrastructure and potential build
costs.
A satisfactory housing development solely on the Council land parcel or a combination of the
Council and private land parcel 3 is unlikely due to the size, shape and levels of the land
parcels.
4.2 The Town and Country Planning CPO process requires the site to have planning permission for
housing and a willing developer. The Council has already secured outline planning permission
for the site and consulted with a number of Registered Providers and Developers to scope out
development appetite. The Council’s intention is to dispose of the land to enable the required
development to take place. A number of Registered Providers have expressed their interest in
working in partnership with the Council to develop the site.
As such, the Council is proposing to offer the site (parcels 1 & 2) via a competitive informal
tender. The owner of the privately owned parcel 3 will be invited to negotiate directly with the
Council’s preferred bidder.
4.3 The Council will support the costs of the CPO and land value through S106 funding and has
adequate funds in the programme to support the CPO. This funding will be used to support the
provision of affordable homes on the site; any surplus secured through the land sale will be
repaid back to the S106 fund.

Page 67
EBD: V1/21

Page 3 of 6

4.4 Use of the Council’s land and CPO of the adjacent unregistered/abandoned parcel will help
create a development opportunity to provide much needed good quality family homes to the
local area while transforming a rundown site which is currently overgrown and an eyesore which
attracts anti-social behaviour and fly tipping.
4.5 The Council aspires to expand and enhance the range, choice and quality of properties available
in the Little Harwood area by providing a range of housing with a mix of modern 2, 3, 4 bed
family homes as part of a comprehensively designed sustainable development.
4.6 Offering the site through an informal tender process will be in line with the Council’s agreed
Disposal Policy. All bids received will be assessed to ensure that they are consistent with the
Council’s vision and aspiration to create a holistic development for local residents

5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS
5.1 A Compulsory Purchase Order should only be made where there is a compelling case in the
public interest. Members should be sure that the purposes for which it is making a CPO
sufficiently consider the human rights of those with an interest in the land affected. In particular,
to the provisions of Article 1 of the First Protocol to the European Convention on Human Rights
(which provides that every natural or legal person is entitled to peaceful enjoyment of his
possessions) and Article 8 of the European Convention on Human Rights (which provides every
person is entitled to respect for his home and private life).
5.2 Notwithstanding the acknowledged impact that the CPO will have with regard to some aspects of
the Human Rights Act 1998, the benefits identified in this report present a compelling case in the
public interest for making the proposed CPO and compensation will be payable under the
statutory compensation code.
5.3 The making of the proposed CPO is in the public interest because: It will promote the social, environmental and economic well-being of the area and increase
residents’ confidence in the area.
It will create extra accommodation for sale or rent.
It will reduce the negative environmental impacts on the neighbourhood as the vacant land
attracts fly tipping, crime, arson and nuisance.
6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
6.1

No new funding is needed to support the CPO as there is adequate funding available in the
S106 affordable homes contributions budget. Any future land receipt will be repaid to the S106
budget.

6.2 Development of the site alongside the Council owned parcel will yield around 60 new 2, 3 and 4
bed family homes which will bring in future Council Tax income once the scheme is fully built
7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
7.1

Under the provisions of section 226 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, the local
authority may acquire any land in their area if the authority think that the acquisition will facilitate
the carrying out of development, re-development or improvement on or in relation to the land.

Page 68
EBD: V1/21

Page 4 of 6

7.2

The Council also needs to consider the Guidance on Compulsory Purchase Process and the
Crichel Down Rules published by the Ministry of Housing Communities & Local Government.

7.3

Legal challenges to compulsory purchase are always a possibility and can lead to a Public Local
Inquiry, which would incur additional costs for the Council. As there is no known owner of the
site, a CPO of parcel 2 is likely to have no statutory objector. The relevant statutory notices in
accordance with the Acquisition of land Act 1981 will be posted around the site and adverts will
be placed in the local press. This will provide formal notice to any unknown owners.

7.4 The making of a CPO does not prevent negotiations with any person holding an interest in land
affected by the CPO as these negotiations can proceed in parallel with the statutory process.
Indeed, it is advised that where possible, negotiations can continue throughout the process even
up to confirmation of the Order. This will apply if, at any time during the process the Council
becomes aware of any persons or body with a legal interest in the land.

8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
8.1

The Growth & Development team will lead on the project with some resources required from the
Legal Department for the making of the CPO. Further external resources may be required if
the CPO action results in a Public Inquiry.

8.2 Additional support may be required from the Capita Symonds property team to carry out land
valuation.

9. EQUALITY AND HEALTH IMPLICATIONS
Please select one of the options below. Where appropriate please include the hyperlink to the
EIA.
Option 1

Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) not required – the EIA checklist has been completed.

Option 2
In determining this matter the Executive Member needs to consider the EIA associated
with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA link here)
Option 3
In determining this matter the Executive Board Members need to consider the EIA
associated with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA attachment)

10. CONSULTATIONS
Extensive stakeholder consultations have been undertaken during the development of the Borough’s
Local Plan. An outline planning application was submitted for the site which allowed residents to
make comment on development proposals.
Further consultations will be undertaken in line with statutory requirements during the planning
process for the development and the making of the compulsory purchase order.

Page 69
EBD: V1/21

Page 5 of 6

11. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The recommendations are made further to advice from the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151
Officer has confirmed that they do not incur unlawful expenditure. They are also compliant with
equality legislation and an equality analysis and impact assessment has been considered. The
recommendations reflect the core principles of good governance set out in the Council’s Code of
Corporate Governance.
12. DECLARATION OF INTEREST
All Declarations of Interest of any Executive Member consulted and note of any dispensation granted
by the Chief Executive will be recorded in the Summary of Decisions published on the day following
the meeting.

VERSION: 1
CONTACT OFFICER: Subhan Ali
DATE: 5th May 2022
Clarendon Road East site – Land assembly to provide a new housing
BACKGROUND development opportunity (January 2017)
PAPER:
Outline Planning Application 10/19/0467 (September 2019)

Page 70
EBD: V1/21

Page 6 of 6

85

83

71

CLA

45

RE

ST
23

59

EA
OAD
R
N
NDO

24

Well

1
33

Private Owned Land

Council Owned
Land

0.4 ha

13

3

0.8 ha

LILAC
ROAD

2
1

Unregistered Land
No Known Owner

88
90

BA N
CRO
FT A

27

V EN
UE

VE

37

MR
NU
R
U
LAB

D
OA
44

42

64

23
40

17

Page 71

Agenda Item 8.6
EXECUTIVE BOARD DECISION
REPORT OF:

Executive Member for Growth and Development

LEAD OFFICERS:

Strategic Director of Place

DATE:

Friday, 10 June 2022

PORTFOLIO(S) AFFECTED:

Growth and Development

WARD/S AFFECTED:

(All Wards);

KEY DECISION:

Y

SUBJECT:
Blackburn with Darwen Enhanced Bus Partnership
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
The Government published ‘Bus Back Better’, a National Bus Strategy (NBS) which sets out a
bold ambition for what they want to achieve for public transport. Aspirations of the NBS include:
More frequent buses
Faster and reliable
Cheaper
More comprehensive
Easier to understand and use
Greener
Accessible and inclusive by design
Innovative and safe mode of transport
Links to other policies and plans
Support for LTA’s to increase resource to skill up for the future
Two requirements of the strategy are for the Council and its operators and to enter into a statutory
‘Enhanced Partnership’ or Franchising Agreement to continue to receive funding; and deliver the
improvements included within the published Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP). The
appropriate arrangement for Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council is to enter into an ‘Enhanced
Partnership’, we submitted our expression of interest to do so to the Department for Transport
(DfT) in April and Executive Board approved of our intention to enter into an Enhanced Partnership
at the July meeting.
Our Bus Service Improvement Plan was approved by Executive Member for Growth and
Regeneration on 22nd October 2021 and is published on our website. In April 2022 DfT confirmed
that we have been successful in our BSIP bid and allocated £3.8M (£1.2M revenue to support
services and £2.6M for infrastructure improvements to prioritise buses) over 3 years.
In March 2022 DfT recommended that Transport Authorities publish a ‘draft’ EP which we did and
publish the decision once BSIP funding was announced. It is our intention that the EP Plan and
Scheme is published and entered into from 1st June 2022.

Page 72

2. RECOMMENDATIONS
That the Executive Board:
(i)

Approve the Council’s intention to enter into an ‘Enhanced Partnership’ working in
collaboration with all the Borough’s bus operators, in accordance with s138G Transport
Act 2000 without modifications. The Local Transport Authority having complied with
s138F regarding preparation, notice and consultation.

(ii)

That the Enhanced Partnership Plan and Scheme will be responsible for directing
available funding from central government and elsewhere to deliver improvements to
bus services and infrastructure in Blackburn with Darwen to help achieve our ambition,
objectives and targets in our Bus Service Improvement Plan.

(iii)

That mechanisms by which the plan and scheme can be modified, following any
constructive comments, will be managed by through the Enhanced Partnership
governance structure and Blackburn with Darwen procedures.

3. BACKGROUND
‘Bus Back Better’, a National Bus Strategy (NBS) sets out clear objectives and requirements for
Local Transport Authorities(LTA’s) and links requirements to deliver upon these to ensure that
funding is received post April 2022.
The timescales to adhere to this strategy have been and remain very challenging:
18th March 2021 - Strategy published
16 April 2021 – LTA’s required to submit an expression of interest to receive the capacity
building funding of £100K
30th June 2021 - Commit to entering into an Enhanced Partnership (EP), or have
commenced statutory steps towards franchising. Failure to commit to EP or franchising will
mean loss of CBSSG and other future funding streams
31 October 2021 - Publish initial Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) with review periods
1 April 2022 - Enhanced Partnership in place for each LTA area
The ‘Enhanced Partnerships’ will be:
Legally binding agreements between local transport authorities and bus operators and
include what improvements will be made to bus services. The operators will still run the
services
Developed through negotiation
Flexible – can cover anything except structure of commercial bus network and singleoperator fare levels
Monitor and report upon performance
Funding:
Capacity funding of £100K already received following our initial expression of interest
BSIP 2022 – 2025 of £3.8M
LTA’s were required to prepare and publish a Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) by the end of
October 2021. Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council prepared a joint BSIP with Lancashire
County Council which can be found here: http://bwdconnect.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2021/10/Lancashire-with-Blackburn-with-Darwen-BSIP-October-2021.pdf
The BSIP provides the overarching framework for the Enhanced Partnership Plan (EP Plan) and
Enhanced Partnership Scheme (EP Scheme). The EP Plan summarises the main themes of the
BSIP in setting out an analysis of local bus services in Blackburn with Darwen, the objectives for

Page 73

the quality and effectiveness of bus services and how the EP Scheme or Schemes are intended to
achieve these objectives. The EP Scheme describes the facilities, measures and obligations to be
implemented to meet those objectives and how the partnership is constituted and operates.
Both the EP Plan and the EP Scheme have been prepared in consultation with the following bus
operators and Lancashire County Council, under Section 138 of the Transport Act 2000:
- Transdev
- Travel Assist
- Moving People
- Blackburn Private Hire
- Stagecoach
The EP Plan and Scheme will apply during the period of 1st April 2022 to 31st March 2032 and will
be reviewed in April 2027 and set out how we will deliver a multi-million pound investment in the
Borough’s public transport system.
For decision-making purposes, the Enhanced Partnership will be governed by a Management
Board with the mandate to take decisions using an Enhanced Partnership Scheme Variation
mechanism (as set out in Section 3.6.2) on issues put to them by the Forum, and other issues
identified as being relevant to partnership delivery. The EP Forum will provide opportunities for
discussion issues of all kinds affecting the Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council’s bus network,
consulting with the building consensus across the various stakeholders. The Forum will monitor
the achievements of the Partnership against its objectives and monitor delivery against the targets
set out in the EP Plan. Detailed Terms of Reference are provided in Annex D.2.
The Management Board will also be the decision-making body of the Enhanced Partnership. The
scope of the Management Boards decision-making will be on those matters set out in the Bus
Service Improvement Plan and the Enhanced Partnership Plan. Where a decision by Blackburn
with Darwen Borough Council is required, for instance on the implementation of bus priority, the
Management Board will have the power to make recommendations and request that such
recommendations are formally considered by Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council. Certain
decisions of the Management Board may constitute Enhanced Partnership Scheme Variations
pursuant to section 3.6.2 hereof if the requirements therein are met. The Management Board will
be constituted of Operators operating Qualifying Bus Services (excluding services where the
tendering authority takes the revenue risk) and representatives of Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Council.
The Management Board is to be chaired by Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council’s Executive
Member for Growth & Regeneration or his or her selected deputy, or failing this an independent
nominee as proposed, seconded and elected by the voting members of the Management Board
under the arrangements outlined above. In the event of a 50:50 vote the chair will have the
deciding vote.

4. KEY ISSUES & RISKS
If the Council does not engage with the requirements of this strategy then we will not receive
funding from October 2022, when the new funding commences.

5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS
The ‘Enhanced Partnership’ and Bus Service Improvement Plan aligns with the joint Authority
(BwD, LCC and Blackpool) Local Transport Plan and any successor documents.

Page 74

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
Current funding will cease post October 2022.
The Council currently receives circa £60k per annum Bus Services Operators grant (BSOG).
Government expect all enhanced partnerships to be operational on April 2022, and that from this
date only services operated under these statutory agreements will be eligible for the Reformed
Bus Service Operators Grant.
To ensure that the Enhanced Partnerships can be achieved the DfT has committed to providing
capacity funding. To date we have received £100K with DfT confirmed our BSIP allocation of
£3.8M over the next 3 years.
As indicated in the Enhanced Partnership Scheme at Appendix A, any obligations on the Council
in the Enhanced Partnership Scheme, such as the provision of facilities agreed by the Forum, will
be subject to availability of funding and signed off by the Management Board. Equally, where there
are proposals outlined for implementation in the Bus Service Improvement Plan, the Enhanced
Partnership will seek to develop and deliver these, subject to scheme feasibility and the
Partnership being able to identify and secure appropriate levels of funding from the National Bus
Strategy and from other sources.
7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
The ‘Enhanced Partnership’ will require a legal agreement between the Council and all service
providers. This agreement and our notice of the intention to prepare an Enhanced Partnership
Plan will be undertaken in compliance with section 138F of the Transport Act 2000. Large portions
of the appended enhanced partnership plan and scheme is set out in near final contract law
language. For the purposes of approving this report, the plan and scheme has not been
scrutinised to the same extent that the final legal agreement will be scrutinised.

8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
The capacity funding received to date and further funding yet to be received from engaging in this
process will fund our existing staffs and consultants required to manage and review the BSIP in
collaboration with our service providers and LCC

9. EQUALITY AND HEALTH IMPLICATIONS
Please select one of the options below.
Option 1 ☒ Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) not required – the EIA checklist has been
completed.
Option 2 ☐ In determining this matter the Executive Member needs to consider the EIA
associated with this item in advance of making the decision.
Option 3 ☐ In determining this matter the Executive Board Members need to consider the EIA
associated with this item in advance of making the decision.

10. CONSULTATIONS
The Enhanced Partnership Plan and Scheme have been through two statutory consultation
phases, a 28 day bus operator only consultation and a wider 14 consultation including statutory
consultees, as defined by DfT. No objections were raised during either consultation period.

Page 75

The BSIP also includes a Passenger Charter which is tied in to ambitions and targets, creating a
passenger-centric view and public and stakeholder consultation will be required in the further
development of this.

11. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The recommendations are made further to advice from the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151
Officer has confirmed that they do not incur unlawful expenditure. They are also compliant with
equality legislation and an equality analysis and impact assessment has been considered. The
recommendations reflect the core principles of good governance set out in the Council’s Code of
Corporate Governance.

12. DECLARATION OF INTEREST
All Declarations of Interest of any Executive Member consulted and note of any dispensation
granted by the Chief Executive will be recorded in the Summary of Decisions published on the day
following the meeting.
CONTACT OFFICER: Dwayne Lowe, Head of Highways, Transport and Networks,
dwayne.lowe@blackburn.gov.uk
DATE: 15th February 2022
BACKGROUND
PAPER:

Page 76

NATIONAL BUS STRATEGY
TRANSPORT ACT 2000
ENHANCED PARTNERSHIP PLAN AND SCHEME

BLACKBURN WITH DARWEN BOROUGH COUNCIL

Page
77
1

Contents
Chapter

Page

1

INTRODUCTION

1

2

PART 1 - EP PLAN

2

2.1
2.2
2.3
2.4
2.5
2.6
2.7
2.8
2.9
2.10
2.11
2.12
2.13

EP Links to Policy Objectives
The Blackburn with Darwen Bus Network and Bus Market
Bus Service Supply
Bus Service Infrastructure
Bus Fares
Bus Passenger Information
Bus Fleet
Bus Priority Measures
Bus Service Outcomes
Passenger experience and priorities for improvement
Journey time trends
Objectives
Blackburn with Darwen BSIP Proposals

3
3
3
4
4
4
4
4
5
5
6
7
8

3

PART 2 – EP SCHEME

10

3.1
3.2
3.3
3.4

Section 1 – EP Scheme Content
Section 2 - Scope of the EP Scheme and Commencement Date
Section 3 - Obligations on the Authorities
Section 4 - Obligations on Local Bus Operators

10
11
12
13

Annex A – EP Scheme Facilities

18

Annex B – EP Scheme Measures

25

Annex C - EP Scheme Obligations

27

Annex D – Definitions and Terms of Reference

31

Page 78

1

INTRODUCTION
The National Bus Strategy (Bus Back Better), published by Government in March 2020, sets out a
high level of ambition for the improvement and development of bus services in England, to reverse
the historic decline in patronage overall in England, and to provide the means for bus services to
recover from the significant reductions in patronage following the restrictions imposed to control
the Covid-19 pandemic.
Government provided Local Transport Authorities (LTA’s) with a choice of pursuing franchising of bus
services or the Enhanced Partnership process, with a decision required by the end of June 2021.
Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council pursued the Enhanced Partnership process, reflecting the
history of successful partnership working with bus operators.
LTAs were then required to prepare and publish Bus Service Improvement Plans (BSIPs) by the end
of October 2021. These documents are intended to describe the state of bus services and the
market for travel, express ambition for change and develop a comprehensive suite of interventions
to increase the number of passengers on bus services. Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council
prepared a joint BSIP with Lancashire County Council which can be found here:
http://bwdconnect.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/Lancashire-with-Blackburn-with-DarwenBSIP-October-2021.pdf
The BSIP provides the overarching framework for the Enhanced Partnership Plan (EP Plan) and
Enhanced Partnership Scheme (EP Scheme). The EP Plan summarises the main themes of the BSIP in
setting out an analysis of local bus services in Blackburn with Darwen, the objectives for the quality
and effectiveness of bus services and how the EP Scheme or Schemes are intended to achieve these
objectives. The EP Scheme describes the facilities, measures and obligations to be implemented to
meet those objectives and how the partnership is constituted and operates.
Both the EP Plan and the EP Scheme have been prepared by Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Council, in consultation with the following bus operators and Lancashire County Council, under
Section 138 of the Transport Act 2000:
-

Transdev

-

Travel Assist

-

Moving People

-

Blackburn Private Hire

-

Stagecoach

The Blackburn with Darwen Enhanced Partnership Plan and Scheme set out how we will deliver a
multi-million pound investment in the Borough’s public transport system.
1.1

Competition Test
Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council has undertaken an assessment of the impacts of the EP Plan
and Scheme on competition and believes it will not or is unlikely to have a significantly adverse
effect on competition, for the purposes of Part 1 of Schedule 10 of the Transport Act 2000.

Page
79
1

2

PART 1 - EP PLAN
THE BLACKBURN WITH DARWEN BOROUGH COUNCIL ENHANCED PARTNERSHIP PLAN FOR BUSES
IS MADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 138G(1) OF THE TRANSPORT ACT 2000 BY:
BLACKBURN WITH DARWEN BOROUGH COUNCIL
This Enhanced Partnership (EP) covers the entire administrative area of Blackburn with Darwen
Borough Council as illustrated at Figure 2.1.
The EP Plan will apply during the period of 1st April 2022 to 31st March 2032 and will be reviewed in
April 2027 by Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council. In the years that it is reviewed, it will follow
Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council’s review of its Bus Service Improvement Plan in October of
each year, starting in October 2022.
Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council engages in frequent dialogue with neighbouring Local
Transport Authorities (LTAs) to discuss cross-boundary transport issues. This engagement will
continue throughout the EP period to ensure consistency and continuity of bus service provision
across local authority boundaries. This is particularly true of Lancashire County Council and
Transport for Greater Manchester with which Blackburn with Darwen shares a significant number of
cross boundary services.
Figure 2.1 – Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council Administrative Area

Page 80

2.1

EP Links to Policy Objectives
The EP alongside Blackburn with Darwen’s Bus Service Improvement Plan will contribute to the
delivery of transport objectives outlined within an emerging LTP4 covering Lancashire, Blackburn
with Darwen and Blackpool, including but not limited to:
1)
2)
3)
4)
5)
6)
7)
8)
9)
10)

2.2

The Blackburn with Darwen Bus Network and Bus Market
Details of bus services in Blackburn with Darwen have been obtained to understand the current
destinations served, frequencies and operating hours. The main bus operators in the area include:
-

2.3

To reduce the impact of harmful emissions from transport, addressing air quality and climate
change concerns;
To improve local public transport, networks and interchanges;
To improve public transport for better inter-urban and rural connectivity;
To deliver sustainable transport systems that are accessible and inclusive for all;
To transform our streets and places to enable an increase in active travel;
To reduce the need to travel by private car particularly for shorter journeys;
To reduce all road casualties and progress towards zero killed and seriously injured;
To facilitate economic growth and regeneration;
To manage our transport assets efficiently and effectively; and
To improve the efficiency of our local road networks.

Transdev
Travel Assist
Moving People
Blackburn Private Hire
Stagecoach

Bus Service Supply
The Blackburn Bus Company (Transdev) is the main bus operator in Blackburn with Darwen which
has a depot at Intack, Blackburn and provides the majority of services in the borough on a
commercial basis. Services are concentrated on Blackburn town centre as the largest settlement in
the borough.
Services 1, 6 and 7 are the most frequent in Blackburn with Darwen. Route 1 links the boroughs main
towns of Blackburn and Darwen continuing on to Bolton in Greater Manchester. Routes 6/6A and
7/7A operate between Blackburn Bus Station and the towns of Accrington, Great Harwood,
Oswaldtwistle and Rishton in the neighbouring borough of Hyndburn. All three services operate with
buses every 7 minutes during the daytime Monday to Saturday. The 1 service operates with buses
every 15 minutes during the daytime on a Sunday with the 6/6A and 7/7A services offering a Sunday
frequency of every 20 minutes. These services are the only services in the borough that provide a
‘walk-up’ frequency of 5 to 6 buses per hour.
There are several other inter-urban services operating within the borough although these tend to be
less frequent, generally running half hourly or hourly during the daytime. These include service 59
(Preston – Blackburn – Royal Blackburn Hospital) service 22 (Clitheroe – Blackburn – Shadsworth);
service 152 (Preston – Blackburn – Burnley) and service 2 (Blackburn – Abbey Village – Chorley) all
operated by the Blackburn Bus Company.
A number of other local bus services also operate although these tend to be less frequent with
limited service provision during the morning and evening peak periods. These services are run by
operators including Blackburn Private Hire, Travel Assist and Moving People and typically cater for
shopping trips.

Page 81

2.4

Bus Service Infrastructure
Within Blackburn and Darwen there are currently 980 bus stops. The majority of these are located
within the urban areas of Blackburn and Darwen. Throughout the authority almost all settlements
appear to be able to access a bus stop within 400m. All bus stops on the major Pennine Reach
corridors, serving services 1, 6 and 7 have been upgraded as part of the Pennine Reach Scheme. This
includes:
-

Bus shelters upgraded to gold and bronze standards, to the Pennine Reach specification with
114mm polished steel and glazing as standard.

-

Bus stops have been upgraded to full Equality Act level access.

Beyond the Pennine Reach routes, other bus stops and bus shelters within Blackburn with Darwen
are of varying standards with significant scope to improve provision. However, all bus stops have a
standardised method for displaying timetable information using the Blackburn with Darwen Connect
branding.
2.5

Bus Fares
At present there is no multi-operator ticketing scheme available within Blackburn with Darwen or
Lancashire and there are inconsistent fare offers for key groups such as students, young people and
job-seekers.

2.6

Bus Passenger Information
Much information is available on channels which are universally available across the UK: Traveline,
Google Maps, and a variety of open-source websites such as Citymapper.
Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council provides a series of timetable leaflets and a bus network
map on its website, the leaflets being organised around local services in Blackburn, Darwen, Ribble
Valley, Out of Borough and Hospital access.
Real-time information is available at key interchange and hub stops in Blackburn with Darwen. Realtime information is also available on many operators’ own mobile phone apps, allowing tracking of
vehicles along the route.

2.7

Bus Fleet
Around two in five buses operating in Blackburn with Darwen conform to the latest emission
standards for diesel engines (Euro VI). Just under a quarter are Euro III or Euro IV. No buses are
currently zero-emission.
In terms of passenger amenity, around 40% of buses have next stop audio announcements, just over
50% have next stop visual displays, around 55% have on-bus wifi and around a third have USB
chargers.
There is scope to improve both emission standards and passenger amenity on buses in Blackburn
with Darwen.

2.8

Bus Priority Measures
There are approximately 3.3km of bus lanes and several junctions incorporating bus priority within
Blackburn with Darwen. Many of these were delivered as part of the Pennine Reach scheme and
most of the bus priority measures are in operation throughout the day.
To enable the effective operation of bus services within Blackburn with Darwen, a number of bus
priority areas and bus lanes are enforced by an ANPR camera system.

Page 82

Alongside bus lanes, Blackburn with Darwen also features several bus priority measures, particularly
along the Pennine Reach routes where the junctions have been upgraded to incorporate intelligent
systems linking them together with Stratos, SCOOT and MOVA technology.
However, there is significant scope to develop further bus priority measures with priorities on a
‘whole route’ basis to maximise the benefits of journey time reductions and improvements to
service reliability.
2.9

Bus Service Outcomes
According to DfT bus statistics, there are around 23 bus passenger journeys a year for every resident
in Blackburn with Darwen. This bus passenger trip rate has fallen substantially from a high point of
33 in 2009/10 (just after the introduction of the English National Concessionary Travel Scheme. It is
however worth noting that prior to the Covid-19 pandemic the situation in Blackburn with Darwen
was reasonably stable with some operators having reported year on year growth up to 2019.
When comparing bus passenger trip rate against zero household car availability as at the 2011
Census, the projected bus passenger trip in Blackburn with Darwen should be roughly three times
higher at around 70. The reasons for this are likely to include:
-

Rail service upgrades saw increased demand at some rail stations, notably at Blackburn and
Darwen

-

Blackburn with Darwen saw the loss of most of its tendered bus services – although some of
these have been reinstated;

-

Variable levels of traffic congestion exacerbated by planning decisions to locate residential and
employment development in locations which are hard to serve by public transport – for
example by motorway junctions;

-

Abundance of free or cheap parking in town centres, retail parks and employment areas
(although overspill on-street parking is now an issue in most employment areas);

-

The decline in town centre-based retail activity with more activity taking place on-line and in
the major city centres of Manchester and Liverpool and large out of town retail parks such as
the Trafford Centre;

-

Lack of bus services in large employment areas adjacent to motorway junctions; and

-

Anecdotally, high levels of private hire taxi use.

2.10 Passenger experience and priorities for improvement
Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council is part of the National Highways & Transport Network
(NHT) who conduct research into customer satisfaction with the transport network within the local
authority. Overall, the NHT survey highlights that satisfaction with local bus services was 56% in
2019/20, which was an increase of 6% on the previous year. In terms of respondents’ perceptions:
-

81% were satisfied with the provision of bus stops;

-

Although only 54% were satisfied with the state of bus stops;

-

61% were satisfied with the cleanliness of buses;

-

46% were satisfied with bus fares;

-

46% were satisfied with public transport information; and

-

53% believed the frequency of buses met their needs.

The Community Routes Survey was conducted as part of Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council's
Social Integration (Our Community, Our Future) Programme. Blackburn with Darwen was one of 5

Page 83

National Integration areas invited by Ministry for Housing, Communities and local Government to
work closely with them on innovative plans to address social integration. Funding was for a 3-year
programme to build stronger, more integrated communities.
The programme has 4 key priority areas for making the borough stronger. Priority 4 was related to
transport ' To connect the Boroughs disadvantaged communities to shared spaces linking people,
neighbourhoods to zones of employment, physical assets, community shared spaces and social
action'. After conducting a number of workshops with key stakeholders a subsequent travel survey
was conducted by the Council's Social Integration and Transport Teams.
The availability of bus services was the single most common transport problem highlighted. The
frequency and reliability of bus services adds to the respondents’ concerns over availability and
leads many to view bus services as an unviable option for key journeys. Issues over frequency and
timing most commonly centred on the lack of services early in the morning and late evening.
Reliability of bus services was also a key concern. The combination of perceptions of a restricted
availability and reliability issues form a significant theme across the responses, and clearly impact
the extent to which the respondents see bus travel as a realistic and attractive alternative to driving.
This appears to be particularly significant for time-sensitive journeys, such as those to work.
2.11 Journey time trends
Data from the DfT1 has been obtained to develop an insight into journey times via public transport
and private modes. Despite the most recent publication being 2020, the base year data for this
section is from the transport system in 2017.
In Blackburn with Darwen public transport provisions are competitive with private modes,
particularly within the urban and suburban areas, where journey times by public transport are often
equitable or only slightly longer than the alternative. The compact nature of the authority means
there are not as great distances between facilities as seen elsewhere in Lancashire.
The data has highlighted large differences in accessibility of hospitals to the south of Blackburn with
Darwen. This could therefore be an area where connectivity to the Royal Blackburn Hospital could
be improved. It has also highlighted the importance of strong connectivity to Further Education
colleges and the role this plays not only in social mobility, but also retaining bus patronage.
Overall, within Blackburn with Darwen the public transport journey time offering can be competitive
with private modes, however there are significant opportunities and challenges beyond the urban
and suburban areas to improve inclusion and accessibility to key amenities.
The increased journey times and lower levels of reliability caused by congestion can reduce the
desirability of bus services to customers as well as increasing the financial cost of delivering the bus
service. The measures supported by the EP will work to improve journey times and reliability in
Blackburn with Darwen through improvements to bus priority.

1

Journey time statistics: data tables (JTS) - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

Page 84

2.12 Objectives
Objective
Review Service Frequency
“More buses, More Often”
Increase Bus Priority
Measures
“Getting buses moving”
Increase Demand
Responsive Services
Consideration of Bus Rapid
Transport Networks
Integrate Services with
Other Transport Modes
Simplify Services
Review Socially Necessary
Services

Invest in Superbus
Networks

How We Will Achieve This
- Increased frequencies, including evenings and weekends
- New services
- Superbus Network
- 23 bus priority measures identified
- Route reviews
- Mitigate the impact of roadworks
- Develop innovative solutions for locations that are hard to
reach by conventional buses in conjunction with the
commercial and community sectors
- Intensive bus priority enables services with BRT
characteristics
- Urban and interurban Superbus network
- Bus and rail integration
-

Lower fares

-

Simplify ticketing

Invest in accessible and
inclusive bus services
“Buses for all”
Protect Passenger Safety
of Bus Passengers
Improve Buses for Tourists
Invest in decarbonisation
“Cleaner Buses”

-

Consider re-planning routes
Specific service change dates
Evening and weekend service increases
DRT proposals
Identify opportunities to enhance supported services
Provide improved access to employment
Urban Superbus – at least every 10 minutes
Interurban Superbus – at least every 30 minutes between
major towns
Improved frequencies in evenings and at weekends
Underpinned by extensive bus priority, investment in bus
stop infrastructure and passenger information, including realtime.
Minimum Euro VI emission standards
Consistent offers to young people and jobseekers across
Blackburn with Darwen
Travel on Saturday, get Sunday free
Multi-operator ticket means you only pay once for a journey,
even if it’s on buses run by 2 different companies
Simplify fares and fare zone boundaries
Multi-operator ticketing
Tap On Tap Off
Invest in accessible bus stops
Information at bus stops including real time
Audio visual announcements on buses
Improve access to bus stops
CCTV on buses and at bus stop facilities
Passenger Charter
Develop local leisure travel
Marketing in tourist areas
Future Zebra fund bids

Page 85

Objective

Passenger Charter
Strengthen Network
Identity
Improve bus information

Pulling it all together

How We Will Achieve This
- Clean vehicle retro-fit scheme and fund to support Superbus
standards
- Develop a Passenger Charter
- Review bus stop branding
- Develop comprehensive information, with improved web
presence
- Use technology and social media
- Increase bus stop information, including real time
- Coordinated service change dates
- e-ink pilot
- Disruption messaging tool
- Marketing Strategy
- Learning from others
- Transport team development

Delivery of interventions against these objectives will contribute to the four key targets for
outcomes that Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council has identified. These are:
-

To improve bus journey times, with a target of 10% reduction across Lancashire by March
2025;
To improve bus journey time reliability, with90% of non-frequent services being ‘on-time’ and
an excess wait time of 0.8 minutes for frequent services;
To increase passenger numbers, with a return to pre-Covid levels of demand by March 2025
and a 10% increase by March 2030; and
To improve passenger satisfaction, with target percentage point increases in people agreeing
strongly or tending to agree with each statement by March 2025:
o I feel safe when travelling by bus – 5%
o Bus services are reliable – 20%
o Travel by bus is affordable - 20%
o Bus services meet my travel needs – 20%
o It is easy to get information about bus services – 20%

2.13 Blackburn with Darwen BSIP Proposals
The proposals outlined for implementation in the Bus Service Improvement Plan are summarised
below. This Enhanced Partnership will seek to develop and deliver these, subject to scheme
feasibility and the Partnership being able to identify and secure appropriate levels of funding from
the National Bus Strategy and from other sources.
More Frequent Buses – The creation of a ‘Superbus’ network based around existing interurban
services with increased service frequencies, and improvements to early morning, evening and
Sunday services. Interurban ‘Superbus’ Services will operate at least every 30 minutes throughout
the day and evening on Mondays to Saturdays. The standard will be at least every 30 minutes during
the day on Sundays and every 60 minutes on Sunday evenings.
Secondary interurban services that are less direct than the Interurban Superbus service and serve
more rural communities will also be increased in frequency to operate at least every 60 mins
throughout the day every day.

Page 86

Faster Buses – A range of bus priority measures to support the Superbus network shall be
introduced to help reduce bus journey times and improve journey time reliability for bus users.
Proposals range in scale, from double yellow lines to enable buses to exit bus stops more easily, to
lengths of bus lane on the highway.
Improved Facilities – Upgraded bus stops with access kerbs, shelters, timetable information, real
time passenger information and improved pedestrian crossing points all being provided as
appropriate, subject to site constraints and usage levels.
Better Coverage – An improved local bus network increasing accessibility to those areas that are
currently poorly served including employment sites, suburban and rural areas through alternations
to existing services and the introduction of new services where required. We will also engage with
local businesses and communities to develop demand responsive services where these fill real gaps
in the local bus network in partnership with providers in both the commercial and voluntary sectors.
Improved Integration – Improved integration between bus and rail by increasing the range,
frequency and co-ordination of bus services calling at our railway stations and by increasing
accessibility to Blackburn and Darwen bus stations and other key bus stops through improvements
to public realm, walking and cycling connections.
Lower and Simpler Fares – Standardisation of operator’s zone boundaries throughout Lancashire to
enable a coherent multi-operator ticketing system. This will be supported by tap on – tap off
account-based ticketing and capped daily and weekly fares together with a cash purchase option to
be retained in acknowledgement of customer feedback. This will help to make using buses cheaper
and easier for all.
Better Buses – Higher specification buses across the network with clean and comfortable interiors,
audio-visual next stop announcements, Wi-Fi and power points. Buses will also be better for the
environment with new zero emission buses entering service on many routes as we seek to achieve
our climate emergency action plan2 target to be net carbon neutral by 2030.
Marketing & Promotion – In order to encourage people back on to the bus the BSIP will also be
supported by a behaviour change campaign comprising regular events and promotions. Increased
levels of bus use are also anticipated to arise from ambitious plans to invest in Darwen Town Centre
through the £25m Darwen Town Deal which is already allocated, and in Blackburn Town Centre
through a future Levelling Up Fund bid and significant private sector investment.

2

blackburn-with-darwen-borough-council-68d0cbb.pdf (climateemergency.uk)

Page 87

3

PART 2 – EP SCHEME
THE BLACKBURN WITH DARWEN BOROUGH COUNCIL ENHANCED PARTNERSHIP SCHEME FOR
BUSES IS MADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 138G (1) OF THE TRANSPORT ACT 2000 BY:
BLACKBURN WITH DARWEN BOROUGH COUNCIL

3.1

Section 1 – EP Scheme Content
This document fulfils the statutory requirements for an EP Scheme. In accordance with statutory
requirements in section 138 of the Transport Act 2000, the EP Scheme document sets out:
Section 2 – Scope of the EP Scheme and commencement date
Section 3 – Obligations on the Local Authorities
Section 4 – Obligations on Bus Operators
Section 5 – Governance Arrangements
The EP Scheme can only be put in place if an associated EP Plan has been made. Therefore, this
document should be considered alongside the associated EP Plan.
The EP Scheme has been jointly developed by Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council and those
bus operators that provide local bus services in the EP Scheme area. It sets out obligations and
requirements on both Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council and operators of local services in
order to achieve the intended improvements, with the aim of delivering the objectives of the
associated EP Plan.

Page 88

3.2 Section 2 - Scope of the EP Scheme and Commencement Date
3.2.1 Description of Geographical Coverage
The EP Scheme will support the improvement of all local bus services operating in the administrative
area of Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council as shown in Figure 2-1 below.
Figure 2-1 – EP Scheme and EP Plan Area (Both the same)

Lancashire

BLACKBURN

Blackburn with Darwen

DARWEN

3.2.2 Commencement Date
The EP Scheme enters into force at the same time as the EP Plan on 1st April 2022.
The EP Plan will initially run until 2032 and will be reviewed every five years from the
commencement date, however it is intended that it will have no end date.

Page 89

3.2.3 Review and Duration
The EP Scheme has an end date of 31st March 2032. The EP Scheme will be reviewed by Blackburn
with Darwen Borough Council at least annually on the anniversary of the commencement date, and
the Facilities, Measures and Obligations contained within it will be reviewed at least every six
months.
3.2.4 Exempted Services
The following types of local service are exempted from compliance with all of the requirements of
the EP Scheme:
-

Any schools or works registered local bus service not eligible for Bus Service Operators Grant;

-

Any cross-boundary registered local bus service with less than 10% of its registered mileage
within the Enhanced Partnership area;

-

Any services operated under section 22 of the 1985 Act; and

-

Any registered local bus service which is an excursion or tour.

3.3 Section 3 - Obligations on the Authorities
3.3.1 Facilities3
Existing Facilities maintained by Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council are shown at Annex A,
Schedule 1. These consist of bus priority schemes; bus stations and interchanges; bus stops, real
time passenger information boards, public transport information websites and apps.
Any change to the inventory of existing and proposed bus facilities outlined at Annex A, Schedule 1 is
subject to the approval of the Enhanced Partnership Management Board under the voting
mechanism defined at Section 3.5.4.
In addition, any proposal to remove bus facilities or amend the scope of these is subject to there
being no objections received from Operators of Qualifying Bus Services utilising those facilities at the
time the proposal is made (see Section 3.6.2).
Facilities that the Forum have agreed should be made subject to the availability of funding are
shown at Annex A.
New facilities can be added to the list at Annex A using a bespoke variation under the powers at
s.138E of the Transport Act 2000.
All operators running local bus services along any part of the corridor that would be subject to the
new facilities can object to the proposals. Those proposals will only go ahead if no objections are
received.
3.3.2 Measures4
Existing measures provided by Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council are shown at Annex B.1.
Measures that the EP Management Board have agreed should be made and which have received any
consents necessary from Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council for implementation are shown at
Annex B.2.

3
4

Provided under s.138D(1) of the Transport Act 2000
Provided under s.138D(2) of the Transport Act 2000

Page 90

The full list of Measures proposed under the Blackburn with Darwen Bus Service Improvement Plan
not included in either Annex B.1 or B.2 are shown at Annex B.3.
3.4

Section 4 - Obligations on Local Bus Operators5
The existing requirements on Operators in providing Qualifying Bus Services are shown at Annex C.1.
Obligations on Operators that will apply on the making of this Scheme are shown at Annex C.2.
Further obligations that may be agreed by the Management Board from time to time are also shown
at Annex C.2.
The full list of Requirements proposed under Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council’s Bus Service
Improvement Plan not included in Annex C.1 or C.2 are shown at Annex C.3.

3.5

Section 5 – Governance Arrangements
For decision-making purposes, the Enhanced Partnership will be governed by a Management Board.
Management Board (EB) – established by the Enhanced Partnership with the mandate to take
decisions using an Enhanced Partnership Scheme Variation mechanism (as set out in Section 3.6.2)
on issues put to them by the Forum, and other issues identified as being relevant to partnership
delivery.
In addition, a Forum will enable stakeholders in the bus network to monitor delivery and progress
against targets and to provide scrutiny of the activities of the Management Board.

3.5.1 Forum
The EP Forum will provide opportunities for discussion issues of all kinds affecting the Blackburn
with Darwen Borough Council’s bus network, consulting with the building consensus across the
various stakeholders. The Forum will monitor the achievements of the Partnership against its
objectives and monitor delivery against the targets set out in the EP Plan.
Detailed Terms of Reference are provided in Annex D.2
Membership of the Forum will be voluntary and will comprise (with the exception of Blackburn with
Darwen Borough Council) one representative from each of:
-

Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council;
all bus operator;
community transport operators;
train operating companies;
neighbouring LTAs;
Transport Focus, bus user groups and other focus groups (e.g. Age Concern);
hospital trusts;
tertiary education establishments;
Blackburn BID, The Hive; and
Lancashire Enterprise Partnership.

3.5.2 Forum Meeting Arrangements
Forum meetings will take place not less than twice per year. Forum meetings will be arranged,
chaired and minutes taken by Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council. Meeting length will vary

5

Under s.138C of the Transport Act 2000

Page 91

according to agenda content but ordinarily expected to be one to two hours.
Any business for a Forum meeting must be submitted in writing (by post or email) at least 14 days in
advance of the meeting for inclusion on the agenda. Any request for inclusion of items on the
agenda must include an explanation of how they fulfil the objectives set out in the EP Plan.
Agendas and meeting papers (including a copy of minutes and outcomes of decisions taken at the
previous Management Board meeting) will be circulated by Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council
no less than one week in advance of each meeting, and draft minutes circulated no more than two
weeks after each meeting. Draft minutes will be approved at the next Forum meeting.
3.5.3

Management Board
The Management Board will develop proposals for the design and implementation of interventions
in the form of Facilities, Measures and Requirements, drawing on Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Council’s and Lancashire County Council’s Bus Service Improvement Plans and receiving advice and
proposals from the Forum. It will be responsible for prioritising these interventions against available
spend as required. Detailed Terms of Reference are shown at Appendix D.3.
The Management Board will also be the decision-making body of the Enhanced Partnership. The
scope of the Management Boards decision-making will be on those matters set out in the Bus
Service Improvement Plan and the Enhanced Partnership Plan. Where a decision by Blackburn with
Darwen Borough Council is required, for instance on the implementation of bus priority, the
Management Board will have the power to make recommendations and request that such
recommendations are formally considered by Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council.
Certain decisions of the Management Board may constitute Enhanced Partnership Scheme
Variations pursuant to section 3.6.2 hereof if the requirements therein are met.
The Management Board will be constituted of Operators operating Qualifying Bus Services
(excluding services where the tendering authority takes the revenue risk) and representatives of
Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council.

3.5.4 Management Board Meeting Arrangements
Each Operator may send up to two representatives. One non-voting officer from Blackburn with
Darwen Borough Council will represent bus services on which it takes the revenue risk.
The Operators thus represented at any meeting of the Management Board will have 50% of the
available vote. That 50% will be apportioned according to the percentage share of scheduled
mileage operated by each Operator present at the meeting.
The percentage of scheduled mileage operated by each Operator will be that which Blackburn with
Darwen Borough Council publishes at the start of the financial year. In the event that an operator’s
share of scheduled mileage changes by more than 5% during the course of the financial year,
Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council will revise and re-issue its calculation.
Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council officers will have the remaining 50% of the vote. Up to
three Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council officers will attend. The vote will be distributed prorata to those attending.
In addition, Lancashire County Council and any other bus operators will be entitled to send one
representative each but will have no voting powers.

Page 92

Management Board meetings will require a quorum of two Operator representatives and one
Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council representative in addition to the Chair. An Operator
representative may, if necessary, arrange for an alternate or deputy to participate with voting rights.
Management Board meetings will take place not less than twice per year, with provision for
additional meetings as required to take decisions which in the opinion of the Chair cannot be
deferred to a scheduled meeting, provided that a quorum can be achieved, with not less than one
week’s notice being given.
Agendas and meeting papers will be circulated to all Management Board members no less than one
week in advance of each meeting date, and draft minutes circulated no more than two weeks after
each meeting. Copies will also be distributed to all Forum members so any issues or concerns can be
discussed with the relevant management Board representative, who can then request further
agenda items if required prior to the Management Board meeting. Draft minutes will be approved at
the next Management Board meeting.
Any business for a Management Board meeting must be submitted in writing (by post or email) at
least 14 days in advance for inclusion on the agenda. Any request for inclusion of items on the
agenda must include an explanation of how they fulfil the objectives set out in the EP Plan. Such
requests may be submitted by the Forum and by the EB as well as the MB.
The Management Board is to be chaired by Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council’s Executive
Member for Growth & Regeneration or his or her selected deputy, or failing this an independent
nominee as proposed, seconded and elected by the voting members of the Management Board
under the arrangements outlined above. In the event of a 50:50 vote the chair will have the deciding
vote.
Operators will be entitled to make known their concerns in writing to Blackburn with Darwen
Borough Council’s Head of Highways, Transport and Network if they object to a particular vote of the
Management Board. Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council will review the circumstances and
consider whether these are such that use of its veto is required as provided for below.
3.5.5 Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council Veto
These controls ensure that the voting system:
-

Does not allow an individual Operator to influence the Enhanced Partnership to its own
commercial benefit or to harm competitors;
That there is no opportunity for a group of Operators to vote in a co-ordinated manner to
mutual benefit on a sustained basis; or
That there is no discrimination between Operators; and that actual or potential competition,
entry to new services and by new Operators, or innovation, is not inhibited.

Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council may, in exceptional circumstances, exercise a veto over
Management Board decisions which it may reasonably believe or suspect as having anti-competitive
implications or being otherwise significantly against the public interest.
3.5.6 Task and Finish Groups
The Management Board may constitute task and finish groups as it may consider helpful from time
to time to research particular matters of relevance and to develop business cases on behalf of the
Management Board. These task and finish groups may be constituted jointly with other local
transport authorities.

Page 93

3.6

Arrangements for Reviewing, Varying or Revoking the Enhanced Partnership Scheme

3.6.1 Review of EP Scheme
Once the EP Scheme is made, it will be reviewed by the EP Forum every six months following
publication of data on progress towards targets, as required by the BSIP. Blackburn with Darwen
Borough Council will initiate each review. The EP Forum will be required to consider this review and
decide whether any changes to Annexes A, B and C are appropriate in response.
The EP Forum can also decide to review specific elements of the scheme on an ad-hoc basis. EP
Forum members should contact Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council using the following email
address Transport@blackburn.gov.uk explaining what the issue is and its urgency. Blackburn with
Darwen Borough Council will then decide whether to table at the next scheduled meeting or make
arrangements for all or the necessary EP Forum members to gather more quickly.
3.6.2 Changes to the EP Scheme Facilities, Measures and Requirements
Any changes to the facilities, measures or requirements set out in Annexes A, B and C will be
considered bespoke changes to the EP Scheme. Any Operator of qualifying local services or
Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council may bring a proposal or proposals to the EP Forum where it
or they will be considered. As described in Section 3.5.2 above any proposal must be submitted in
time for its inclusion in the EP Forum meeting agenda and must explain how it meets the objectives
of the EP Plan.
The matter shall be considered by the EP Forum. Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council will then
amend the relevant Annex(es) to this EP Scheme if the EP Forum votes in favour by a simple majority
and provided that Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council has not exercised its veto.
If an Operator representative for one or more Operator category at the EP Forum has not been
selected, the votes of that/those categories will be determined using the default Operator objection
mechanism, specified by the Enhanced Partnership Plans and Schemes (Objections) Regulations
2018.
The EP Forum will also consider when any such changes shall come into force, and / or the linking of
the changes (for instance, any Operator Requirements to take effect only once any enabling Local
Authority Facilities or Measures have been implemented, taking account of the lead time for service
registrations should these be required).
As per section 3.3.1 above, any proposal to withdraw or reduce the scope of any bus priority scheme
or named passenger interchange or bus station facility requires the written approval of all Operators
of Qualifying Services using that scheme at the time the proposal is made.
If Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council consider the matter urgent then it may convene a special
meeting of the EP forum, giving at least 14 days’ prior written notice for the meeting to all EP Forum
members to consider the proposed variation.
In the event that a number of Operators which would trigger the default Operator objection
mechanism (as set out in the Enhanced Partnerships and Schemes (Objections) Regulations 2018 as
may be varied from time to time) raise concerns in writing to a minimum of one subsequent EP
Forum meeting about a previous decision, the decision-making process for Enhanced Partnership
Scheme Variations will revert to the default Operator objection mechanism contained in those
regulations to review that decision and as appropriate for future decision-making purposes.

Page 94

3.6.3 Other Changes to the Enhanced Partnership Scheme
Any other proposals (i.e. content other than Facilities, Measures and Requirements as set out in
Annexes A to C) for changes to the EP Scheme will be considered under Section 138L of the
Transport Act 2000. The proposer of a variation should demonstrate how this might contribute to
achieving the objectives set out in the BSIP, EP Plan and Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council’s
current local transport policies. Any such proposals should be in writing and submitted to
Transport@blackburn.gov.uk
Any Operator of Qualifying Local Services or Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council may bring a
proposal or proposals to the EP Forum to consider the proposal or proposals and any accompanying
evidence and vote on the change at its next meeting. Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council will
then follow the process set out in Section 138L of the Transport Act 2000 and The Enhanced
Partnership Plans and Schemes (Objections) Regulations 2018 on behalf of the EP Forum.
3.6.4 Revocation of the EP Scheme
Should Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council or any other member of the EP Forum believe that it
is necessary to revoke the Plan or Scheme, then it must express this in writing to the EP Forum. The
EP Forum will then consider and vote upon the proposal.
Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council will take into consideration the votes of the EP Forum in
making its own decision whether to revoke the EP Plan or Scheme. It will then follow the process set
out at Section 138O of the Transport Act 2000.
3.6.5 Postponement
Should it be necessary to postpone the implementation of any Facility, Measure or Requirement,
Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council will follow the procedure at Section 138I of the Transport
Act 2000. It must first use reasonable endeavours to seek the views of the EP Forum.
3.6.6 Data sharing and commercial confidence
At all times each member of the Forum will respect data confidentiality and maintain and respect
commercial confidentiality as required. Should any member believe there has been a breach of
confidentiality, they should raise this with the Head of Highways, Transport and Network of
Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council.
3.6.7 Enforcement
Should Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council decide that it wishes to take on the Traffic
Commissioner powers, it will follow the procedure to amend the EP Scheme under Section 138L of
the Transport Act 2000.

Page 95

Annex A – EP Scheme Facilities
Schedule 1 - Existing Bus Facilities maintained by Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council.

Bus Lanes
Existing bus lanes to be maintained by Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council
Road Name

Extent of Reserved Lane

Green Street,
Darwen
Bolton Road,
Blackburn

From Arch Street to Police
Street
Between Aqueduct Road and
Calico Street

Saint Pauls
Street,
Blackburn
Bolton Road,
Blackburn
Bolton Road,
Darwen
Bolton Road,
Blackburn
Bolton Road,
Blackburn

From University Close to
Saint Paul’s Ave

Blackburn Road,
Darwen

From Hector Road to Moss
Fold Road

Northbound

Lark Hill,
Blackburn

From Barbara Castle Way for
a distance of 50m

Southbound

Preston Old
Road, Blackburn

From 15m north-east of St
Francis Road to 20m east of
Grant Road
From Bottomgate to 50m
east of Higher Audley Street
Entire length

Eastbound

Copy Nook,
Blackburn
Bottomgate,
Blackburn

From 14m south of Ferguson
Street for a distance of 145m
From Wraith Street to 10m
north of Hardman Way
From 50m north of Tweed
Street for 80m
From the Red Lion
Roundabout for 200m

Direction of
Flow
Northbound
Northbound
and
Southbound
Eastbound
and
Westbound
Northbound
Northbound
Northbound
Eastbound

Westbound
Eastbound
and
Westbound
Westbound

Times of
Operation
At any
time
At any
time
At any
time
At any
time
At any
time
At any
time
At any
time
Mon-Sat
7:00am7:00pm
At any
time
Mon-Sat
7:30am9:00am
At any
time
At any
time

Furthergate,
Blackburn
Burnley Way,
Blackburn
Accrington
Road, Blackburn
Eanam,
Blackburn
Jubilee Street,
Blackburn

From Accrington Road to
Bottomgate
From Gorse Street to
Furthergate
From 25m west of Crosston
Street to Furthergate
From Barbara Castle Way to
Copy Nook
From Bridge Street
westbound for 35m

Penny Street,
Blackburn

From Salford to Starkie Street

Northbound

At any
time

Penny Street,
Blackburn

From Starkie Street to 15m
south of Brown Street

At any
time

Railway Road,
Blackburn

Adjacent to the railway
station forming the
interchange

Northbound
and
Southbound
Northbound
and
Southbound

Westbound
Westbound
Eastbound
Westbound

Page 96

At any
time
At any
time
At any
time
At any
time
At any
time

At any
time

Class of Vehicle Exempt
Local scheduled service
buses
Local scheduled service
buses, cycles and
authorised vehicles
Local scheduled service
buses, cycles and
authorised vehicles
Local scheduled service
buses and cycles
Local scheduled service
buses and cycles
Local scheduled service
buses and cycles
Local scheduled service
buses, hackney carriages,
and cycles
Local scheduled service
buses, hackney carriages,
and cycles
Local scheduled service
buses, hackney carriages,
and cycles
Local scheduled service
buses, hackney carriages,
and cycles
Local scheduled service
buses and cycles
Local scheduled service
buses and cycles
Local scheduled service
buses and cycles
Local scheduled service
buses and cycles
Local scheduled service
buses and cycles
Local scheduled service
buses and cycles
Local scheduled service
buses, hackney carriages,
and cycles
Local scheduled service
buses, hackney carriages,
and cycles
Local scheduled service
buses, hackney carriages,
and cycles
Local scheduled service
buses, hackney carriages,
and cycles

Length
(m)
125m
135m

150m

145m
150m
80m
200m

110m

50m

430m

120m
260m

210m
200m
115m
480m
35m

45m

120m

120m

Bus Priority
Existing bus priority measures at junctions maintained by Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council
Road Name

Description

Direction of Flow

Times of
Operation

Higher Eanam / A678 Copy
Nook

Bus priority measures
with bus detection

Eastbound and
Westbound

24 hours, 7 days a
week

Carl Fogarty Way / A678
Accrington Road

Bus priority measures
with bus detection

Eastbound and
Westbound

24 hours, 7 days a
week

Burnley Road / Carl Fogarty
Way

Bus priority measures
with bus detection

Northbound and
Southbound

24 hours, 7 days a
week

A666 Bolton Road / Branch
Road

Bus priority measures
with bus detection

Northbound and
Southbound

24 hours, 7 days a
week

A666 Bolton Road / Livesey
Branch Road / Kidder Street

Bus priority measures
with bus detection

Northbound and
Southbound

24 hours, 7 days a
week

A666 Larkhill / Barbara Castle
Way

Bus priority measures
with bus detection

Northbound and
Southbound

24 hours, 7 days a
week

A666 Blackburn Road / Hollins
Grove Street / Earnsdale Road

Bus detection only

Northbound and
Southbound

24 hours, 7 days a
week

A666 Blackburn Road /
Earcroft Way

Bus detection only

Northbound and
Southbound

24 hours, 7 days a
week

A666 Alan Shearer Way /
Aqueduct Road / Bolton Road

Bus detection only

Northbound and
Southbound

24 hours, 7 days a
week

Bus Stops
Bus Stations and Interchanges operated and maintained by Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Council
Bus Station / Interchange
Blackburn Bus Station
Blackburn Rail Station
Interchange

Description
14 stand staffed bus station
operating between 5am and 11pm.
5 stand unstaffed bus/rail
interchange facility.

Responsibility
Blackburn with Darwen
Borough Council
Blackburn with Darwen
Borough Council

Darwen Bus Station

5 stand unstaffed bus station.

Royal Blackburn Hospital
Interchange

A small bus station facility
comprising one large shelter
housing two bus stands with
seating.

Blackburn with Darwen
Borough Council
Blackburn with Darwen
Borough Council

Page 97

Bus Stops and Shelters maintained by Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council
All bus stops on the major Pennine Reach corridors (routes 1, 6 & 7) have been upgraded as part of
the Pennine Reach Scheme. Pennine Reach bus stops have been upgraded to full Equality Act level
access.
Other bus stops and bus shelters within Blackburn with Darwen that are not on routes 1, 6 & 7 are of
varying standards with significant scope to improve provision. However, all bus stop timetables, and
information are branded as Blackburn with Darwen CONNECT reinforcing the sustainable transport
offer for the Borough.
A more detailed list of bus stop facilities shall be included following completion of route reviews.
Real Time Passenger Information Screens
The following real time passenger information facilities are currently provided within Blackburn with
Darwen:
- Large departure summary screens and “at-stand” departure screens at Blackburn Bus Station;
- Electronic Advertising screens at Blackburn Railway Station Interchange and Blackburn Bus
Station;
- Journey planning units at Blackburn Bus Station, Blackburn Railway Station Interchange and
Darwen Market;
- Realtime journey screens at Blackburn Market, Blackburn Railway Station Interchange, Barbara
Castle Way Health Centre and One Cathedral Square offices;
- Real-time and journey planning units at Royal Blackburn Hospital and Blackburn College; and
- 27” stretch real-time screens at key bus stops including Darwen Town Centre, Blackburn
Railway Station Interchange, Ewood bus interchange and Blackburn Town Hall.
Realtime information is also provided via the ‘Transdev Go’ mobile phone app.
Hydrogen Refuelling and Electric Charging Infrastructure
There are no existing hydrogen refuelling or electric charging facilities for buses maintained by
Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council or Local Operators.

Page 98

Schedule 2 – Facilities Approved for Implementation by the Management Board

SUBJECT TO MANAGEMENT BOARD APPROVAL.
Schedule 3 – Facilities for consideration subject to funding, feasibility and Management Board and
Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council (where required) approval.

Bus Lanes
New Bus Lanes to be provided by Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council
No. Road
Name
1 A666
Bolton
Road
2

Burnley
Road

3

A666
Larkhill

4

A6077
Haslingden
Road
A677
Preston
New Road
Oakenhurst
Road

5
6

Extent of Reserved
Lane
On the approach to
junction with
Aqueduct Road
On the approach to
the Red Lion
Roundabout
On the approach to
junction with Barbara
Castle Way
On the approach to
Grimshaw Park
On the approach to
Yew Tree Drive
Bus gate between
Stoneyhurst Road
and Montague Street

Direction of Times of
Flow
Operation
Southbound 24 hours
a day, 7
days a
week
Northbound 24/7
Southbound 24/7
Westbound

24/7

Northbound 24/7
&
Southbound
Eastbound
24/7
&
Westbound

Class of Vehicle
Exempt
Local scheduled service
buses, hackney
carriages, and cycles

Length
(m)
TBC

Local scheduled service
buses, hackney
carriages, and cycles
Local scheduled service
buses, hackney
carriages, and cycles
Local scheduled service
buses, hackney
carriages, and cycles
Local scheduled service
buses, hackney
carriages, and cycles
Local scheduled service
buses, hackney
carriages, and cycles

TBC
TBC
TBC
TBC
NA

New Bus Stop Facilities to be provided by Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council
No. Location
7 Superbus Corridor Route 59
8 Superbus Corridor Route 22
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16

Superbus Corridor Route 2
Superbus Corridor Route 152
Superbus Corridor Route
‘New Route’
Local Bus Networks
Blackburn and Darwen Town
Centres
Bus stations, interchanges
and key bus stops.
Bus stations, interchanges
and key bus stops.
Rail Stations

Description
Bus stop upgrades in BwD between Blackburn and Preston
Bus stop upgrades in BwD between Royal Blackburn Hospital and
Preston
Bus stop upgrades in BwD between Blackburn and Chorley
Bus stop upgrades in BwD between Preston, Blackburn and Burnley
Bus stop upgrades in BwD between Blackburn and Burnley
Bus stop upgrades to support local bus network enhancements.
Bus stop improvements within Blackburn and Darwen Town
Centres serving multiple Superbus corridors
Real Time Passenger Information upgrades at key bus stop and
interchange locations across BwD.
Pedestrian crossing improvements close to bus stations,
interchanges and key bus stop locations.
Bus / rail integration improvements close to existing rail stations.

Page 99

New Bus Priority facilities at Junctions maintained by Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council
No. Road Name
17
18

Mincing Lane, Jubilee Street
and Darwen Street
Town’s Moor Gyratory

19

Penny Street

20

Salford

21

Brown Street & Richmond
Terrace
A666 Bolton Road /
Aqueduct Road (see 1)
A666 Bolton Road / Jack
Walker Way South
A666 Bolton Road / Jack
Walker Way South
A666 opposite Hardman
Way
Darwen Circus

22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31

32

33
34
35
36
37
38
39

St Paul’s Street / Montague
Street
King Street / Montague
Street
Preston Old Road / Livesey
Branch Road
A679 Accrington Road /
Audley Range
Whalley New Road /
Whalley Old Road /
Brookhouse Lane
A666 Larkhill / Barbara
Castle Way (see 3)
A6077 Haslingden Road /
Grimshaw Park (see 4)
A677 Preston New Road /
Yew Tree Drive (see 5)
Shadsworth Road / Old Bank
Lane
Lions Drive to School Lane
Link Road
Lower Audley Street /
Bennington Street
Yew Tree Drive / Lammack
Road
Audley Range / Queens Park
Road

Description

Direction of Flow

Times of
Operation

Alterations to existing road layout
increase priority for buses
Alterations to existing road markings to
increase priority for buses
Alterations to increase priority for buses

Northbound and
Southbound
All

24/7

Northbound &
Southbound
Eastbound &
Westbound
Eastbound &
Westbound
Northbound &
Southbound
Northbound &
Southbound
Northbound &
Southbound
Northbound

24/7

Northbound &
Southbound
Southbound

24/7
24/7

All

24/7

General improvements for all traffic and
public realm.
General improvements for all traffic and
public realm.
Bus priority measures with bus
detection
General capacity improvements (Bank
Hey) with Bus detection
General capacity improvement for all
traffic
Alterations to existing segregated Bus
Lane
Alterations to existing road markings to
increase priority for buses
Increase radius on left turn out of St.
Paul’s Street for buses
Upgrade signals to include bus detection

24/7

24/7
24/7
24/7
24/7
24/7
24/7

New (Sappi) link road to reduce
congestion for all traffic
Upgrade signals to include bus detection

All

24/7

All

24/7

New signalised junction to include bus
detection

Northbound &
Southbound

24/7

Changes to existing signalised junction
to include bus detection and possible
bus gate on Larkhill
New signalised junction to include bus
detection
Upgrade signals to include bus detection

Northbound &
Southbound

24/7

Northbound &
Southbound
Northbound &
Southbound
Eastbound and
Westbound
Northbound &
Southbound
All

24/7

Upgrade signals to include bus detection

Eastbound &
Westbound

24/7

Upgrade signals to include bus detection

Eastbound &
Westbound

24/7

General capacity improvement for all
traffic
New link to bypass the Guide junction.
Bus only or all traffic TBC
Upgrade signals to include bus detection

Page 100

24/7
24/7
24/7
24/7

Programmes for Development
Bus Stations and Interchanges - Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council will maintain the list of bus
stations and interchanges described in Annex A. There are no proposals for new bus stations or
interchanges currently included in the EP scheme.
Bus Lanes and Bus Priority Infrastructure- Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council will maintain
existing bus lanes and bus priority infrastructure. The new bus lanes and bus priority infrastructure
described in Annex A, Schedule 2 will be provided by Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council
subject to the finding of route reviews, a bus service review and availability of funding.
Bus Stops - Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council will maintain existing bus stop infrastructure.
Upgrades to existing bus stops and new bus stop infrastructure required to support alterations to
existing bus services or the introduction of new bus services will be provided by Blackburn with
Darwen Borough Council subject to the finding of route reviews, a bus service review and availability
of funding.
For any existing bus stops to be improved or new bus stops to be introduced, consideration shall be
given as to the standard of facilities to be provided based on usage levels and site constraints
including:
-

Appropriate size and siting

-

Lighting

-

CCTV for security

-

Timetable or real time information displays

-

Bench seating

-

Accessibility adjustments both to and at the bus stop

-

Cleaning protocols and standards for bus stops

Real Time Passenger Information Screens - Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council will maintain
existing real time passenger information boards in a fit-for-purpose state and replace screens when
they stop working. Additional new screens across the EP scheme area will be provided and
maintained by Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council subject to the findings of route reviews and
availability of funding.
Public Transport Website Information and Apps - Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council will
update the CONNECT webpage to ensure access to the following:
-

Service timetables for all registered local bus services in Blackburn with Darwen for download
or interrogation;

-

Maps to illustrate main towns, villages and road served, and a network overview map;

-

Journey planning;

-

Fares information;

-

Mobile ticket purchasing functionality;

-

Access to real time information

-

News and events information; and

-

Associated apps and webpages.

Page 101

Hydrogen Refuelling facilities and Charging infrastructure for electric buses - There are no exiting
hydrogen refuelling or charging infrastructure for electric buses provided within Blackburn with
Darwen Borough Council.
As part of the Council’s declaration of a climate emergency Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council
shall seek to commission a zero-emissions bus feasibility study to identify the infrastructure required
to support operators to provide a zero emissions fleet. Subject to funding Blackburn with Darwen
Borough Council will administer funding to support the provision of hydrogen fuelling or electric
charging infrastructure in bus depots, bus stations and other locations as appropriate. This is
planned to be completed by 2025.

Page 102

Annex B – EP Scheme Measures
Schedule 1 – Existing Measures
Bus Lane Enforcement - Bus lane enforcement will continue to be carried out using cameras to be
provided at the following locations. The cameras will be maintained and operated by Blackburn with
Darwen Borough Council as part of the EP Scheme.
Intervention Number
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59

Description
Bus lane enforcement on Green Street, Darwen from
Arch Street to Police Street
Bus lane enforcement on Bolton Road, Blackburn
between Aqueduct Road and Calico Street
Bus lane enforcement on Saint Pauls Street, Blackburn
from University Close to Saint Paul’s Ave
Bus lane enforcement on Bolton Road, Blackburn from
14m south of Ferguson Street for a distance of 145m
Bus lane enforcement on Bolton Road, Darwen from
Wraith Street to 10m north of Hardman Way
Bus lane enforcement on Bolton Road, Blackburn from
50m north of Tweed Street for 80m
Bus lane enforcement on Bolton Road, Blackburn from
the Red Lion Roundabout for 200m
Bus lane enforcement on Blackburn Road, Darwen
from Hector Road to Moss Fold Road
Bus lane enforcement on Lark Hill, Blackburn from
Barbara Castle Way for a distance of 50m
Bus lane enforcement on Preston Old Road, Blackburn
from 15m north-east of St Francis Road to 20m east of
Grant Road
Bus lane enforcement on Copy Nook, Blackburn from
Bottomgate to 50m east of Higher Audley Street
Bus lane enforcement on Bottomgate, Blackburn.
Bus lane enforcement on Furthergate, Blackburn from
Accrington Road to Bottomgate
Bus lane enforcement on Burnley Way, Blackburn from
Gorse Street to Furthergate
Bus lane enforcement on Accrington Road, Blackburn
from 25m west of Crosston Street to Furthergate
Bus lane enforcement on Eanam, Blackburn from
Barbara Castle Way to Copy Nook
Bus lane enforcement on Jubilee Street, Blackburn
from Bridge Street westbound for 35m
Bus lane enforcement on Penny Street, Blackburn from
Salford to Starkie Street
Bus lane enforcement on Penny Street, Blackburn from
Starkie Street to 15m south of Brown Street
Bus lane enforcement on Railway Road, Blackburn
adjacent to the railway station forming the
interchange

Responsibility for Maintaining
Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Council
Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Council
Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Council
Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Council
Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Council
Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Council
Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Council
Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Council
Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Council
Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Council
Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Council
Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Council
Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Council
Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Council
Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Council
Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Council
Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Council
Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Council
Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Council
Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Council

Bus Timetables and Information - Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council and operators shall
continue to work together to ensure that bus service information continues to be available and
disseminated digitally and in hard copy as appropriate.
Branding and Marketing - Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council will continue to deploy and
strengthen the CONNECT standard branding across bus infrastructure within the borough.

Page 103

Schedule 2 – Measures Approved for Implementation by the Management Board

SUBJECT TO MANAGEMENT BOARD APPROVAL.
Schedule 3 – Measures for consideration subject to funding, feasibility and Management Board
and Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council (where required) approval.
Programmes for Development
Route Reviews – Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council will undertake route reviews. These will
identify small-scale measures which will improve bus journey times and reliability. Typical areas
include reviewing waiting and loading restrictions or amending the geometry at bus stops and
identifying locations where greater enforcement of current restrictions is required. This is a
particular focus in business parks where overflow parking and goods vehicles parked on-street make
it difficult for buses to access.
Bus Lane Enforcement - Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council will use the discretionary powers
granted in the Traffic Management Act 2004 to enforce the list of proposed bus lanes included in
Annex A, Schedule 3 for the associated hours of operation with CCTV equipment. A list and
installation programme for new enforcement cameras is subject to route reviews and availability of
funding.
Managing Roadworks - Wherever possible from 1st April 2022 Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Council will give all bus operators a minimum of 14 days notice of planned roadworks where their
services are impacted.
Ticketing – Review the concessionary travel scheme to try and speed up boarding and remove the
need for issuance from 2023 and consider extending the current concessionary travel scheme
beyond the 23:00 Monday to Friday restriction to allow for later night travel to pass holders.
Review of Bus Services – A wholescale review of the commercial and supported networks, including
ticketing and fares and vehicle standards. Consideration should be given to how DRT can be
developed to fill real gaps in the current bus network in partnership with both the commercial and
voluntary sectors.
Website and Applications - Develop the existing BwD CONNECT website to become a single source
of comprehensive information across the county and consider the development of an app to cover
real time information, ticketing, disruption messaging, etc.
Timetables and Real Time Passenger Information – Review the processes for the provision of
roadside information and the infrastructure used to display information to ensure that it is both fit
for purpose and attractive. Pilot the potential for e-ink to provide static and real-time information at
selected bus stops as part of a demonstration project.

Page 104

Annex C - EP Scheme Obligations
Schedule 1 – Existing Obligations

Emission Standards
Operator
Transdev
Travel Assist
Moving People
Blackburn Private Hire
Stagecoach

No. of vehicles in
fleet
70
3

Euro II

Euro III

Euro IV

Euro V

Euro VI

9
0

6
0

0
3

33
0

22
0

Passenger Amenity on Vehicles
Operator
Transdev
Travel Assist
Moving People
Blackburn Private
Hire
Stagecoach

No. of vehicles
in fleet
70
3

Next stop audio Next stop visual Wi-fi
announcements announcements

USB
Chargers

Schedule 2 – Obligations Approved for Implementation by the Management Board
Timetable Change Dates - To agree a set of common network/timetable/registration change dates
per year. Given the number of cross boundary services into Lancashire County Council the aim
would be to align these dates if appropriate. (July 2022)
Operators will limit timetable changes for Qualifying Local Services on the following dates:
To be confirmed following initial Forum and Management Board meetings.
Simpler Ticketing - In advance of funding being made available for the aspects of Simpler Ticketing
referred to in the BSIP, Operators will use reasonable endeavours to collaborate with Blackburn with
Darwen Borough Council and Lancashire County Council to:
-

Make consistent existing ‘own-operator’ ticketing scheme boundaries in order to make the bus
product simpler for passenger;

-

Harmonise fare products (though not the price);

-

Where these don’t currently exist, develop carnet products to better meet the needs of parttime commuters; and

-

Develop a multi-operator ticketing scheme agreement and identify the resource and funding
requirements and any technical challenges.

Page 105

Schedule 3 – Obligations for Consideration subject to funding, feasibility and Management Board
and Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council (where required) approval.

Superbus Proposals - Daytime bus service frequencies to increase and lengthen hours of
operation.
Route Description

Enhancement Description

1 Blackburn-Darwen
Bolton

Two buses an hour in either direction between
6pm and 11.30pm – Monday to Saturday One bus
per hour in either direction between 6pm and
11.30pm Sunday.
Two buses an hour in either direction between
8am and 6pm – Monday to Saturday
One bus per hour between 6pm and 11.30pm –
Monday to Saturday
One bus per hour in either direction between
6pm and 11.30pm Sunday..
One bus an hour in either direction between 6pm
and 11.30pm – Monday to Saturday One bus per
hour in either direction between 6pm and
11.30pm Sunday.
Three buses an hour in either direction between
8am and 6pm – Monday to Saturday
Two buses an hour in either direction between
8am and 6pm – Sunday
One bus per hour in either direction between
6pm and 11.30pm Sunday.
Extend the Hospital Shuttle service to call at
Blackburn and Burnley Bus Stations with two
buses an hour in each direction between 8am
and 11:30pm Monday – Sunday.
One bus an hour in either direction between 6pm
and 11.30pm – Monday to Saturday One bus per
hour in either direction between 6pm and
11.30pm Sunday.

2 Chorley-Blackburn

22 ClitheroeBlackburn-Shadsworth
152 PrestonBlackburn-Burnley

Hospital Shuttle

481 Blackburn-Royal
Blackburn HospitalRawtenstall-Bury

Duration of Service
Enhancement
Subject to availability of
funding.
Subject to availability of
funding.

Subject to availability of
funding.
Subject to availability of
funding.

Subject to availability of
funding.
Subject to availability of
funding.

Bus Service Enhancements - Bus service operators shall work jointly with Blackburn with Darwen
Borough Council to review the current local bus network to identify service alterations and new
services including Demand Responsive Services where appropriate to improve the bus service offer
in the EP area. Review where it is possible that routes cover too much ground, and where splitting or
merging services might make the passenger proposition simpler and more direct.
Fares and Ticketing - Bus service operators shall work jointly with Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Council and Lancashire County Council towards the delivery of a contactless multi-operator ticketing
scheme with a price cap.
The following ticket types must be offered and accepted by all local bus services in the EP Scheme
Area. Services offering no more than two journeys in each direction per day will not be required to
participate in the multi-operator ticketing scheme. The overall schemes for these tickets will be
managed by Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council.

Page 106

The following ticket types must be offered:
- Daily
- 7 Day
- 28 Day
- 3 Day Carnet
- 5 Day Carnet
- 10 Day Carnet
Notwithstanding the above, operators will offer:
- A standardised half-fare ticket offer for under 19s, building on the commercial discounts offered
by some operators to young people aged 16-19s;
-

A standardised half-fare ticket offer for job seekers. This is intended to be provided to those
unemployed claiming Jobseekers Allowance for 3-9 months (18-24 year olds) or 3-12 months
(over 25s). Other benefit recipients may receive a Jobcentre Plus Travel Discount Card from 3
months of their claim and if they are actively engaged with a Jobcentre Plus adviser;

-

A standardised half-fare ticket offer for recipients of Universal Credit, on the same terms as for
job seekers;

-

A standardised unlimited travel ticket in the evenings;

-

‘Buy one get one free’ – applying to free travel being offered on Sundays when the user has
purchased a ticket on the preceding Saturday; and

-

The proposed multi-operator ticket.

Operators will standardise fare zone boundaries to reduce the current complexities.
Improve Bus Information - Operators will be required to share more information on each others
services on websites and apps.
Higher Specification Buses - All new vehicles registered on or after the EP Scheme commencement
date to be used for local bus services within the Blackburn with Darwen EP area must meet the
following standards:
-

-

CCTV installed for safety and security. This will provide images inside the vehicle for safety and
security and also facing forwards from the vehicle to help identify traffic issues.
Free Wi-Fi.
Automatic Vehicle Location equipment installed that will feed into Blackburn with Darwen
Borough Council’s real time information system.
Temperature control for customer comfort.
USB charging available, including at every wheelchair space and priority seats.
Audio visual announcements:
o Next stop audio announcements on both decks, including through an induction hearing
loop at every wheelchair space and priority seats.
o Next stop visual announcements on both decks.
o Take all reasonable steps to alert passengers on both decks to route diversions through
audio announcements on the vehicle.
o Take all reasonable steps to alert passengers on both decks to route diversions through
visual displays on the vehicle.
A display showing onward connection details by bus or train where applicable, from open data
sources.
Option to pay for tickets through contactless ticketing.
Livery.

Page 107

Limiting frequency - Individual corridors will be subject to a frequency limitation as detailed below.
Corridor description
To be confirmed at EP Forum

Description of frequency restriction
To be confirmed at EP Forum

Even Headway - Co-ordinate service headways between services and sometimes other operators to
achieve increased frequencies
Corridor Description
To be confirmed at EP Forum

Hours of operation
To be confirmed at EP Forum

Co-ordination with light or heavy rail services - Local bus services stopping at the bus stops listed
below must co-ordinate their timetables with stopping arrangements for the rail service also listed.
Bus Stop location
Cecilia Road Stop ID bladtpd and bladtpg
Bus Service 152 ‘Hotline’
New Chapel Street Stop ID blagwgw and blagwja
Bus Service 4
Whalley New Road Stop ID blajmwm and blajmwg
Bus Service 22 and 45
Atlas Road, Darwen Stop ID blagatw and blagawa
Bus Service 981, TA3A, TA05, TA08

Associated rail service
Northern rail service from Preston to Colne.
Northern rail service from Preston to Colne.
Northern rail service from Manchester to
Clitheroe
Northern rail service from Manchester to
Clitheroe

Co-ordination between local bus services or between local buses and other types of road transport
such as Demand Responsive Transport (DRT) - The bus services listed below must work with other
bus operators and DRT providers as appropriate to co-ordinate their timetables so that passengers
may make a through journey that minimises the interchange delay.
Service 1
To be confirmed at EP Forum

Service 2
To be confirmed at EP Forum

Service 3
To be confirmed at EP Forum

Customer Information and Marketing
Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council will work with Operators and Lancashire County Council to
develop marketing initiatives and joint promotions.
Bus Passenger Charter
To jointly develop and implement a Bus Passenger Charter (July 2022)

Page 108

Annex D – Definitions and Terms of Reference
In this Enhanced Partnership Plan and any Schemes made pursuant to it, the following
capitalised terms shall have the meanings ascribed to them below:
Schedule 1. – EP Scheme Definitions
Automatic Vehicle Location (AVL) – means for automatically determining and transmitting the
geographic location of a vehicle, allowing it to be tracked in real time.
Bus Gate – short stretch of road carriageway that is restricted to use by buses and (where specified)
taxis and other authorised vehicles as indicated on appropriate signage on the approach.
Bus Lane – signposted lane, designated for use by registered local bus services and (where specified)
taxis and other authorised vehicles, at the times also indicated by signage.
Bus Lane Enforcement – action taken to ensure that bus lanes and bus gates are used only by
authorised vehicles. This is often carried out by using cameras to record unauthorised use, with the
issue of civil penalties to offenders under section 144 of the Transport Act 2000.
Bus Operators (or Operators) - All Operators running Qualifying Bus Services taken collectively.
Bus Stand – bus stop clearway as defined in accordance with paragraph 1(a) of Part 1 to Schedule 19
of The Traffic Signs Regulations and General Directions 2002 but which will permit a local bus to
stand within the clearway for as long as maybe necessary up to a maximum period of 10 minutes.
CCTV – closed circuit television system, whereby static or mobile cameras are used to record
offences or for surveillance and safety and security purposes.
CVRAS – Clean Vehicle Retrofit Accreditation Scheme (CVRAS) and is a certification scheme for
manufacturers of retrofit emissions reduction technology that will enable Clean Air Zone (CAZ)
compliance of legacy fleet vehicles to address the air pollution emissions from buses.
Designated Feeder Service – bus service specifically designed by the operator and accepted by
[Name of Authority] as one that connects with another service allowing passengers to interchange at
designated bus stops or bus stands
Enforcement Camera – roadside camera that records and produces suitable evidence of
unauthorised use of bus lanes or bus gates for the Local Highway Authority to issue civil penalties
under section 144 of the Transport Act 2000.
Enhanced Partnership - The Enhanced Partnership covering the geographic extent of the
administrative boundary of the county of Lancashire shown for identification purposes only on the
plan at Figure 1.
Enhanced Partnership Scheme Variation - This comprises either:
(a) A variation of the relevant Enhanced PartnershipScheme as a result of the voting
mechanism set out in section XX with respect to Facilities, Measures or Obligations.
or
(b) A variation of the EP Plan or Scheme agreed as a result of the voting mechanism set out in
Section 3.5.4.
Each of which will then constitute a formal variation of the relevant scheme for the purposes of
s.138E(1) of the 2000 Act.

Page 109

EP Scheme Area – area to which this EP Scheme document applies.
Euro VI equivalent standards – Euro VI diesel bus or a bus with CVRAS approved technologies
retrofitted to a diesel bus to reduce NOx and PM emissions and achieve Euro VI equivalent standards
Facilities – physical assets that are provided at specific locations along particular routes (or parts of
routes) within the EP scheme area or new and improved bus priority measures. This is deemed for
such purposes of section 138D(1) of the Transport Act 2000.
Forum (or EP Forum) - The committee of all Blackburn with Darwen Bus Operator, Blackburn with
Darwen Borough Council and other key stakeholders responsible for considering all issues affecting
the Enhanced Partnership, and making recommendations to the EP Management Board in line with
the Enhanced Partnership governance arrangements.
Local Authorities – prescribed under section 23 of the Local Government Act 2003.
Local Highway Authorities – Local Authority with responsibility for the maintenance of highway
infrastructure in its local authority area. In the case of this EP Scheme, this means Blackburn with
Darwen Borough Council.
Local Transport Authority (LTA) – Local Transport Authorities are upper tier local authorities, usually
combined authorities and county councils, but can be also unitary authorities. In the case of this EP
Scheme, this means Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council.
Management Board (or EP Board) - The committee of selected Blackburn with Darwen Bus Operator
representatives, Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council representatives and other stakeholder
representatives responsible for considering recommendations put forward by the Forum and making
decisions including specific Enhanced Partnership Scheme Variations.
Measures - Those measures referred to in Part B, sections 8 and/or 9 which shall be deemed as such
for the purposes of s.138D(2) of the 2000 Act. Measures include improvements with the aim of:
-

Increasing the use of local bus service serving the routes to which the measures relate or ending
or reducing a decline in their use; or

-

Improving the quality of local bus service.

Multi-Operator Ticketing – common fares and ticketing product applied and accepted by multiple
operators.
Non-qualifying Bus Service - Services excluded from classification as Qualifying Bus Services.
Obligations - Those requirements placed upon Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council and Bus
Operators identified as such within Sections 3.3 and 3.4 which shall be deemed as such for the
purposes of s.138C 2017 Act.
Operator Objection Mechanism - As defined at The Enhanced Partnership Plans and Schemes
(Objections) Regulations 2018
Qualifying Bus Service - A registered local bus service with one or more stopping place within the
geographical area of the Enhanced Partnership, with the exception of:
- Any schools or works registered local bus service not eligiblefor Bus Service Operators
Grant
- Any cross-boundary registered local bus service with less than10% of its registered mileage
within the Enhanced Partnershiparea

Page 110

- Any services operated under section 22 of the 1985 Act
- Any registered local bus service which is an excursion or tour
For the avoidance of doubt, a list of Qualifying Bus Services will be published at the start of each
Council financial year.
In addition, any tendered service on which the tendering authority takes the revenue risk will not be
subject to the Operator Objection mechanism, consistent with The Enhanced Partnership Plans and
Schemes (Objections) Regulations 2018
Real Time Information – using technology to track the location of buses in real time. Information is
transmitted to bus stops or devices to indicate to passengers the predicted arrival time at a
particular point.
Registered Local Bus Service – as set out in Section 2 of the Transport Act 1985.
Traffic Commissioner Powers - ‘Relevant registration functions’ of Traffic Commissioners to the
extent that they relate to a ‘relevant service’ both within the meanings given to them under section
6G(10) of the 1985 Act.
TRO – Traffic Regulation Order, made under the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 or any other
enactment regulating the use of roads or other places.
Blackburn with Darwen Enhanced Partnership Plan – document made pursuant to section 138A of
the Transport Act 2000 and which is required to be in place for an EP Scheme to be made.
Zero Emission Vehicle – vehicle that emits no pollutants at its tailpipe.

Page 111

Terms of Reference
Schedule 2 - Terms of Reference EP Forum
The EP Forum will:
-

-

Consider the available evidence from Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council’s monitoring
against the BSIP targets of patronage, journey time, reliability and passenger satisfaction;
Consider how the EP Management Board’s identification, development and delivery of
Facilities, Measures and Requirements can assist in delivering outcomes against those targets
and how these Facilities, Measures and Requirements meet the objectives of the EP;
Receive meeting minutes from the EP Management Board;
Request agenda items for EP Management Board meetings;
Liaise with the EP Management Board on the forward work programme.

Schedule 3 – Terms of Reference EP Management Board
The EP Management Board will:
-

-

-

-

-

Develop and continuously review a process to prioritise available funding to potential
Facilities, Measures and Requirements;
Develop investigations, feasibility studies and costed business cases for the development and
implementation of Facilities, Measures and Requirements for consideration and approval;
Establish task and finish groups and invite the views and participation of wider stakeholders as
required to assist in the development of these investigations, feasibility studies and business
cases;
Liaise with equivalent governance bodies in neighbouring Enhanced Partnerships, on matters
both of policy and direction and on specific cross-boundary issues; and
Liaise with the EP Forum on the forward work programme.
Review proposals brought to it by the EP Forum in respect of Facilities, Measures and
Requirements, and any accompanying evidence;
Satisfy itself that any such proposals are sufficiently and appropriately evidenced;
Vote on whether to proceed with such a change, and request that Blackburn with Darwen
Borough Council apply its normal statutory powers as required to deliver any such change,
and request Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council to amend the EP Scheme as appropriate;
Review proposals brought to it by the EP Forum for changes to the EP Plan and Scheme, and if
content initiate the required process to make such changes;
Direct Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council to monitor outcomes against the stated
targets and use this evidence to develop its policy in considering proposals brought to it by the
Management Board;
Liaise with Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council regarding potential bids to external bodies
for funding and ensure as far as possible that such bids reflect the priorities of the EP;
Liaise as required with the EP Forum in considering scheme proposals and in providing
direction as required from time to time on the content of the proposals and supporting
evidence bases required;
Liaise with the EP Forum on the forward work programme.

Page 112

Schedule 4 - Terms of Reference Task and Finish Groups
A Task and Finish Group constituted by the Management Board will:
-

Have its membership determined by the voting members of the EP Management Board;
Be constituted from time to time by the EP Management Board as required with a specific
brief and timescale to report back as appropriate; and
Deliver a written response to the brief for the consideration of the EP Forum and
Management Board providing progress reports in advance of Forum/Management Board
meetings or as appropriate.
END OF DOCUMENT

Page 113

Agenda Item 8.7
EXECUTIVE BOARD DECISION
REPORT OF:

Vicky McGurk, Executive Member for Finance
and Governance

LEAD OFFICERS:

Dean Langton, Director of Finance

DATE:

19th May 2022

PORTFOLIO/S
AFFECTED:
WARD/S AFFECTED:

(All Wards);

KEY DECISION:

YES

NO

SUBJECT: Business Rates COVID 19 Additional Relief Fund (CARF) Policy (amended)
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
The budget in October 2021 announced a new Covid 19 Additional Relief Fund (CARF) of £1.5 billion.
The fund is intended to be available to support businesses adversely affected by the pandemic that
are ineligible for the existing support linked to Business Rates, i.e., Small Business Rates Relief,
Expand Retail Discount and Nursery Discount.
On 15th December 2021 the Government issued guidance to local authorities detailing how the
scheme should operate and how much each authority has been allocated. Blackburn with Darwen
BC’s allocation totals £3,678,533.
The relief was launched in February and potentially eligible businesses were contacted and invited to
apply online. Due to the low number of applications, an amendment to the policy is now proposed.
2. RECOMMENDATIONS
That the Executive Board:
approves the amended COVID 19 Additional Relief Fund (CARF) policy for 2021/22;
3. BACKGROUND
In March 2021 the government provided initial details on the additional support that would be put in
place for businesses affected by the pandemic. Further details were outlined in the budget on the 27th
October 2021 which established the Covid-19 Additional Relief Fund (CARF) for businesses who
have had little support during the pandemic but been adversely affected.
In January 2022, following extensive discussions, a policy was agreed whereby eligible businesses
would be invited to apply for the relief via an on line application process. Despite extensive
communication and marketing of the scheme, only 101 applications were received before the closing
date on 31st March 2022.

Page 114
EBD: V1/21

Page 1 of 3

To ensure the full allocation of £3,678,533 is used to support businesses in the borough, an
amendment to the scheme is now proposed.
The amended relief policy is attached as Appendix A.
4. KEY ISSUES & RISKS
4.1 Covid-19 Additional Relief Fund (CARF)
Whilst individual councils are responsible for designing their own local scheme, the broad guidance
issued by the Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities must be followed. This includes:
Not to award the CARF relief if the ratepayer is, or would, be eligible for the Extended Retail
Discount, or Nursery Discount.
Not to award relief to a property for a period when it is unoccupied (other than if the property
was closed temporarily due to covid restrictions).
Support should be directed towards ratepayers who have been adversely affected by the
pandemic and have been unable to adequately adapt to that impact.
The initial approach of inviting businesses to apply only produced low numbers of applications. To
ensure the full funding allocation is dispersed to businesses, it is now proposed that the Business
Rates team review the details of all potentially eligible businesses and make a direct award to
accounts. The amount of relief will be the percentage relief that can be awarded for the 2021/22
liability.
It is proposed that an initial award totalling 90% of the fund is awarded to eligible businesses. The
remaining 10% can be held back to ensure unidentified businesses and variations in rateable value
are accommodated. Any remaining monies left in the fund will be allocated across all eligible
businesses later in the year as the fund is brought to an end.
5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS
The proposed changes to the CARF Discretionary Policy are detailed in full in Appendix A.
6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
Covid 19 Additional Relief will be administered in accordance with the available funding. The
government have allocated the council a total of £3,678,533 for this relief.
This relief will be cash limited and once allocated no further applications will be considered.
The government has also announced that additional burdens monies will be made available to
councils for the costs associated with this work.
7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
The schemes will be administered through the Council’s discretionary relief powers under Section 47
of the Local Government Act 1988 (as amended).
The policies provide transparency and show the criteria that the Council will apply when making their
decisions as to whether or not to grant the relief. The Council must, however, consider applications
which may fall outside the policies and should not be fettered in its decision making by the terms of the
policy. The council is, however, bound by the guidance set out by the Government as to when reliefs
can be made.

Page 115

EBD: V1/21

Page 2 of 3

8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
Any additional work required from the changes listed in the policy documents will be undertaken
within existing resources.

9. EQUALITY AND HEALTH IMPLICATIONS
Please select one of the options below. Where appropriate please include the hyperlink to the
EIA.
Option 1

Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) not required – the EIA checklist has been completed.

Option 2
In determining this matter the Executive Member needs to consider the EIA associated
with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA link here)
Option 3
In determining this matter the Executive Board Members need to consider the EIA
associated with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA attachment)

10. CONSULTATIONS
None.

11. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The recommendations are made further to advice from the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151
Officer has confirmed that they do not incur unlawful expenditure. They are also compliant with
equality legislation and an equality analysis and impact assessment has been considered. The
recommendations reflect the core principles of good governance set out in the Council’s Code of
Corporate Governance.
12. DECLARATION OF INTEREST
All Declarations of Interest of any Executive Member consulted and note of any dispensation granted
by the Chief Executive will be recorded in the Summary of Decisions published on the day following
the meeting.

VERSION: 1
CONTACT OFFICER: Andy Ormerod
DATE: 19th May 2022
BACKGROUND Appendix A – Covid-19 Additional Relief Fund (CARF) amended
PAPER:

Page 116
EBD: V1/21

Page 3 of 3

Appendix A

Business Rates – Covid-19
Additional Relief Fund (CARF)
policy (amended)

1

Page 117

Contents
1.

COVID 19 Additional Relief Fund (CARF)

Page 3-4

1.1 Background

Page 3

1.2 Qualifying properties

Page 3

1.3 Non-qualifying properties

Page 3

1.4 Identification of qualifying businesses

Page 3

1.5 Amount of relief awarded and period

Page 3-4

1.6 Subsidy control

Page 4

1.7 Appeals

Page 4

2

Page 118

1.

COVID-19 Additional Relief Fund (CARF)

1.1

Background
Due to the low number of initial COVID-19 Additional Relief Fund (CARF)
applications, the policy has now been amended to allow a new approach that has
been taken to identify and award relief to qualifying businesses.
The policy still follows the Government guidance that was issued on the 14th
December 2021 and seeks to target support for businesses who have until now
been unable to benefit from the previous retail discount.
This relief is awarded under Section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988.
All awards made by the council will be met from the government funding allocation
of £3,678,533.

1.2

Qualifying properties
To qualify for the relief:
the ratepayer must not be eligible for Extended Retail Discount, or Nursery
Discount;
the property must not have been unoccupied (other than if the property
was closed temporarily due to covid restrictions), and;
The ratepayer needs to be able to demonstrate that the business has been
adversely affected by the pandemic.

1.3

Non-qualifying properties
In line with the legal restrictions in section 47(8A) of the Local Government Finance
Act 1988, Billing Authorities may not grant the relief to themselves.

1.4

Identification of qualifying businesses
During March and April the Business Rates team has allowed businesses to apply
for CARF. Due to the low number of applications, the Business Rates team has now
taken a proactive approach to review businesses and increase the number of
qualifying businesses for the relief.
All businesses have been reviewed to ensure that they are from an appropriate
sector that has been adversely affected by the pandemic. Where there has been
any doubt of pandemic impact, the council has requested evidence from
businesses to substantiate their claim.
Once the relief has been awarded, all businesses will be served with a revised bill
and details of the relief.

1.5

Amount of relief awarded and period
Once all eligible properties/businesses are identified and the application period has
closed, the allocation of relief per account will be calculated.
The allocation will be a percentage of the Business Rate liability for 2021/22 after
other discretionary and mandatory reliefs have been granted. The calculation will
ensure the full amount of £3,678,533 funding is allocated to businesses of the
borough.
3

Page 119

Any retrospective change in circumstance to recipient accounts and the amount of
business rates owed will result in the recalculation of the amount of relief offered.
The relief funding is a finite amount and once the fund has been fully allocated no
further awards can be made. As such, any new occupier of a property who has
failed to inform the council of occupancy, may receive no relief.
Following the allocation of the relief, any credit will be carried forward to offset the
liability for 2022/23.
1.6

Subsidy Control
Providing discretionary relief to ratepayers as outlined in this policy is likely to
amount to a subsidy. As such, any relief provided by Local Authorities under the
CARF Scheme will need to comply with the UK’s domestic and international subsidy
control obligations
To ensure that the council acts appropriately in this regard, the Business Rates
team will request ratepayers as part of the application to declare that all aspects
of the subsidy regime are complied with.

1.7

Appeals
Any appeal against a decision made under the ‘Covid-19 Additional Relief Fund’
policy must be made in writing and reach the Council within 28 days of an
organisation receiving notification of a decision.
The Council will acknowledge the appeal within 5 working days of receipt.
The Director of Finance will consider the appeal.
The applicant will be informed of the final decision as soon as practicable
thereafter.

4

Page 120

Agenda Item 8.8
REPORT OF:

Executive Member for Finance and
Governance

LEAD OFFICER: Director of Finance
DATE:

9th June 2022

PORTFOLIOS AFFECTED: All
WARDS AFFECTED:

All

KEY DECISION:

Y

TITLE OF REPORT: Development of the General Fund Revenue Budget 2023/24
1.

PURPOSE

1.1

The purpose of this report is to provide the Executive Board with an update on the Council’s
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 2023/26 as the start of the process for developing the
Council’s Budget for 2023/24.

2.

RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1

It is recommended that Executive Board:a) agree to write to the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC)
seeking an increase in the Council’s funding settlement for 2022/23 to reflect the
significant increase in inflation;
b) note the key risks to the delivery of the budget in 2022/23 and that these will be subject
to consideration as part of the regular Budget Monitoring reports submitted to the
Executive Board;
c) note the uncertainty with the funding outlook for the Council, not least the limited progress
on Local Government Finance reforms and the possibility that these may not take place
before the next General Election in 2024;
d) note the update to the Medium Term Financial Plan for 2023/26 as shown at Appendix
A and that a further update will be provided in October 2022;
e) note the scenario analysis shown at Appendix C and D which models ‘worst’/’best’ case
scenarios around the baseline MTFP as part of the assessment of potential risks facing
the Council;
f) note the potentially significant financial impact of the review of the pay structure (should
it be considered necessary), the financial impact of the Social Care reforms and
Academisation of Schools and that an update on these matters be provided in future
reports on the MTFP;

Page 121

g) in accordance with the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules, request
that Portfolio Holders develop draft proposals to meet the funding gap set out in the report
for the period to 2025/26 and that any such proposals are considered by the Executive
Board in due course;
h) note the timetable set out in the report for the development of the Council’s Budget for
2023/24.
3.

BACKGROUND

3.1

At the meeting of the Finance Council on 28th February 2022, the Council approved the
Financial Strategy 2022/26. As part of the Financial Strategy, an update was provided on the
Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP). Acknowledging that the Council is operating
in a dynamic environment and that the assumptions underpinning the MTFP are subject to
change, it is good practice to review and update the MTFP on a regular basis.

3.2

To that end, work has been undertaken to update the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan
(MTFP) 2023/26 to ensure that the Council has a good understanding of its forward financial
forecasts and is able to start planning for the development of the budget in 2023/24.

4.

RATIONALE

4.1

The development of the budget is a key element of the Council’s financial governance
processes. Starting this work early in the current financial year should allow adequate time
to develop a range of options for Councillors to consider when setting the budget for 2023/24.

4.2

It is also worthwhile noting that, as part of the new approach to the assessment of the
Council’s Value for Money arrangements, the Council’s External Auditors assess what
arrangements the Council has in place to deliver a balanced budget including the adequacy
of savings schemes, extent to which there is consultation with stakeholders etc. It is
important, therefore, for the Council to have developed a robust and deliverable set of
options for achieving a balanced and sustainable budget over the medium term to avoid any
adverse commentary in the Auditor’s report on Value for Money that may lead to more
directive action.

5.

KEY ISSUES
Funding Outlook

5.1

Any consideration of the Council’s Financial Strategy and Medium Term Financial Plan must
be undertaken in the context of the funding outlook for Local Government and what that
means for the Council.
Spring Statement 2022

5.2

The Spring Statement 2022 provided no new funding announcements of substance for Local
Government (or other Government Departments for that matter). This is despite the general
rate of inflation increasing to c7% thereby reducing in reals terms the funding settlements
announced at the Autumn Budget 2021 (which also set out the results of the Comprehensive
Spending Review) which are set in cash terms. There has been no indication from the
Government that these ‘real’ terms reductions in funding will be made up with additional
allocations.

Page 122

Local Government Finance Reforms
5.3

Equally, the Government has not made any further announcements about the progress, or
otherwise, of the planned reforms of Local Government Finance. As previously set out, there
are three areas of proposed reform as follows:Fair Funding Review – this review commenced in 2018 with the aim of setting new
baseline funding allocations for each local authority based on their relative needs and
available resources. The outcome of the review was to inform the funding settlement for
Councils for 2020/21 but was delayed due to BREXIT. And, in April 2020, the Government
announced the implementation of the review ‘would not now go ahead to allow Councils
to focus on meeting the immediate public health challenge posed by the Pandemic’.
Most recently, as part of the Local Government Finance Settlement for 2022/23, the
Government confirmed its commitment to ‘ensuring that funding allocations for Councils
are based on an up-to-date assessment of needs and resources and to consulting with
Local Government on any potential funding reform’. That being said, however, there has
been no movement by the Government on this matter to date.
Business Rates Retention Review – the Government had planned to increase the
percentage of business rates that Councils keep, from 50% to 75%, from 2020/21. Again,
this has been postponed and it was expected this will be implemented in 2022/23. Again,
given the impact of Covid-19 on business and questions about the sustainability of
business rates as a method of funding local government services, it is not clear whether
the Government will pursue a policy of increasing the amount of business rates retained.
And, related to Business Rates, in May 2020 the Government announced that, again due
to the impact of the Pandemic, the planned revaluation of Business Rates in 2021 will now
take place in 2023 and will be based on rental data from April 2021. This was confirmed
in the Government’s response to the Business Rates Review undertaken in 2021/22 which
also:o set out the Government’s proposals to have more frequent revaluations to
improve the distributional fairness of the business rates system. In essence, this
means revaluations will take place every 3-years (and not every 5-years as at
present) with an aspiration to moving to annual revaluations in the future;
o include reform of the Business Rates Valuation Appeals process (otherwise known
as Check, Challenge, Appeal) by removing the ‘Check’ stage and reducing the
window for submission of Challenges to 3-months. These changes are likely to take
place from the 2026 List and should, hopefully, reduce the number of spurious
appeals;
o referenced the current consultation by HM Treasury on an Online Sales Tax which
may be considered to help rebalance the taxation of the retail sector recognising the
move from traditional ‘bricks and mortar’ retail outlets to online retailing and the
impact on the Business Rates tax base (OST_condoc.pdf (publishing.service.gov.uk)).

Page 123

Services Grant – This is a new grant that was introduced as part of the 2022/23
Settlement. In total, this is worth £822m for Local Government and for BwD, the grant is
£3.072m. In the Settlement for 2022/23, the Government described this grant as ‘one-off’
and that the funding would be excluded from any proposed baseline for transitional support
in future years. What this means specifically is not clear but, for the purposes of the MTFP,
it is assumed that the grant will continue at its present rate;
New Homes Bonus – as part of the Funding Settlement for 2022/23, the Secretary of
Statement for DLUHC announced a further one-year allocation of New Homes Bonus (plus
the legacy payments from previous years);
The Government’s rationale for a single year payment in the previous financial year
(2021/22) was their intention to consult on a new method of incentivising housing growth
in Spring 2021 (this consultation was expected in 2020 but was deferred because of the
Covid-19 Pandemic). The Government did conduct a consultation on changes to the New
Homes Bonus Scheme early in 2021 but, despite the end of the consultation, the
Government remains silent on the future of the New Homes Bonus;
Lower Tier Services Grant – a new feature of the Funding Settlement for 2021/22 was
the payment of a Lower Tier Services Grant which, as its name suggests, is payable to
Councils like Blackburn with Darwen that have a responsibility for lower tier services. It
was assumed that this grant was one-off for 2021/22 but the Government chose to pay it
also in 2022/23. It has been assumed that this will continue to be paid over the life of the
MTFP.
5.4

Recent speculation in the public sector press quotes the Chief Executive of the Local
Government Association suggesting that these reforms are now unlikely to take place before
the next General Election. This now seems likely given the potential for the redistribution of
funding to be challenging for the Government.
Update of Medium Term Financial Plan 2023/26

5.5

Since the meeting of Finance Council on 28th February 2022, and recognising that the
Council is operating in a dynamic environment, work has continued to update the Council’s
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) for the period to 2025/26. A summary of the updated
MTFP is provided in the Table 1 below with a more detailed analysis provided at Appendix
A:Table 1: Medium Term Financial Plan 2023/26
2022/23
£000
Portfolio Budgets
133,880
Other Corporate I & E
16,123
Net Revenue Expenditure
150,003
Less Core Funding
(82,626)
Less Council Tax
(54,231)
Shortfall before Reserves
13,146
Change in Specific Reserves
(13,146)
Change in GF Balance
Funding 'Gap'
In Year Funding 'Gap'

2023/24
£000
132,912
20,553
153,465
(84,717)
(62,153)
6,595
(1,388)
5,207

2024/25
£000
132,567
27,776
160,343
(85,618)
(65,421)
9,304
(960)
8,344

2025/26
£000
132,567
35,351
167,918
(86,537)
(67,696)
13,685
(500)
13,185

5,207

3,137

4,841

-

See Appendix A

Page 124

5.6

Appendix B provides an analysis of the movement in the MTFP shown above when
compared to the last MTFP reported Finance Council on 28th February 2022.

5.7

As the table indicates, the forecast funding gap for the period to 2025/26 is now estimated to
be £13.1m. The key changes to the MTFP include:an update to the Pay Award assumption for 2023/24 onwards. For planning purposes, it
is now assumed that the Pay Award for 2023/24 will be 4%, falling to 2% in 2024/25 and
2025/26. This reflects guidance from the National Employers Organisation which is
cognisant of rising inflationary pressures. Whilst inflation is tracking at c7% in the current
financial year to date, the Office of Budget Responsibility expect it to peak in 2022 and fall
back to 4% in 2023, and c2% thereafter;
an update to the assumption on the National Living Wage to reflect the Low Pay
Commission’s ‘central path’ forecast. This assumes a c6% year-on-year increase over the
life of the MTFP. As the Executive Board may be aware, this is a key issue in the
determination of Adult Social Care Provider uplifts. These ‘uplifts’ are, however, likely to
be determined with reference to the Fair Cost of Care exercise (and Market Sustainability
Assessment) the Council is required by the Government to undertake in 2022/23 and
which may have a significant bearing on what the Council should pay;
update on the inflation assumptions for energy costs to reflect the significant change in
the wholesale price of energy and its potential impact on the Council’s activities, for
example the operation of Leisure Centres. This in turn has impacted on the assumed
increase in commissioning costs for both Adults and Children’s Services.

5.8

These and the other assumptions underpinning the MTFP will remain under review as the
financial year progresses.
Key Areas of Uncertainty

5.9

The MTFP is a forecast of the Council’s financial position over the period to 2025/26. At this
stage, there remain a number of matters where insufficient information is available but which
are likely to have a significant impact on the MTFP. These include:Delivery of the Budget in 2022/23

5.10

Delivering the budget in 2022/23 is critical to the sustainability of the Council’s financial
position. The key risks to delivery of the budget that Executive Board need to remain sighted
on are as follows:Implementation of savings – the Council agreed savings totalling £2.065m to
balance the budget for the year. All of these savings were permanent reductions in the
budget and to the extent that they are not delivered in full or at all, there will be an
additional budget pressure for 2023/24 onwards. The expectation is that they will be
delivered;
Pay Award in 2022/23 – this is budgeted at 2%; at this stage no announcements have
been made on the pay award ‘ask’ or ‘offer’ but with general inflation (CPI) tracking at
c7%, there is every likelihood that the pay award could be higher than budgeted. To
note, for every 1pp increase, the additional cost to the Council is c£550k (and will, of
course, have an ongoing cost to the Council);

Page 125

Energy Inflation – the Council’s cost of energy has increased significantly and is now
estimated to be £3.916m in 2022/23 (in 2021/22, it was £1.447m). may want to give
some consideration to any measures (eg operation of facilities, implementation of
alternative energy supplies etc.) that can be implemented to manage the cost
increases, acknowledging that in the current economic climates prices are expected to
continue rising;
Demand for Adult and Children’s Social Care – this remains an ever present risk
for the Council, not least as the Borough emerges from the impact of Covid-19. As part
of the budget setting process, £1m of Social Care Grant was held back to mitigate the
impact of costs pressure but, in the light of the recent Ofsted Inspection of Children’s
Social Care, that funding has been allocated entirely towards the delivery of the
Children’s Social Care Improvement Plan. Any cost of demand pressures will,
therefore, have to be contained within existing budgets;
Impact of Covid-19 – whilst the rates of infection for Covid-19 have fallen, and
continue to fall, the risk of new variants remain and with all legal restrictions lifted, there
is potential for surge infections to occur. The Government has provided no new funding
to Local Authorities in 2022/23 to deal with Covid-19, so any activity undertaken will
have to be funded from within existing resources;
5.11

These and other matters will be considered in more detail as part of the regular budget
monitoring reports to the Executive Board as the financial year progresses.
Funding Settlement

5.12

Given the funding settlement for 2022/23 is for one-year only, and that there appears to be
a diminishing prospect of the Local Government Finance reforms referred to above, it is
difficult to estimate the likely level of funding the Council will receive from 2023/24 onwards.
Whilst the amount of funding from Business Rates and Revenue Support Grant appear
relatively stable, it is not clear how the Government might choose to distribute the Services
Grant or whether the New Homes Bonus will continue in any form at all.
Future Pay Awards

5.13

As the Executive Board may be aware, the Pay Award for 2021/22 has only recently been
settled with no details as yet about the Pay Offer for 2022/23. It is likely that, given the current
‘cost of living’ crisis, the pay negotiations for 2022/23 will be as protracted as they were in
the last financial year and there will be significant pressure on Local Government Employers
to agree a pay award in line with the rate of inflation. And unless inflation is brought under
control, there is every likelihood that the pressure on Pay Awards will continue to grow.
National Living Wage and Impact on Pay Structure

5.14

Details of the likely change in the NLW are set out above. An emerging issue arising from
the increase in the NLW is the erosion of the ‘headroom’ between it and the lowest points on
the NJC Pay Scales, a principle of that Employers have sought to maintain since the
introduction of the NMW.

Page 126

5.15

According to present forecasts, by 2024 all of the ‘headroom’ will have gone and, given the
view of Local Government Employers that Local Government should not be a minimum wage
employer, consideration is being given to options to avoid this. However, it is expected that
any such options (eg deleting pay points or reducing the working week) will, inevitably, result
in additional costs for Councils (and may, if there is a need to undertake a formal job
evaluation exercise, lead to significant work).

5.16

In relation to any proposal to reconsider the pay structure of the Council in the light of the
change in NLW, it is recommended that, should it be considered necessary, a report on this
matter is considered by the Executive in due course setting out the options for the Council.
Social Care Reforms (including Market Sustainability and Cost of Care exercise)

5.17

During 2022/23, the Council is required to undertake a Cost of Care exercise (for 65+ Care
Homes and 18+ Domiciliary Care) alongside the development of an Adult Social Care Market
Sustainability Plan. Whilst it is not intended to replace the negotiation of commissioning or
contract arrangements for care, the Cost of Care exercise is expected to inform Provider
uplifts for 2023/24. Although it is not possible to predict the outcome of this exercise, the
Council’s payments to providers are already known to be below other Commissioners (eg
Lancashire County Council) and so there is every likelihood the Cost of Care exercise will
suggest an increase in payments to Commissioners.

5.18

Overlaying these requirements is the move towards the broader social care reforms set out
in the Government’s White Paper – ‘People at the Heart of Care’. In particular, the
introduction of the Cost of Care Cap from October 2023 and the need to understand how
demand might change as a result of charging reform, changes in the means test capital limits
and the self-funders who look to the Council for their care and support needs. Aside from the
difficulties of assessing the financial impact of this (the cost to the Councils, estimating the
likely additional funding from the Government), it is inevitable that it will require to review and
redesign of both existing systems and processes to cope with the changes efficiently and
effectively.

5.19

In view of the magnitude of the proposed changes and once more information is available
from the Government, it is recommended that a report on this matter is submitted for
consideration by the Executive Board in due course.
Care Quality Commission (CQC) Inspection

5.20

Councillors may be aware that the Health and Care Act 2022 includes provisions for a new
assurance framework led by the CQC to inspect the performance of the delivery of Adult
Social Care. The implementation of these provisions depends on the enactment of the Bill,
the arrangements that the CQC need to put in place to conduct the inspection and the
timetabling of individual Local Authority inspections.

5.21

The CQC Inspection is likely to focus on the Council’s arrangements for working with people(assessment of needs, prevention etc.), providing support (nature and strength of care
markets, integration with NHS etc.), ensuring the safety of residents (safeguarding, safe
systems of care) and Leadership.

Page 127

5.22

Despite the uncertainty around the date of inspection of the Council’s Adult Social Services,
work is already underway to ensure the Council is prepared for any such inspection. This will
include, in due course, briefing for Councillors as necessary. Subject to this ongoing work,
there may be a need to consider the Council’s capacity to do this work effectively so that the
Council is adequately prepared.
Investment in Children’s Services

5.23

The Executive will be aware of the outcome of the recent Ofsted Inspection of Children’s
Services and the need for additional investment to support the Improvement Plan. Indeed,
this is a matter dealt with in a report elsewhere on the Agenda for this meeting. It is expected
that this will be funded from within the current budget. However, the extent to which
improvements are made and better outcomes achieved will be subject to regular review by
Ofsted and may, potentially, necessitate additional investment. This is a matter that will need
to remain under review as the year progresses.
Academisation of Schools

5.24

Following the publication of the Education White Paper, the Government has set out a clear
timeline for all Schools to become part of a Multi-Academy Trust by 2030. This includes the
proposal for Local Authorities to establish MATs.

5.25

The proposition of establishing a Local Authority MAT will, subject to more detail being
provided by the Government, be the subject of a separate report to the Executive Board in
due course. However, the initial assessment of the impact of further academisation on the
Council’s financial position has highlighted the risk to the sustainability of the Council’s ‘topslice’ of Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)(c£941k) and income from Service Level
Agreements (c£2.4m), both of which could be substantially reduced as this policy is
implemented.
Other Matters

5.26

The narrative above sets out some of the key matters for Executive Board consider but it is
not an exhaustive list. Other issues include, for example, the sustainability of recharges to
the capital account, management of adult and children’s social care demand, affordability of
rising debt charges, the future of shared costs under the Continuing Healthcare
arrangements given the changes to the Health and Social Care system in Lancashire. As
ever, consideration will be given to the likely impact of these matters on the Council’s MTFP.
Scenario Planning (Sensitivity Analysis)

5.27

As mentioned above, the MTFP is based on a range of assumptions which impact on both
income and expenditure. Changes in these assumptions can have a fundamental effect on
the Council’s funding gap and the level of savings the Council will be required to make over
the next 3 years.

Page 128

5.28

The Executive Board will appreciate that it is good practice to model scenarios based on
changes to some of the key assumptions in the MTFP. The purpose of this sensitivity analysis
is not to predict or forecast the future, but rather test and understand the Council’s
sustainability into an uncertain future given alternative plausible scenarios for the key drivers
of costs, service demands, funding and key risks to which the Council is exposed. Such
‘stress testing’ is considered to be good practice and acts as an indicator of the Council’s
financial sustainability.

5.29

The sensitivity analysis gives some indication of the likely range of the Council’s deficit
position bounded by realistic worst- and best-case scenarios. Although it is always possible
there might be scenarios outside of these boundaries (as well as numerous ones within
them), this is considered unlikely as the worst case assumes strongly negative estimates for
most of the main aspects of the MTFP. Likewise, the best-case contains only positive
changes.

5.30

Some of the key variables that have been modelled are as set out at Appendix C with the
results of this analysis at Appendix D and summarised in Table 2 below:Table 2: Scenario Analysis
2023/24
£000
274
5,207
11,310

Best Case
Base Position (Table 1 above)
Worst Case

2024/25
£000
1,535
8,344
16,111

2025/26
£000
3,493
13,185
22,994

See Appendix C and D

5.31

As the table indicates, the range of potential positions is a deficit of c£3.5m to a deficit of
£23m. These scenarios are provided to reflect the level of potential volatility in the
assumptions and reinforces the uncertainty with future budget estimates.
Financial Strategy 2022/23 to 2025/26

5.32

The Financial Strategy remains based around the following strands:Growing the Council’s income using the funding mechanisms now in place for local
government, particularly the Business Rate Retention Scheme and the New Homes
Bonus if it remains as a potential income stream. This means that the Council must
actively consider ways in which it can increase income from business and housing
growth to ensure that funding for services can be maintained;
Charging for services, raising income which will mean that it is possible to continue
providing services that resident’s value. This will mean reviewing the level of fees
and charges, reducing the subsidy on some services and considering the
introduction of new fees and charges. It will also include reviewing the amount of
Council Tax Support given;
Saving costs by, for example, reviewing how the Council delivers services, doing
things differently and more efficiently, scaling services to appropriate levels within
the resources available to the Council and working with local town and parish
councils and other partners to sustain local facilities;

Page 129

Stop spending on lower or non-priority areas. This could also mean, for example,
that the Council works with other partners (Voluntary, Faith, Community Sector,
Town/Parish Councils etc.) and residents to deliver services, something akin to the
‘Your Call’ Initiative.
5.33

The Financial Strategy was reported and approved by Council at its meeting on 28th February
2022.
Next Steps

5.34

Table 3 below provides an outline timetable for the development of the budget for 2023/24.
Table 3: Indicative Timetable for Development of Budget 2023/24
Date

Action

Status

Mar 2022

Budget Implementation Report 2022/23

Completed

May 2022

Updated MTFP to the Executive Board

This report

June - Sept 2022

Development of Proposals

13th Oct 2022

Update MTFP to Executive Board

Oct-Nov 2022

Further development of ideas/options

8th Dec 2022

First Budget Report to Executive Board

Dec 2022

Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement (LGFS) 2023/24

Dec 2022

Update on Budget/LGFS to Corporate Leadership Team

Dec 2022

Update on Budget/LGFS to Policy Development Session

19th Dec 2022

First Budget Report to Resources Scrutiny

Jan/Feb 2023

Final Local Government Finance Settlement 2023/24

Jan 2023

Update on Budget to Corporate Leadership Team

9th Feb 2023

Second Budget Report to Executive Board (with Scrutiny
Minutes)

27th Feb 2023

Finance Council sets Budget and Council Tax for 2023/24

6.

POLICY IMPLICATIONS

6.1

There are no policy implications arising directly from this report.

7.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

7.1

The financial implications are as given in the report.

Page 130

8.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

8.1

There are no legal implications arising directly from the contents of this report.

9.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

9.1

There are no other resources implications arising from the contents of this report.

10.

EQUALITY AND HEALTH IMPLICATIONS

10.1

There are no equality and health implications arising from the contents of this report.

11.

CONSULTATIONS

11.1

None arising from the contents of this report.

12.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

12.1 None arising from the contents of this report.
Appendices
Appendix A – Updated Medium Term Financial Plan 2023/26
Appendix B – Changes to the Medium Term Financial Plan 2023/26 since Finance Council
Appendix C – Assumptions for Best/Worst Case Scenario Analysis
Appendix D – Analysis of Best/West Case Scenario Analysis
VERSION:

1

CONTACT OFFICER:

Dean Langton – Director of Finance

DATE:

12th May 2022

BACKGROUND PAPERS: None

Page 131

Appendix A
Medium Term Financial Plan 2022/25
Funding Statement
2022/23
Base
Budget
£000
Estimated Funding
Business Rates
Business Rates - Top Up
Revenue Support Grant
Improved Better Care Fund Grant
Social Care Grant
Market Sustainability and Fair Funding
BSF PFI Grant
Council Tax Income (incl Social Care Precept)
Council Tax Income - Town and Parish Precepts
Transfer from/to Collection Fund - Council Tax
Transfer from/to Collection Fund - NNDR
Total Estimated Funding

2022/23
Revised
Budget
£000

2023/24
Base
Budget
£000

2024/25
Base
Budget
£000

2025/26
Base
Budget
£000

2026/27
Base
Budget
£000

Change
2022/23
£000

Page 132

(18,185)
(24,275)
(14,016)
(8,349)
(8,813)
(516)
(8,472)
(60,171)
(164)
(755)
6,859
(136,857)

(18,185)
(24,275)
(14,016)
(8,349)
(8,813)
(516)
(8,472)
(60,171)
(164)
(755)
6,859
(136,857)

(20,306)
(24,761)
(14,016)
(8,349)
(8,813)
(8,472)
(62,294)
(164)
(39)
344
(146,870)

(20,712)
(25,256)
(14,016)
(8,349)
(8,813)
(8,472)
(64,492)
(164)
(765)
(151,039)

(21,126)
(25,761)
(14,016)
(8,349)
(8,813)
(8,472)
(66,767)
(164)
(765)
(154,233)

(21,549)
(26,276)
(14,016)
(8,349)
(8,813)
(8,472)
(69,123)
(164)
(765)
(157,527)

(2,121)
(486)
516
(2,123)
716
(6,515)
(10,013)

Forecast Expenditure
Portfolios

130,938

133,880

132,912

132,567

132,567

132,567

(968)

Corporate Income and Expenditure
Contingencies
RCCO
Debt Charges
Recharges to Schools
Benefit Admin Grants
New Homes Bonus
Lower Tier Services Grant
Services Grant
Business Rates s31 Grant
Council Tax Support Grant
Town and Parish Precepts (incl Grants)
Net Expenditure

8,447
6,351
18,987
(1,274)
(650)
(1,006)
(341)
(3,072)
(8,568)
191
150,003

5,505
6,351
18,987
(1,274)
(650)
(1,006)
(341)
(3,072)
(8,568)
191
150,003

13,497
19,325
(1,207)
(700)
(341)
(3,072)
(7,140)
191
153,465

20,360
19,582
(1,154)
(650)
(341)
(3,072)
(7,140)
191
160,343

27,318
19,736
(1,091)
(250)
(341)
(3,072)
(7,140)
191
167,918

34,653
19,736
(1,016)
(250)
(341)
(3,072)
(7,140)
191
175,328

7,992
(6,351)
338
67
(50)
1,006
1,428
3,462

80
(5,471)
(6,261)
(374)
(1,120)
136,857

80
(5,471)
(6,261)
(374)
(1,120)
136,857

80
(1,468)
152,077

80
(1,040)
159,383

(500)
167,418

175,328

5,471
6,261
374
(348)
11,758

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

136,857

136,857

152,077

159,383

167,418

175,328

-

-

-

5,207

8,344

13,185

17,801

Contributions to/(from) Reserves
R&M Sinking Fund
Welfare Reform Reserves
Covid-19 Reserve
NNDR Reserve
Other Reserves (to fund RCCO)
Invest to Save Reserve
Use of Budget Strategy Reserve
Budget Requirement (excl GF Balance)
Contribution to/from GF Balance
Budget Requirement

Net Shortfall/(Surplus)

5,207

Adjust
£000

5,471
5,471

6,261

6,261

(5,471)
(6,261)

(11,732)

-

-

Incremental Change
Adjusted
Change Change Change
2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
£000
£000
£000

(2,121)
(486)
516
(2,123)
716
(1,044)
(4,542)

(406)
(495)
(2,198)
(726)
(344)
(4,169)

(968)

(345)

7,992
(90)
338
67
(50)
1,006
1,428
9,723

6,863
257
53
50
6,878

374
(348)
26

-

(414)
(505)
(2,275)
(3,194)

(423)
(515)
(2,356)
(3,294)

(3,364)
(2,001)
516
(8,952)
(10)
(6,859)
(20,670)

-

-

(1,313)

6,957
154
63
400
7,575

428

-

Change
2024/25
£000

7,336
75
7,411

540

428

500
-

540

500

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

5,207

3,137

Incremental Change - Year 1 to 3
Adjusted
Change
Change
2021/25
Adjust
2021/25
£000
£000
£000

4,921

4,617

5,471
5,471

-

(3,364)
(2,001)
516
(8,952)
(10)
(1,388)
(15,199)

(1,313)

29,148
(6,351)
749
258
400
1,006
1,428
25,325

6,261
6,261

29,148
(90)
749
258
400
1,006
1,428
31,586

(80)
5,471
6,261
374
1,120
38,471
38,471

(5,471)
(6,261)
(5,471)

(80)
374
1,120
33,000

17,801

(5,471)

-

33,000

17,801

Appendix B
Changes in Medium Term Financial Plan since 28th February 2022
2023/24
Base
Budget
£000

2024/25
Base
Budget
£000

2025/26
Base
Budget
£000

2026/27
Base
Budget
£000

Page 133

Report to Finance Council 28th February 2022

2,885

5,980

9,025

-

Change in Business Rates Assumptions
Change in Council Tax Assumptions
In Year Transfer to Reserves (for Leisure Equipment/Sinking Fund) not necessary in Year 3
Add on Deficit for next Financial Year

(134)
(3)
-

(128)
(11)
-

(122)
(30)
(80)

Starting Point for Report to CLT 19th April 2022

2,748

5,841

8,793

12,943

Update to Inflation Assumptions
Adjustment to HB/CTS Admin Subsidy
National Living Wage Adjustment
ASC Commissioning Inflation
Children's Commissioning Inflation
Update to Pay Award Assumptions (4% in 2023/24, 2% pa thereafter)
Update to National Insurance Assumptions (in line with Pay Award increase)
Update to Pension Assumptions (in line with Pay Award increase)
Utility Inflation

(100)
285
421
163
1,084
239
34
334

(100)
(96)
449
333
998
364
66
490

250
987
455
518
936
491
97
657

200
938
509
703
936
617
129
824

Report to CLT 19th April 2022

5,207

8,344

13,185

17,801

12,943

Appendix C
Scenario Analysis - Assumptions for Worst/Base/Best Case Position

Page 134

Appendix D
Scenario Analysis - Assumptions for Worst/Base/Best Case Position

2023/24

Base Position

Page 135

Services Grant
Lower Tier Services Grant
New Homes Bonus
Pay Award
Pension Contribution
National Living Wage
Energy Inflation
Children Services

Services Grant
Lower Tier Services Grant
New Homes Bonus
Pay Award
Pension Contribution
National Living Wage
Energy Inflation
Children Services
Revised Deficit
Best
Base
Worst

Worst Case
2024/25 2025/26

2026/27

2023/24

Better Case
2024/25 2025/26

2026/27

£000
5,207

£000
8,344

£000
13,185

£000
17,801

£000
5,207

£000
8,344

£000
13,185

£000
17,801

3,072
341
(2,383)
(588)
(3,592)
(392)

3,072
341
(3,622)
(1,174)
(7,220)
(607)

3,072
341
(4,885)
(1,759)
(10,870)
(833)

3,072
341
(6,210)
(2,345)
(14,748)
(1,059)

1,666

(865)

(1,751)

(3,149)

3,072
(2,383)
(588)
(3,592)
(392)
1,325

3,072
(3,622)
(1,174)
(7,220)
(607)
(1,206)

3,072
(4,885)
(1,759)
(10,870)
(833)
(2,092)

3,072
(6,210)
(2,345)
(14,748)
(1,059)
(3,490)

(2,000)
3,574
1,172
5,114
783
1,000
11,310

(2,000)
5,468
1,757
9,497
1,253
1,000
16,111

(2,000)
7,419
2,343
14,212
1,770
1,000
22,994

(2,000)
9,370
2,929
18,278
2,487
1,000
28,917

(4,000)
(1,006)
1,191
295
2,273
196
274

(4,000)
2,406
588
3,468
278
1,535

(4,000)
3,646
882
4,695
362
3,493

(4,000)
4,885
1,177
8,224
446
7,242
3,493
13,185
22,994

Agenda Item 9.1
REPORT OF:

Executive Member for Children, Young People &
Education
Executive Member for Finance and Governance

LEAD OFFICER: Strategic Director, Children & Education

DATE:

9th June 2022

PORTFOLIOS AFFECTED: All
WARDS AFFECTED:

All

TITLE OF REPORT: Dedicated Schools Grant - High Needs Block Budget Provision 2022/23
1.

PURPOSE

1.1

The purpose of this report is to seek the Executive Board’s approval to the allocation of the
High Needs Block funding provision paid to the Council as part of the Dedicated Schools Grant
for 2022/23.

2.

RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1

It is recommended that Executive Board:a) note the Council’s High Needs Block funding for 2022/23 as shown at Appendix A;
b) endorse the budget allocations for the High Needs Block as set out at Appendix B.

3.

BACKGROUND

3.1

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) is paid to the Council in support of the Local Authority’s
Schools Budgets. It comprises four blocks (Schools Block, High Needs Block, Early Years
Block and Central School Services Block). It is the responsibility of the Council, in conjunction
with their local Schools Forum, for determining the split of the funding between their own
expenditure and the Individual Schools’ Budgets.

3.2

For 2022/23, DSG totals £183.348m and is shown, by block and in comparison to 2021/22, in
the table below:Table 3: Dedicated Schools Grant 2022/23
Schools Block
Central Services Block
High Needs Block
Early Years Block
Total

2021/22
£000
138,058
2,151
25,628
11,816
177,653
1

Page 136

2022/23
£000
142,241
1,944
28,276
10,887
183,348

Change
£000
4,183
(207)
2,648
(929)
5,695

3.3

In accordance with Schools Forum Regulations, the allocation of the Schools Block, Central
Services Block and the Early Years Block is a matter for the Schools Forum to decide. The
allocation of the High Needs Block is a matter for the Council to decide (although it is good
practice to inform the Schools Forum of the proposed allocations).

4.

RATIONALE

4.1

High Needs Block funding is provided to the Council to enable it to meet its statutory duties
under the Children and Families Act 2014.

4.2

The development and implementation of the budget for High Needs Block underpins the
provision of education for pupils and students with special educational needs or disabilities
(SEND), from early years to age 25 and alternative provision for pre-16 pupils who, because of
exclusion, illness or other reasons, cannot receive their education in mainstream schools.

5.

KEY ISSUES
Overall Funding Allocation 2022/23

5.1

Details of the High Needs Block funding for 2022/23were provided to the Council as part of the
Government’s announcement on the Dedicated Schools Grant for 2022/23 in Febraury 2022.
The High Needs Block funding allocation is calculated using the High Needs National Funding
Formula (NFF) which comprises a range of factors – a basic entitlement, population and a
historic spend factor (uplifted annually) reflecting past spending.

5.2

The calculation of the Council’s High Needs Block funding allocation for 2022/23 is provided at
Appendix A (with a comparison to the funding received in 2021/22). The Executive Board will
note that the Council’s funding allocation for 2022/23 will be £29.338m (compared to £26.282m
in 2021/22), an increase of £3.056m (or 11.6%) when compared to the previous year. This is
primarily a result of the following matters:a 9% increase in the number of pupil places when compared to 2021/22;
a national increase in the High Needs Funding in 2022/23 of £780m (or 9.6%) compared
to the amounts allocated in 2021/22. For the Council, this is largely reflected in an
increase of £2.547m in the Historical Spending (and the range of proxy factors); and
additional supplementary funding of £1.062m (see 5.4 below).

5.3

As shown at Appendix A, in 2021/22 it was agreed by the Schools Forum that 0.5% of the
Schools Block would be transferred to the High Needs Block. This is permissible under current
operational guidance for DSG. In view of the increased amount of High Needs Block funding in
2022/23, the Schools Forum agreed that it was not considered necessary to make the 0.5%
transfer in 2022/23.

5.4

The additional supplementary funding of £1.062m is the Council’s share of an additional £1.6bn
grant funding provided to Councils on top of the DSG for 2022/23 which was announced by the
Government at Spending Review 2021 last Autumn. According to Government guidance, this
amount ‘includes funding for the Health and Social Care Levy and wider cost pressures in
special schools and alternative provision’.
2

Page 137

Proposed Budget Allocation 2022/23
5.5

The allocation of the High Needs Block funding for 2022/23 builds upon the agreed budget for
the current financial year. Details of the proposed budget are set out at Appendix B. For the
financial year ending 31st March 2023, Blackburn with Darwen Borough (BwD) council received
an increase in their Dedicated Schools Grant allocations for High Needs of £3.056m.
£1.476m of the increased allocation has been used internally within the LA to support
the “in-house” SEND provision. This covers the Send Support services available to the
schools, to help identify and provide a service to support those schools with children
Educational Health Care Plans (EHCPs). By providing this support internally, it helps
support the Borough’s schools to educate a large amount of our children in the
mainstream school setting making the school offer a more inclusive option for the
children of Blackburn with Darwen;
£1.579m of the increase in funding has been allocated across the various School
provisions within Blackburn with Darwen and Out of Borough. This accounts for
financial support by the way of place- and ‘top up’ funding to schools to maintain the
current level of EHCPs along with allocating new ECHPs for due to the identification
of increase of needs for some of our Children. Budget has been provided for an
additional 36 Special School places across the Borough, to help ease the reliance on
Out of Borough Special Schools, as those places can cost approx. three times an
average Special School place. This would also keep those children in Borough, without
the need to travel far to school.

5.6

The Executive Board is asked to endorse budget allocations for the High Needs Block as set
out at Appendix B. In doing so, the Executive Board should note that details of the funding
allocations and budgets for the High Needs Block for 2022/23 were considered by the Schools
Forum at its meeting in February 2022.

6.

POLICY IMPLICATIONS

6.1

There are no policy implications arising directly from this report.

7.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

7.1

The financial implications are as given in the report.

8.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

8.1

There are no legal implications arising directly from the contents of this report.

9.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

9.1

There are no other resources implications arising from the contents of this report.

10.

EQUALITY AND HEALTH IMPLICATIONS

10.1

There are no equality and health implications arising from the contents of this report.

3

Page 138

11.

CONSULTATIONS

11.1

None arising from the contents of this report.

12.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

12.1

None arising from the contents of this report.

Appendices
Appendix A – Calculation of the High Needs Block Funding Allocation for 2022/23
Appendix B – Budget Allocations for the High Needs Block for 2022/23
VERSION:

1

CONTACT OFFICER:

Dean Langton

DATE:

April 2022

BACKGROUND PAPERS: None

4

Page 139

Appendix A
High Needs Funding Block Allocation

Per Pupil Unit
Historical plus Proxy Factors
Import/Export Adjustment
Allocation before direct funding

Rate
£
4,660
6,000

2021/22
No of
Places
348.5
29.5

Amount
£
1,624,010
23,818,645
177,000
25,619,655

Rate
£
4,660
6,000

2022/23
No of
Places
381.0
22.5

Amount
£
1,775,460
26,365,574
135,000
28,276,034

Rate
£
4,660
6,000

Change
No of
Places
32.5
(7.0)

Amount
£
151,450
2,546,929
(42,000)
2,656,379

Add 0.5% transfer from Schools Block
Supplementary Funding

662,186
-

1,061,523

(662,186)
1,061,523

Total High Needs Block Allocation

26,281,841

29,337,557

3,055,716

Page 140

*1 Direct Funding
Mainstream Academies - SEN Units and Resourced Provision
Pre-16 SEN Places

6,000

3.0

18,000

6,000

2.0

12,000

6,000

(1.0)

(6,000)

Special Free Places
Pre-16 SEN Places

10,000

42.0

420,000

10,000

54.0

540,000

10,000

12.0

120,000

Special Academies
Pre-16 SEN Places
Post-16 SEN Places

10,000
10,000

65.0
15.0

650,000
150,000

10,000
10,000

72.0
20.0

720,000
200,000

10,000
10,000

7.0
5.0

70,000
50,000

AP Free Schools
Pre-16 AP Places

10,000

1.0

10,000

10,000

1.0

10,000

10,000

6,000

155.0

930,000
2,178,000

6,000

143.0

858,000
2,340,000

6,000

Further Education and ILP
Direct Funding
Total High Needs Deductions (Direct Funding)

-

(12.0)

-

(72,000)
162,000

Appendix B
Proposed Budget Allocations for High Need Block Funding 2022/23
2021/22
Forecast
Expenditure

Proposed
2022/23
Budget

Movement
from 2021/22

Special Schools place funding - pre 16

1,800,000

1,800,000

-

Special academies / free schools place funding - pre 16

1,180,833

1,260,000

79,167

Special Schools place funding - post-16
Special academies / free schools place funding - post 16
Special Schools top-up funding
Potential additional places at Specials School in the borough

200,000
183,333
3,756,776

200,000
200,000
3,833,599
360,000

16,667
76,823
360,000

39,000

39,000

-

222,165

336,065

1,650,000
10,000
211,852

1,650,000
10,000
211,852

113,900
-

75,000

75,000

-

Home & Hospital funding
PRU Elective Home Education commission
New PRU Resource Unit
TPG,TPECG and HCL for AP providers

490,000
20,000

490,000
40,000

195,782

227,238

Element 2 top-up funding for mainstream schools

460,000

460,000

20,000
31,456
-

4,490,118
14,500
28,645

4,490,118
12,000
26,428

(2,500)
(2,217)
-

Equipment and Adaptations

125,000

125,000

-

Independent Special Schools

3,628,276

3,664,625

36,349

312,800
882,000
562,809

312,800
858,000
562,809

High Needs Non-Delegated Budgets

3,105,307

3,983,865

(24,000)
878,558

SEN Escorts for Transport
SEN Teams in LA

572,000
2,533,307

850,000
3,133,865

HN Strategic Commissioning and Service Modernisation

2,080,372
699,782
56,000

SALT contract at Newfield
TPG,TPECG and HCL/ Wider Costs for Special Schools
Alternative provision place funding
AP academies / free schools place funding
Alterative provision top-up funding
AP additional 1:1 support

Page 141

Element 3 top-up funding for mainstream schools
Element 2 top-up funding for Resourced Provision in academies
Element 3 top-up funding for Resourced Provision in academies

Element 3 top-up funding for pupils placed out of area in other LA provision
Place funding for Post-16 college placements
Element 3 top-up funding for Post-16 college placements

Posts in Children's Services
SENDIASS contract
SEND Implementation Manager & website maintenance

72 commissioned places at Crosshill, 54 commissioned places at Eden
20 commission post 16 places at Newfield
20 commissioned post 16 places at Crosshill
Includes an estimate for additional top for new places created
36 additional special school places

Updated for 2022/23 based on increase of pupil numbers, plus estimate
for Health Care Levy and wider costs
165 places at PRU
The Heights

Approximately £25k per term
Supported through the PRU.

Includes Resourced Provision in maintained schools ( Commissioned places
20 places lower Darwen, 15 St Cuthberts)
Paid to Mainstream Schools to support EHCP's
Reduction to 2 places in Resourced Provision from September 2021
Reduction to 2 places in Resourced Provision from September 2021

Out of Borough High Needs Pupils, an individual pupil can cost up to
approx £90K per year, depending on their level of needs.
Commissioned 143 post-16 places from September 2021
Increase for additional posts to support SEND services and in-house
Teachers' Pay and Pension, Health Care Levy for 2022/23

2,678,584

Additional posts to support High Needs Services

1,372,889
56,000

673,107
-

2% increase added on, plus additional posts in for AP to support SEND
Could be £56k depending on CCG contribution - confirmed as £56k

63,600

96,895

33,295

110,000
520,000
301,500
13,400
316,090

110,000
520,000
193,310
13,400
316,090

SEN Inclusion Fund

135,000

145,000

New SEN Panel allocation

385,574

385,574

36,698

900,000

-

-

26,281,840

29,337,557

(108,190)
10,000
863,302
3,055,717

Forecast surplus / (shortfall)

180 commissioned places at Newfield

278,000
600,558
598,212

Occupational Therapy
Children's Placements
CAHMS
Contribution to Trade Union Duties
Corporate Recharges

Growth contingency

Notes

Previously funded by SEN Reform Grant - Includes New SEND website offer
May increase due to tripartite arrangements
In house service

To be used to cover additional High Needs Support in 2022/23.

Appendix B
Proposed Budget Allocations for High Need Block Funding 2022/23
2021/22
Forecast
Expenditure

Proposed
2022/23
Budget

Movement
from 2021/22

Special Schools place funding - pre 16

1,800,000

1,800,000

-

Special academies / free schools place funding - pre 16

1,180,833

1,260,000

79,167

Special Schools place funding - post-16
Special academies / free schools place funding - post 16
Special Schools top-up funding
Potential additional places at Specials School in the borough

200,000
183,333
3,756,776

200,000
200,000
3,833,599
360,000

16,667
76,823
360,000

39,000

39,000

-

222,165

336,065

1,650,000
10,000
211,852

1,650,000
10,000
211,852

113,900
-

75,000

75,000

-

Home & Hospital funding
PRU Elective Home Education commission
New PRU Resource Unit
TPG,TPECG and HCL for AP providers

490,000
20,000

490,000
40,000

195,782

227,238

Element 2 top-up funding for mainstream schools

460,000

460,000

20,000
31,456
-

4,490,118
14,500
28,645

4,490,118
12,000
26,428

(2,500)
(2,217)
-

Equipment and Adaptations

125,000

125,000

-

Independent Special Schools

3,628,276

3,664,625

36,349

312,800
882,000
562,809

312,800
858,000
562,809

High Needs Non-Delegated Budgets

3,105,307

3,983,865

(24,000)
878,558

SEN Escorts for Transport
SEN Teams in LA

572,000
2,533,307

850,000
3,133,865

HN Strategic Commissioning and Service Modernisation

2,080,372
699,782
56,000

SALT contract at Newfield
TPG,TPECG and HCL/ Wider Costs for Special Schools
Alternative provision place funding
AP academies / free schools place funding
Alterative provision top-up funding
AP additional 1:1 support

Page 142

Element 3 top-up funding for mainstream schools
Element 2 top-up funding for Resourced Provision in academies
Element 3 top-up funding for Resourced Provision in academies

Element 3 top-up funding for pupils placed out of area in other LA provision
Place funding for Post-16 college placements
Element 3 top-up funding for Post-16 college placements

Posts in Children's Services
SENDIASS contract
SEND Implementation Manager & website maintenance

72 commissioned places at Crosshill, 54 commissioned places at Eden
20 commission post 16 places at Newfield
20 commissioned post 16 places at Crosshill
Includes an estimate for additional top for new places created
36 additional special school places

Updated for 2022/23 based on increase of pupil numbers, plus estimate
for Health Care Levy and wider costs
165 places at PRU
The Heights

Approximately £25k per term
Supported through the PRU.

Includes Resourced Provision in maintained schools ( Commissioned places
20 places lower Darwen, 15 St Cuthberts)
Paid to Mainstream Schools to support EHCP's
Reduction to 2 places in Resourced Provision from September 2021
Reduction to 2 places in Resourced Provision from September 2021

Out of Borough High Needs Pupils, an individual pupil can cost up to
approx £90K per year, depending on their level of needs.
Commissioned 143 post-16 places from September 2021
Increase for additional posts to support SEND services and in-house
Teachers' Pay and Pension, Health Care Levy for 2022/23

2,678,584

Additional posts to support High Needs Services

1,372,889
56,000

673,107
-

2% increase added on, plus additional posts in for AP to support SEND
Could be £56k depending on CCG contribution - confirmed as £56k

63,600

96,895

33,295

110,000
520,000
301,500
13,400
316,090

110,000
520,000
193,310
13,400
316,090

SEN Inclusion Fund

135,000

145,000

New SEN Panel allocation

385,574

385,574

36,698

900,000

-

-

26,281,840

29,337,557

(108,190)
10,000
863,302
3,055,717

Forecast surplus / (shortfall)

180 commissioned places at Newfield

278,000
600,558
598,212

Occupational Therapy
Children's Placements
CAHMS
Contribution to Trade Union Duties
Corporate Recharges

Growth contingency

Notes

Previously funded by SEN Reform Grant - Includes New SEND website offer
May increase due to tripartite arrangements
In house service

To be used to cover additional High Needs Support in 2022/23.

